Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) take no responsibility for the contents of this announcement, make
no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability
whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of
the contents of this announcement.
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The board (“Board”) of directors (“Directors”) of Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
(“Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) hereby announces the annual
results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023. This announcement, containing the
full text of the 2023 annual report of the Company, complies with the relevant requirements
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“GEM Listing Rules”) in relation to information to accompany preliminary
announcements of the annual results.

By Order of the Board
Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
Li Dahong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2023

As at the date of this announcement, the Board comprises of Dr. Li Dahong (executive
Director), Ms. Ma Xiaona (executive Director), Mr. Guo Wei (independent non-executive
Director), Mr. Lam Albert Man Sum (independent non-executive Director) and Mr. Cheung
Wai Hung (independent non-executive Director).

This announcement, for which the Directors collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange for the purpose of giving information with regard
to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to the
best of their knowledge and belief, the information contained in this announcement is accurate
and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no
other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this announcement
misleading.

This announcement will remain on the “Latest Listed Company Information” page of the
Stock Exchange’s website at www.hkexnews.hk for at least seven days from the date of its
publication and on the websites of the Company at http://www.grandtg.com/.

*  For identification purposes only
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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a
higher investment risk may be attached than other companies
listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be
aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and
should make the decision to invest only after due and careful
consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded
on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than
securities traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in
the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness
and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss
howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any
part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors of Grand T G Gold Holdings
Limited (the "Company”) collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange
(the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with
regard to the Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”).
The directors of the Company (the “Directors”), having made all
reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge
and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and
complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive,
and there are no other matters the omission of which would make
any statement herein or this report misleading.

This report will remain on the “Latest Listed Company Information”
page of the website of the Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk for
at least seven days from the date of its publication and on the website
of the Company at http://www.grandtg.com/.

The English text of this report shall prevail over the Chinese text in
case of inconsistencies.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

EFRE®mE

The Board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company, together with
its subsidiaries (the “Group”), hereby presents the Company’s annual
report for the year ended 31 March, 2023 (the “Year”).

The fiscal year of 2022-2023 marked a significant milestone in the
Company development. With the completion of a rights issue on
17 May 2022, the Company was able to resolve its long term debts
including related legal disputes, substantially improved the Company
financial position. Also in the Year, the Group increased its mining
area to 8.2194 square kilometer from the previous 0.9749 square
kilometer in the renewed mining permit. The Company wishes to
express its sincere gratitude to the shareholders and the underwriter
for their participation in the fund raising, as well as their trust and
confidence in the Company, and to the management team for its
effort in expanding the potential in mineral resources and reserves
along with the increased mining area.

The Group understands that ultimately our shareholders, investors
and market participants expect the Group to produce excellent
performance. The Group has a long time strategic goal to build a mid
tier, competitive and highly efficient gold mining company covering
the whole industrial chain for gold production and has an execution
plan in place to achieve it. With the improved financial and operation
performance, the Group is now ready to gradually implement the plan
through increases in asset scale, production capacity and technical
renovation to improve efficiency and profitability, well planned
expansion in the industrial chains, and diligently selected mergers and
acquisitions of sector assets.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

EFRE®mE

The implementation of the strategic development plan as well as
continued improvement in the Group’s financial performance are not
without challenges and huddles, including the economic uncertainties
created by geopolitical tension of the world today, particularly that
between the US and China, the residual impacts of the coronavirus
(COVID-19) epidemic, and the structural difficulties in the country’s
economy and its reform. At our operation subsidiary level, facing
more stringent environmental regulations and requirements, our
subsidiary will need to maintain its effort, including investments
as may be necessary, to continuously upgrade and perfect its
environmental control systems, to better accommodate and fully
comply with government environmental protection requirements and
to minimize potential impacts to our normal production. In addition,
Company’s plan for expanding assets and production capacity will
require continued fund raising. However, privately owned companies
in China’s mainland face credit constraints. Management has to
work with both the banking system and the private capital market for
innovative financing to meet the funding needs for implementing the

strategic development plan.

With regard to the operation of the year, having overcome the
unexpectedly severe impacts from the COVID-19 epidemic and
met relevant environmental protection requirements, the Company
increased its throughput, revenues, gross and net profits for the
Group. For the equity holders of the Company, comparing with a
loss of the previous fiscal year, the Company managed a turnaround
by achieving a net profit to the equity holders of the Company. The
Company aims to maintain this momentum and strives for enhancing

its profit level in the year ahead.

On behalf of the Board
Li Dahong

Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFWRE DN

BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in gold exploration, mining and

mineral processing with gold concentrate as its product.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the year ended 31 March 2023 (the “Year”), the Group’s revenue
was approximately HK$153.2 million, representing an increase
of approximately 19.3% from approximately HK$128.4 million as

compared with that of the last year.

The increase in revenue was due to conscientious efforts by the
Group in offsetting impact of COVID-19 throughout in the Year, the
increase in the number of mine operating days as compared with last
year and the higher average gold prices as compared to the previous

year.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

During the Year, the Group’s gross profit was approximately HK$63.3
million, representing an increase of approximately 71.4% from
approximately HK$36.9 million as compared with that of the last
year. The increase in gross profit was primarily due to the increase in
revenue and average gold prices. During the Year, the Group’s overall

gross profit margin was approximately 41.3% (2022: 28.8%).

Selling and distribution expenses

During the Year, the Group’s selling and distribution expenses
were approximately HK$1.7 million, representing a decrease
of approximately 35.8% from approximately HK$2.6 million as

compared with that of the last year.

Administrative expenses

During the Year, the Group’s administrative expenses were
approximately HK$28.3 million, representing an increase of
approximately 25.9% from approximately HK$22.5 million as
compared to the last year. Increase in administrative expense
primarily due to increase in professional fee and equity settled share-

based payments.
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Profit for the year
Profit for the Year of the Group amounted to approximately HK$43.7
million (2022: approximately HK$7.8 million). Of this amount,

approximately HK$29.6 million was due to an income tax reversal.

For the Year, the Group recorded a net profit attributable to equity
holders of the Company of approximately HK$26.1 million, as
compared to loss of approximately HK$0.1 million recorded last year.
The net profit for the Year as compared to the previous year was
mainly due to (i) an increase in revenue; and (i) the gain reflected in
income tax reversal attributable to equity holders of the Company of
HK$21.3 million.

Earnings/loss per share
Earnings per share was approximately HK cents 0.48 for the Year

(2022: loss per share approximately HK cents 0.01).

Dividend
The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
Year (2022: nil).

Liquidity, financial resources and funding

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had cash and cash equivalents
amounted to approximately HK$24.6 million (2022: approximately
HK$4.4 million) and net current liabilities amounted to approximately
HK$5.0 million (2022: net current liabilities approximately HK$185.5
million) whereas inventories of the Group amounted to approximately
HK$16.7 million (2022: approximately HK$5.6 million).

As at 31 March 2023, the current ratio is approximately 0.96 (2022:
approximately 0.19).

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s gearing ratio was approximately
35.8% (2022: approximately 52%), calculated based on total

borrowings over total assets.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFWRE DN

Borrowings
Borrowings information of the Group is set out in note 27 to the

consolidated financial statements.

Capital structure

As at 31 March 2023, the Company’s issued share capital was
HK$5,987,129 which were divided into 5,987,128,640 Shares of
HK$0.001 each.

Capital commitment
As at 31 March 2023, the Group did not have any significant capital

commitments (2022: nil).

Charge on the Group’s assets
As at 31 March 2023, the trade receivables of approximately HK$41.1
million (2022: approximately HK$10.7 million) were pledged to secure

the Group’s borrowings (note 27).

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group obtained bank
overdraft facilities from a bank to the extent of HK$20.0 million
secured by the fixed deposits of HK$20.0 million, none of the banking

facilities were utilised by the Group.

Treasury policies

The Group’s monetary assets and transactions are principally
denominated in HK$ or Renminbi (‘RMB”). Foreign exchange risk
arises from future commercial transactions and recognised assets

and liabilities.

The Group adopted a conservative treasury policy with most of the
bank deposits being kept in HK$ or RMB, or in the local currencies of
the operating subsidiaries to minimise exposure to foreign exchange
risk. The Group monitors and maintains a sufficient level of cash and
cash equivalents to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuation in cash flows. Management reviews and

monitors the Group’s working capital requirements regularly.
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Segment information
The Group’s segmental information is set out in note 6 to the

consolidated financial statements.

Exposure to exchange risks

Since the Group’s borrowings and its source of income are primarily
denominated in the respective group companies functional currency
which are mainly in Hong Kong dollars or Renminbi, the exposure to

foreign exchange rate fluctuations is minimal.

Significant investment, material acquisition and disposal of
subsidiaries and affiliated companies, and future plans for
material investments or capital assets

The Group did not have any significant investment, material
acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries and affiliated companies

throughout the Year.

In addition, the Company is now focusing on developing and
strengthening its existing business and is exploring investment
opportunities in order to broaden the income stream of the Group,
enrich its reserves and resources, enhance the profitability of the
Group and eventually bring a fruitful return to the shareholders of the

Group.
Contingent liabilities

The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as at 31
March 2023 and 2022.

10

Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2022/2023
REESEREMAT « —T== /“T-_=FFH

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEBNWR DM

AR
KEH D ERENERA R RAMES

B 9

SNEE FER Bk
HRAEEZBEREWRARIREEARREE
ERNMEEE(Z2RETHARE)FHE
LS BEE 2R B Rl SR 0K o

FERE - EANERHEMNBLAARBHEAR
UREAREREAREE 2 RHKTE

WAER - AEEDEEMEERE  BAKE
R EHBATRHBAR -

AN - ARBRIEFEINERIIEFTEREER
NERRREREAMBRASENRARIR - &
BHRENRER  RAREENENEE N A FKEL
ARG E PR RGIRA O

RAREE
RZEBE-_=ZFA_FE-_—_F=ZA=+—H K&
BT {a] E A AAE -



Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2022/2023
REESEREMAT « —T== /“T-_=FFH

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFWRE DN

Employees and remuneration policies

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had 51 employees (2022: 58)
situated mainly in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and
Hong Kong. The Group’s emoluments policies are formulated based
on industry practices and performance of individual employees. For
the Year, the total staff costs (including directors’ emoluments and
share options) amounted to approximately HK$12.9 million (2022:
approximately HK$8.6 million). Details of employees’ remuneration
are set out in notes 10 and notes 12 of the consolidated financial

statements.

Relationships with employees, customers and suppliers
Employees

The Directors are of the view that its employees are the keys to the
sustainable development of the Group. The Directors believe that
the Group maintains good working relations with its employees and

endeavors to maintain and improve the quality of its products.

Customers and Suppliers

The Group aims to provide comprehensive solutions that meet
customers’ needs and establish a comprehensive vertical supply
chain management system through resource integration and supplier

screening and management.

The objectives of the Group are to deepen the collaborative
relationship with the strategic suppliers and to create competitive
advantages in the value chain, thereby aiming to enhance the impact
on the society and environment and to ensure that their suppliers
uphold similar stance in sustainability. The Group maintains long-term

relationship with its suppliers for ensuring stable supply.
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PROSPECT
Following the completion of the rights issue in May 2022 and the

subsequent improvement of the Company financial position and the
settlement of all material litigation against the Company, the Group
has updated and reshaped its strategic development plan. The Group
is ready to implement various action items in the plan starting in fiscal
year 2023-24. The plan includes expanding resources and reserves
to enlarge asset base, increasing mining and processing capacities
to boost revenues and profits, extending its industrial chains in
gold production, acquiring and merging additional mining assets or
business integration, and creating partnerships with state owned
enterprises (SOEs) and private sector peers to broaden revenues
sources. Implementing each of the action items in the plan will be a
challenge, particularly in financing these actions. The Group will work
with its shareholders, advisors, and partners for innovative ways of
financing for the plan implementation, to achieve its strategic goal
and ultimately to generate the returns our investors and shareholders

expect and deserve.

MINERAL EXPLORATION, MINE DEVELOPMENT
AND ORE MINING ACTIVITIES

Mineral Exploration and Mine Development

During the Year, Taizhou Mining mainly completed certain mining
development projects, including the excavation of approximately
2,170 meters of various tunnels, excavation of approximately 173
meters of slope supporting, excavation of approximately 260 meters
of ore chute as well as excavation of approximately 651 meters for

track laying and ditches.

During the Year, the Group’s total expenditure for the mine
development and mineral exploration amounted to approximately

HK$14.0 million and approximately HK$13.8 million respectively.
Ore Mining

During the Year, the aggregate expenditure on the ore mining

operation of the Group was approximately HK$51.3 million.
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RESOURCES AND RESERVES BERK#E

Based on the findings pursuant to JORC CODE 2012 RIORCER(ZZ——FR)FEH &

1. Asof 31 March 2023, using a gold cut-off grade of 1.0 gram per 1. BEZZ-=F=ZH=+—H ' #A1.0%
tonne, the indicated resource and inferred resource of the Group B¢/ WERBAE  AEENEHER
were: EREHERER :

Contained

Inventory Grade metal

7 miL ee’

(gram per (kilogram,

(kilotonne) tonne, gold) gold)

(Fmg) (=@M -5€) (Tr X =22)

Indicated resource T B R E 1,549 8.35 12,936
Inferred resource HEERE 1,555 6.60 10,260
Total HET 3,104 7,47 23,196

2. As at 31 March 2023, under a cut-off grade of 1.9 gram per 2. HE_ZE_=F=A=+—H  BE19%

tonne, the estimated probable reserves of the Group were: wme  MERMBAE  AEBGEIER
FHER
Contained
Inventory Grade metal
7E i eEtE
(gram per (kilogram,
(kilotonne) tonne, gold) gold)
(FHE) (RBWH- - &#E) (Fn =€)
Probable reserves inventory FERR#EFSE 1,419 5.95 8,439
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Li Dahong (“Dr. Li”)

Dr. Li, aged 65, joined the Company as an executive Director on
24 February 2016 and is also the chairman and the authorized
representative of the Company. Dr. Li also serves as a director
of SSC Mandarin Mining Investment Limited and T G Mining Asia
Limited, all being subsidiaries of the Company. He has over 25
years of experience in investment banking, mergers and acquisitions
and other financial activities. Dr. Li was graduated from Tsinghua
University in civil and environmental engineering and received a
degree in Doctor of Philosophy in Civil Engineering from the University

of Toronto, Canada.

Ms. Ma Xiaona (“Ms. Ma”)

Ms. Ma, aged 48, was appointed as a non-executive Director of the
Company on 24 March 2016 and is a member of the remuneration
committee and nomination committee of the Company. Ms. Ma was
re-designated as an executive Director and the compliance officer of
the Company on 13 September 2017, and was also appointed as a
director of SSC Mandarin Mining Investment Limited and T G Mining
Asia Limited, wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company. Ms. Ma
graduated from East China University of Science and Technology in
Shanghai with a Bachelor’s degree in International Trade. She has
more than 20 years of experience in project financing, joint ventures
and mergers and acquisitions in China and Hong Kong, involving in
industries such as gold mining, other resources mining, traditional

manufacturing, and high-tech industry.

14

HITES

TAREEL(EHL])

FEL 6558  RZZE—RNFEAZ+HEAMA
RAA - BERTES - BROARRRAZERER
BERE - TETTDBIEESCENNEERE
ERAFRRESBEDMBRAT(HAEARAT
ZHBAR)ZESE - BEGBSFHRERT
HEREMSRMER T IOLR - FHLEER
BEAZBLARERETRIAVESNEAZRS
REFTARTRRIELEM -

BBzt ((HFxt])

BrE 485 R-T—R"F=ZA-THHEZ
ERARARZFAITESR  URAARRRZHME
BEeRREEEEKE - BRIN_FT—tFN
AT=ZAREIARRRATETREREME - A
EWEBRERRNRRZ ZEWB R R SEFWIESE
REARABNESBETMERRRZES -
BELLIEXRNEEERETIARE  BREETER
RESEX BT B - R B0FTEM
WEHEBBE  KUAZEEE  WEHEZEK
B PROIXEREE  EMERERX SRR
EERBRHRES



Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2022/2023
REESEREMAT « —T== /“T-_=FFH

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EENGREEERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Guo Wei (“Mr. Guo”)

Mr. Guo, aged 68, was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 28 April 2016. He is also the chairman
of the nomination committee and remuneration committee and a
member of the audit committee of the Company. Mr. Guo graduated
from Beijing Institute of Economic Research, majoring in Chinese
Language and Literature (undergraduate) in 1999. Since 2004, he has
been served as the chairman of the board of AT/ T iz L& GIR A A
(Zhejiang Ruifeng Investment Company Limited*). He worked in the
T & B E ) 52 5% 51 FE (Survey and Design Institute of Post and
Telecommunications in Zhejiang Province*) from 1977 to 1987. He
worked in the Zhejiang Provincial Government Office in Guangzhou
and KX ¥ & £ B 2 7 (Grand Southeast Group Corporation®) from
1988 to 1994. He worked as the general manager of #i ) E £ B
KB J& (Hangzhou Nanwang International Hotel”) and the chairman
of the board of i1 N 7 & % & 2 & (Hangzhou Wuyun Investment
Company*) from 1995 to 2004. Mr. Guo has been engaged in
management for more than 30 years, including 20 years as the
head of enterprises, during which he gains extensive management

experience and strong coordination ability.
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Mr. Lam Albert Man Sum (“Mr. Lam”)

Mr. Lam, aged 67, joined the Company as an independent non-
executive Director on 8 December 2017. He is also the chairman of
the audit committee of the Company, a member of the nomination
committee and remuneration committee of the Company. He is
a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England &
Wales, Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the Hong Kong Securities
Institute, Society of Chinese Accountants & Auditors, Australia ¢ New
Zealand Institute of Chartered Accountants, Taxation Institute of
Hong Kong and Certified Tax Adviser. Mr. Lam holds a Bachelor
Degree in Arts (Economics) from the University of Manchester, the
United Kingdom. Mr. Lam is currently an independent non-executive
director of Macrolink Capital Holdings Limited (formerly known as
Junefield Department Store Group Limited) (Stock Exchange Stock
Code: 758). He was an independent non-executive director of OCI
International Holdings Limited (Stock Exchange Stock Code: 329)
from 28 April 2010 to 7 May 2018. Mr. Lam currently is a partner
of Grand Thornton Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Lam had been head of
department in Southwest Securities International Securities Limited
(Stock Exchange Stock Code: 812). He was the former director and
Chief Executive Officer and is the shareholder of Jonten Hopkins
CPA Limited (the merger of former Aoba CPA Limited* (& & & 51l
F75F7) and Albert Lam & Co. CPA). Mr. Lam was also the Managing
Partner and Founder of Albert Lam & Co. CPA.
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Mr. Cheung Wai Hung (“Mr. Cheung”)

Mr. Cheung, aged 42, joined the Company as an independent non-
executive Director on 27 August 2018. He is also a member of the
audit committee of the Company. He is a chartered tax adviser of
the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong, a certified public accountant
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a
fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr.
Cheung graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University with
an honours degree in bachelor of arts in accountancy. He worked
in Jonten Hopkins CPA Limited from July 2004 to March 2014
and his last position was audit manager. He is currently appointed
as the chief financial officer of Wai Chi Holdings Company Limited
(Stock Exchange Stock Code: 1305). Mr. Cheng was appointed as
an independent non-executive director of Ye Xing Group Holdings
Limited (Stock Exchange Stock Code: 1941) on 17 February 2020.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Ma Qianzhou (“Mr. Ma”)

Mr. Ma, aged 65, has more than 30 years of senior management
experience in gold mining, exploration, ore processing, refining and
merger and acquisitions of mining companies in China. Mr. Ma is
currently the Chairman of Gold Association of Tongguan County,
Shaanxi Province, the PRC. Mr. Ma is the general manager and
director of Taizhou Mining. He had served as director of China Gold
Association and executive director of Gold Association of Shaanxi
Province. He had held senior management positions as the director of
the Small and Medium Entrepreneurs Association, Shaanxi Province,
PRC, and the President of the Small and Medium Entrepreneurs

Association of Weinan City, Shaanxi Province, the PRC.

Ms. Eva Lee (“Ms. Lee”)

Ms. Lee was appointed as the company secretary of the Company
(the “Company Secretary”) on 20 February 2020. She is admitted
as a solicitor in Hong Kong and focusing on capital markets and
corporate finance work. Ms. Lee graduated from the London School

of Economic and Political Science with Masters of Laws (Distinction).

*

For identification purpose only
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The Directors are pleased to present their report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries

for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of
the principal activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set

out in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the Year and a
discussion on the Group’s future business development are provided
in the Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and
Analysis of this report. Possible risks and uncertainties that the Group
may be facing are set out in the Report of the Directors on page 18 of
this report and the Corporate Governance Report on page 70 of this

report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Fluctuation in the price of gold

The Directors consider that the price of gold in the PRC is highly
influenced by the price of gold in the international market (which is
denominated in the USD) and the exchange rate of the USD to RMB.
The Directors consider that there are many factors influencing the
price of gold in the international market, including global economic
situation, fiscal, monetary and trade policies of world major
economies especially that of the US government and US Federal
Reserve which has a direct effect to US dollars, inflation experienced
in many countries, fluctuation in major stock markets, geo-political
instability in the international arena, all of which are beyond the control
of the Group. The fluctuation in gold price would affect significantly
the operation revenue, cash flow and profitability of the Group. To
mitigate and control the risk, the Group would continue to make its
constant effort in controlling cash cost for production and overall
cost for the Group operation, monitoring closely the commodity
market and aligning its production planning, growth strategy and
capital expenditure with projected market development to the extent

possible.
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Investment risks

Investments in mineral exploration and mining have its inherent risks.
Significant capital expenditures are usually required for business
and regulatory reasons in new exploration and sustained mine
development while the results particularly those for exploration may
not always be as expected or achieve the desired levels of reliability
for newly found mineral reserves and resources in the timely fashion.
The Group would mitigate and control such risks by conducting
proper risk assessment, using third party professionals and experts
and adopting the best practices in the industry, in investment
evaluation and decision-making process, including carefully planned
drilling and other exploration activities, mine development and

acquisition of quality mining assets.

Government regulations

The mining activities of the Group are subject to various government
policies, standards, permitting and regulations, all of which could
affect the Group’s operation. From time to time, there are government
initiatives for the mining industry such as mining right consolidation
which aims at creating larger mining areas from fragmented ones.
Furthermore, the process for review and extension of the existing
mining and exploration right permits, and review and approval of
any new mining and production facilities have become lengthy and
costly and with uncertainty. Even projects approved years ago and
are already under construction can be subject to review and approval
under a new set regulations and standards. The Group would
mitigate and control the risks by working closely with the government
agencies to negotiate the best deals in the consolidation programme
and to expand its mining permitting areas to protect and maximize
the Group’s interests. At the same time, the Group monitors and
follows the policy development closely and works on the best effort
basis ahead of the anticipated changes to be prepared and to

comply.
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Environmental protection

The nationwide campaign for building green mines has been part of
the PRC national strategy for environmental protection. Virtually all
major mining regions in the country including the county where the
Group operates are included in this campaign. This involves mining
permitting only at certain elevations, clear of any protective or natural
reserve areas and strict enforcement of pollution control standards,
minimizing adverse impacts of mining and processing activities to
their surrounding natural and social environments and to geology
stability, mitigating any adverse impacts from historical mining
activities rehabilitation of closed mine sites and surroundings, the Xiao
Qinling mountains where the Group’s mine operates, have received
the attention for protection from the highest level of the country’s
leadership. A series of new provincial and local notices, guidelines
and circulars have been issued, some of which targeted specifically
to the mining sector. There could be very specific requirements such
as relocating accommodation of mining workers away from mining
sites and site reforestation. It is expected that the regulations will
be increasingly stringent. Furthermore, dedicated environmental
inspections for mining become a routine practice by the environmental
authorities. It has occurred in the past including the reporting period
and will likely to occur in the future, that during the inspection all
mines Tongguan County may be required to shut down even Group’s
mine was not a direct enforcement target. A series of requirements
for improvement in environmental protection in the region as well as
all the mines were raised as a result of the inspection. Enforcement of
these environmental policies and standards may cause an increase
in operating costs and in temporary interruption of the Group’s
normal production activities. The Group has a policy to protect the
natural and social environments and to be in full compliance with all
applicable policies and standards. The Group has and will continue
to take pre-active measures, reserve sufficient financial and material
resources, enhance management team and improve planning and

procedures to ensure compliance.
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Financial risks

The Group requires sufficient funding for its working capital, debt
repayment, further development and planned acquisitions. On 17
May 2022, the Company completed a rights issue raising fund
to cover the Company’s then debts and operating costs for the
following 18 months. This significantly improved the Company’s
financial positions. Sufficient funding and cashflow are critical to the
Group’s operation, development and growth, as well as to meeting
the Group’s financial obligations. The Group will continue its effort
to better manage its finance through both internal operation by
expanding its revenue base and enhance its profitability and through
fund raising as and if needed. Implementing the Company business
plan for growth and proper management of Group's cash flow and
achieving the corporate revenue and profit goals through continued
growth are fundamental to the Group’s financial health and to control

the financial risks.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the Year and up to the date of this report, the Group has
complied with all the relevant laws and regulations in the Cayman
Islands, Hong Kong and the People’s Republic of China in all material

respects for the business operations of the Group.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group’s environmental policies are to protect the natural
and social environment where the Group operates, to ensure full
compliance with all applicable regulatory requirements and standards,
and to be sustainable in the Group’s operations. The Group strives
to minimize potential adverse environmental impacts from its mining,
ore processing, tailing disposal and other production and operation
activities. This objective for protecting the environment during the
Group’s operations will be achieved by adopting effective and
proactive, where appropriate, measures, including but not limited
to, upfront impact assessment for any and all new projects, careful
planning and execution of production activities with considerations
for environmental protection, control and gradually reducing green
house gas emissions in line with the national carbon peak by 2030
and carbon neutral strategies by 2060, collection and treatment of
waste from all streams and sources, recycling and reuse of treated
waste where possible, minimization of environmental discharge,
rehabilitating areas affected by the Group’s mining activities and

endorsing community participation and feedback, etc.

During the Year, the Group had not been the subject of any

environmental claims, lawsuits, penalties or disciplinary actions.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on page
97.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment information of the Group is set out in note 6 to the

consolidated financial statements.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
Year (2022: Nil).
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company, is set out on page
220. This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated

financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in note 15 to the consolidated

financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the Year

are set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” and
“Convertible Bonds” of this report and note 29 and note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements, no equity-linked agreement was

entered into by the Company during the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s

articles of association and laws of the Cayman Islands.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audited consolidated financial statements of the Company for
the year ended 31 March 2023 had been reviewed by the audit
committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) before they
were duly approved by the Board under the recommendation of the

Audit Committee.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors or their respective close associates (as defined
in GEM Listing Rules) had an interest in a business which competes

or may compete with the business of the Group during the Year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or

redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of the
Group during the Year are set out in note 33(a) to the consolidated
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in

equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2023, there were no Company’s reserves available

for distribution to shareholders.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, sales to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for approximately 100% of the total sales for the Year
and sales to the largest customer accounted for approximately
100%. Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted
for approximately 100% of the total purchases for the Year and
purchases from the largest supplier accounted for approximately
49.5%.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates (as defined
in the GEM Listing Rules) or any shareholders (which, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s
total number of issued Shares) had any beneficial interest in the

Group’s five largest customers or suppliers during the Year.
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DIRECTORS AND SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors
Dr. Li Dahong

Ms. Ma Xiaona

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Guo Wei

Mr. Lam Albert Man Sum

Mr. Cheung Wai Hung

Each of Dr. Li Dahong and Mr. Cheung Wai Hung, has entered
into a service contract with the Company for a term of three years

commencing from 27 September 2021.

Mr. Lam Albert Man Sum, has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from 28 September
2020.

Each of Ms. Ma Xiaona and Mr. Guo Wei, has entered into a service
contract with the Company for a term of three years commencing
from 22 September 2022.

The term of service of a Director is subject to the provisions on
retirement by rotation of Directors as set out in the articles of

association of the Company.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
annual general meeting has an unexpired service agreement with
the Company which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory

compensation.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of Directors and senior management are set
out on page 14.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contract for the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company had been

entered into or existed during the Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

During the Year and up to the date of this report, the Company has
in force the permitted indemnity provisions which are provided for
in the articles of association of the Company and in the directors
and officers liability insurance maintained for the Group in respect
of potential liability and costs associated with legal proceedings that
may be brought against the Directors and the directors of the Group

respectively.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 12 to the

consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No Director nor entity connected with a Director had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement
or contract of significance to which the Company or any of its

subsidiaries was a party during the Year.

26

Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited An}uol Report 2022/2023

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRE

EEREREEEBREFRE

EE LR EEEREAGHNEI4E -

EEEHN
RAEFE - AARRL MU FERAD AN S
BHMEAMEARD EH BN TR RITREL -

BEFFRRERRX
REFERBEARSE AN  pESRAEEE
£ BT E SN ERFAMAELEEEER
BA - ARABEREFOBEET  REHEX
MRRARRZ D MAUARSEBRRZ EE
RERERABETRRA -

EEHM
BRESFIZ A ERNEARBREME2 -

EERNEARS RHEREN 2 EH

RAFEYTBEEHNEEZFMENERERN
BN AR RS EA MM B R RE L2 EAER
X5 R HEHTREEA R ©



Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2022/2023
REESEREMAT « —T== /“T-_=FFH

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRE

EERFBRITHRAEBRRAD - HEAKR
IREERZEERAR

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2023, the interests and short positions of the RZE_=F=ZA=+—H EZRARAEE
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares, TERABRARFHEAMMAE EZE(EXRE
BEBESTIER S RAE KA ([FHRBERK
Bl 1) EXVER) 2 Bt - MBS ERER R -
BRARBELSRIAEGIIEIGEETFEZE
A SIRIRGEM LT AR BISE5.4816 = 55,67
BAECEBEVTIRE( EBXTEE|)ESTT
MEARNE) MRz ROKBIT

underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (the “SFO”) which were recorded in the register required to
be kept under section 352 of the SFO, or which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the
GEM Listing Rules (the “Required Standard of Dealings”) were as

follows:

Number of Number of
ordinary underlying

shares of ordinary Approximate

the Company shares of the percentage of

Name of Directors Nature of interest interested Company shareholding

HEERN BFENEAT BARER

BEEpE ERME ARAEEREE EERHE BA

%

Dr. Li Dahong Beneficial owner - 23,948,516 0.40%
FRREL ERBEAA (Note 1)
(Bist1)

Ms. Ma Xiaona Beneficial owner - 20,954,950 0.35%
S+ EmEEA (Note 1)
(Hzt1)
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Number of Number of
ordinary underlying

shares of ordinary Approximate

the Company shares of the percentage of

Name of Directors Nature of interest interested Company shareholding

BEERERD BFERNARDH AR

BEspns ERME AREEEREE ZERYE Bk

%

Mr. Cheung Wai Hung Beneficial owner - 2,993,564 0.05%
SRIETER A ERBEA (Note 1)
(Brat1)

Mr. Guo Wei Beneficial owner - 2,993,564 0.05%
Eilfebited ERBEAA (Note 1)
(Bst1)

Mr. Lam Albert Man Sum Beneficial owner - 2,993,564 0.05%
MEREE EmBEBA (Note 1)
(Brat1)

- 53,884,158 0.90%

Note: Wiz

1. Such interest was in the form of share options which granted on 29
September 2022.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Year were rights to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of Shares in or debentures of the Company granted
to any Director or their respective spouse or minor children, or were
any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company or any of
its holding companies, subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries a party to
any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any

other body corporate.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

So far as is known to any Director or chief executives of the
Company, as at 31 March 2023, the following persons (other than the
Directors and chief executives of the Company whose interests are
set out in the section “Directors’ and chief executives’ interests and
short positions in Shares, underlying shares and debentures” above)
had an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying shares
which were recorded in the register required to be kept under Section
336 of the SFO:

Long Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares of the Company

FERRRROKEBRRD 2ERR
KRR

MEBEERAANAEE
—=Ff=ZA=+—H
FTETHRAER

THRABRH  RZF
TUATAT(EERARF
N REZEREHN EXE
ERFETHRAERKRD - HEARDREEZ 2
ROk A | —8) RO SABER G - AR
AREFE S K AEIEHEI36IKERFE 2= LM
2RISR

REATDRDREBRDZFR

Number and class of securities

EEHEERER Approximate %
Underlying  of the issued
Name Capacity Shares Shares Shares
HEBRITROZ
wmE/EB E8) iavi) HEER 4 BROBEDL
Ma Qianzhou (“Mr. Ma”) Beneficial owner 4,029,354,894 - 67.30%
HEM(BxED BHEEAA
Interest of spouse 179,613,860 - 3.00%
[N (Note 1)
(Bzt1)
Zhao Yuebing Beneficial owner 179,613,860 - 3.00%
=TI BEHEEAA
Interest of spouse 4,029,354,894 - 67.30%
[iTNRes (Note 1)
(Bfat1)
Note: Wi

1. Mr. Ma is the spouse of Ms. Zhao Yuebing. Mr. Ma and Ms. Zhao
Yuebing is accordingly deemed to be interested in the Shares beneficially
owned by each other under the SFO.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, the Company had
not been notified of any other person (other than the Directors or chief
executives of the Company) who had an interest or short position in
the Shares or underlying shares which were required to be kept under
Section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

At an extraordinary general meeting of the shareholders of the
Company held on 27 September 2021, the Company adopted a
share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”). The Share
Option Scheme shall remain in force for a period of ten years
commencing on that date, subject to early termination by the

Company in general meeting.

To enable the Company to motivate more persons to make
contribution to the Group and recruit additional talents to serve the
Group in attaining the long term objectives of the Company, the
Share Option Scheme has been adopted with a broader categories
of eligible participants, including full time and part time employee,
consultant, adviser, agent, contractor, customer, supplier and
shareholder of the Group (the “Participants”). Under the terms of the
Share Option Scheme, the directors of the Company may determine
the grant of any options to the Participants to subscribe for ordinary

shares in the capital of the Company.

The overall limit on the number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted and yet to be exercised under
the Share Option Scheme and other share option schemes must
not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of shares of the Company in issue
from time to time. The total number of shares issued and which
may fall to be issued upon exercise of the options granted under
the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Company, including both exercised and outstanding options, to
each Participant in any twelve month period must not exceed 1% of
the then total issued share capital of the Company (the “Individual
Limit”). Any further grant of options in excess of the Individual Limit
must be subject to shareholders’ approval in general meeting of the
Company with such Participant and his associates (as defined in the

GEM Listing Rules) abstaining from voting.
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An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time from the date of grant of the option
to the date of expiry of the option as determined and notified by the
directors of the Company to each grantee but may not be exercised
after the expiry of ten years from the date of grant. The subscription
price of the shares in respect of any particular option granted under
the Share Option Scheme shall be such price as the board of
directors of the Company, in its absolute discretion, shall determine
and notify the Participant, save that such price must be at least the
higher of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date grant; (i)
the average closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of

the Company’s shares.

The movements in share options granted under the Scheme during

the years ended 31 March 2023 are shown below:

ERRER AR B 2 AR EBRERE R B
(RARBEEMETE RASHEBEAFTRME )T
1] B R AR B A AR R R B R AT - ME AT
Z BT HRITE - RBEREL IR EH T
MR ERBRE - HFp RROHORBERAER
AESFEXRMNBETT BN EHENER
ZEERBBERLATI=ZEFPNRSE « (B
FTE A MERAE L BB RAR A RMD K
ME (AR RRMABERL B AEE
Bz FHRmE (BB ARERAESAER
%) 5 Ri)ARRRDEEE ©

HE-_ZT-=—F=-A=1+—BILFEFE  BERE
STEIT R 2 BB E EE ST

Number of share options
ElERE
At Granted  Exercised Expired  Reclassified Lapsed At Exercise price
Name of category 1 April during during during during during 31 March Date of of share options
of participants 2022 the year the year the year the year the year 2023 granted  Validity period HKS per share  Note
e Bz

i RER BIzE BRETER
SuEENER BA-B REARLE REAGE RERDE  ENSE  WERBL ZAZt-B BFRE ANE Br/R A
Director
£
Li Dahong - 23948516 - - - - 23948516 29922 29-0-22-28-9-32 0.252 1
EYVY
Ma Xiaona - 20,954,950 - - - - 2095490 29922 29-9-22-28-9-32 0.262 1
SEm
Guo Wei - 2993564 - - - - 2993564 29922 29-9-20-28-9-32 0.252 1
b
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Number of share options
EREHE
At Granted  Exercised Expired  Reclassified Lapsed At Exercise price
Name of category 1 April during during during during during 31 March Date of of share options
of participants 2022 the year the year the year the year the year 2023 granted  Validity period HKS per share  Note
BE HE
it S RER Ittt RREGRE
SuEENER BA-B REARE REAGE RERDE  ENSE RERRL ZR=t-B BFEE ANE /R A
Lam Albert Man Sum - 2993564 - - - - 2993564 29922 29-9-22-28-9-32 0.262 1
HER
Cheung Wai Hung - 2993564 - - - - 2993564 2992 29-9-22-28-9-32 0.252 1
e
Sub-fotal
I - 53,834,158 - - - - 53,884,158
Employees in
aggregate - 19,584,000 - - - - 19584000 24-522  24-5-22-23-5-32 0.088 2
BT - 5087128 - - - - 5087128 2992 29-9-22-28-9-3 0.252 1
- 25571128 - - - - 265711128
Consultant
BE
Bilion Winning
Holdings Ltd. - 9,792,000 - - - - 0792000 24522  24-5-22-23-5-32 0.088 2
REEARAT
- 89.247.286 - - - - 89,247,286
Notes: Bt -

1. For all share options granted on 29 September 2022, the first 30% of 1. BMZZE_—FhAAZTAAREOEHBERER

the total options can be exercised 3 years after the date of grant, and = 2RI EA B 30% Al AR ) B HIRE3 1R 1T
second 30% of the total options will become exercisable in subsequent T EEPEERERIR30% A RBER FEITIE o 5t
year. For the remaining options, 40% can be exercised 5 years after the BTIAIEREMS - 40% AT A AHRESF181T
date of grant. £ o

v

2. For all share options granted on 24 May 2022, the options can be 2, BI-E_—_FHREA-—THNBERENEIPEREM
exercised 3 years after the date of grant. = BERRAE A MR B HARBF R TIE ©

oq)

32



Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2022/2023
REESEREMAT « —T== /“T-_=FFH

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EEEHRE

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken in the usual
course of business are set out in note 38 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Loans from Mr. Ma and Ms. Zhao Yuebing, directors of Taizhou
Mining and thus connected persons of the Group, to Taizhou Mining
and to the Company were fully exempt connected transactions
pursuant to Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules as those were
conducted on normal commercial terms or better and were not
secured by the assets of the Group.

The Directors consider that those material related party transactions
disclosed in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements did not
fall under the definition of “connected transactions” or “continuing
connected transactions” (as the case may be) in Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules which are required to comply with any of the
reporting, announcement or independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements under the GEM Listing Rules. The Directors confirmed
that the Company has complied with the requirements in accordance
with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group remunerates its employees based on their performance,
experience and prevailing market rate. Other employee benefits
included provident fund scheme, share option scheme as well as
discretionary bonuses. The determination of emoluments of the
directors of the Company had taken into consideration of their
respective experience, responsibilities in the Company and the
prevailing market conditions.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total number of issued Shares was held by the public as at the date
of this report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in note 4(x) to the consolidated financial statements
and this report, the Directors are not aware of any significant event
requiring disclosure that has taken place subsequent to 31 March
2023 and up to the date of approval of this report.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

The actual net proceeds raised from the Rights Issue was

approximately HK$152.9 million. Up to the date of this report, the

Group has utilised the net proceeds as follows:

FRiSFE AR

KA HIE 2 BB A3 A 58 A 49152,900,000
BT BEAREHE  KEBCBAMEIE

FEOT

Intended use of Actual use of Unutilised Expected
net proceeds as net proceeds net proceeds timeline
stated in the up to the date up to the date for the
Prospectus of this report of this report intended use
HRELR BEE EZ
ERRZ ARERH AHBERH
FRERERE FERERE ABAME BREREZ
RERZ ERAR FEFE BHREXR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET
Redemptions of Convertible bonds  §& B AT % E 5 30,100 30,100 - Utilised as intended
RBEEA
Repayment loans from Ms. Zhao B2 & /) MEM E 56,500 56,500 - Utiised as intended
RBEE A
Repayment of other indebtedness  {&3& E (&% 38,500 11,499 27,001 On or before
31 December
2023
A
+-A=1+-H
Al
General working capital —fREEES 28,800 25,751 3,049  On or before
30 November
2023
NZE-=F
+—A=tR
2 Al
152,900 122,850 30,050
(Note 1) (Note 2)
(B75E1) (Hizt2)
Notes: Biat -

1. The details of Rights Issue are set out in the Company’s Prospectus
dated 21 April 2022 and the announcements dated 2 November 2021,

10 April 2022 and 17 May 2022.

1. BEHRBRZFABERAARBRA-ZT - —FM
A-t+—Bz#ERBRER  UWRBHA-ZT-—F
+—AZB - B —FMA+RAR-ZE-C

EA+TERZAE -

2. The unutilised net proceeds including pledged deposits HK$20 million in 2. ARPAFMBSREFEREROTEEHRLER
bank. 20,000,000/ 7 °
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the Year were audited by
McM (HK) CPA Limited.

McM (HK) CPA Limited was appointed as auditor to the Group on 3
April 2020 to fill the casual vacancy occasioned by the resignation
of GI CPA Limited with effect from 2 April 2020. The reason for
the change of auditor was that Gl CPA Limited no longer intended
to carry out accounting and audit services in Hong Kong and has
ceased to be a certified public accountant and Public Interest Entity

auditor with the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
McM (HK) CPA Limited term of office as auditor of the Company

will expire at end of the forthcoming annual general meeting of the

Company.

On behalf of the Board
Li Dahong

Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2023
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OBJECTIVES

The board of directors (the “Board”) of Grand T G Gold Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) is pleased to present the environmental,
social and governance report which is prepared in accordance with
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG
Guide”) set out in Appendix 20 to the GEM Listing Rules. The Board
has reviewed and approved the report and is pleased to present the
measures and activities in the environmental, social and governance
(‘ESG”) aspect of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2023.

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

Board’s oversight of ESG issues

The Board has a primary role in overseeing the Group’s ESG issues.
In 2023, the Board, the management and the ESG Working Team
evaluated the impacts of ESG-related risks on the operation and
formulated ESG-related policies in dealing with relevant risks. The
oversight of the Board is to ensures that the management and the
ESG Working Team have all the right tools and resources to oversee
the ESG issues.

To demonstrate the Group’s commitment on transparency and
accountability, the management and the ESG Working Team will
review and evaluate the Group’s performance in respect of ESG issues

and report to the Board regularly.

The Board is primarily responsible for reviewing and supervising
the ESG process and risk management of the Group. In 2023, the
ESG governance and ESG-related issues were reviewed at regular

meetings.
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The Board’s ESG management approach and strategy for
material ESG-related issues

In order to deeply understand the opinions and expectations of
different stakeholders on the ESG issues, materiality assessment
of the Group is conducted annually. The Group ensures various
platforms and channels of communication are used to reach,
listen and respond to our key stakeholders. Through general
communication with stakeholders, the Group is able to understand
the expectations and concerns from its stakeholders. The feedback
obtained allows the Group to make more informed decisions, and
to better assess and manage the resulting impacts of the business

decisions.

The Group has evaluated the materiality of ESG aspects through
the following steps: (i) identification of ESG issues by the Group; (i)
prioritisation of key ESG aspects with stakeholder engagement; and
(iii) validation and determination of material ESG issues based on the

results of communication with stakeholders.

These steps can help the Group understand the degree of concemn
stakeholders show to each ESG issue, and enable the Board to make
a more comprehensive plan for the future direction of sustainable

development.

The Board’s review progress against ESG-related goals and
targets

The Group will closely review the performance of the goals and
targets and the progress of implementation from time to time. If the
progress falls short of expectation or the business operation changes,
rectification may be needed and communication about the goals and
targets with key stakeholders such as employees, customers and

suppliers may be conducted.

Setting strategic goals for the future that enables the Group to
develop a realistic roadmap and focus on the development direction
in achieving the visions. The ESG Working Team will carefully examine
the attainability of the targets which should be weighed against the

Group’s principles and goals.
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REPORTING PRINCIPLES

The report is centred on 4 principles:

Materiality: Stakeholder engagement and materiality assessment are
conducted regularly to identify material ESG issues, and to ensure

that these issues are addressed in the report.

Quantitative: Data presented in this report has been collected
prudently. Please refer to the environmental and social performance
data for standards and methodologies used for calculation of key

performance indicators.

Balance: Both positive and negative impacts of the business have

been presented in a transparent manner.

Consistency: Unless otherwise stated, the disclosures, data collection
and calculation methods have remained consistent throughout the

years to facilitate comparability over time.

REPORTING SCOPE

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in gold exploration, mining
and mineral processing. To reduce environmental impact and
create value for communities, the Group seeks every opportunity to
incorporate sustainability standards and practices into all aspects of

its businesses.

Tongguan Taizhou Mining Company Limited* (ZR% A MNEEERE
f£72 7)) (collectively referred to as “Taizhou Mining”) is the Group’s
focus in the ESG Report for 2023. It is principally engaged in gold
exploration, mining and mineral processing with gold concentrate as
its product. In 2023, Taizhou Mining mainly completed certain mining
development projects, including the excavation of approximately
2,170 meters of various tunnels, excavation of approximately 173
meters of slope supporting, excavation of approximately 260 meters
of ore chute as well as excavation of approximately 651 meters for

track laying and ditches.
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In addition, the Group treats social responsibility as its basic
responsibility. In order to contribute to the society which the
Group relies on, the Group actively participates in activities to help

underprivileged communities.

The disclosures in this report are focused on the policies and
performance of the aforesaid businesses in terms of 4 environmental

protection aspects and 8 social responsibility aspects in 2023.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Stakeholder engagement is the core element of the Group’s
sustainable development. Focusing on the establishment of a regular
communication mechanism for the stakeholders, the Group has set
up online and offline communication channels to demonstrate to the
stakeholders its strategic plans for and performance of sustainable
development and to consult their opinions and needs in a timely

manner, so as to fulfil their expectations.

The Group’s stakeholders include the shareholders, staff, government
and regulatory authorities, customers, suppliers and communities,
shareholders/institutional and individual investors, etc. The Group will
engage in discussions with the stakeholders about relevant issues
through various channels. The relevant communication channels and

stakeholders’ expectations and requirements for the Group are as
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HE ISP EFHYEE o

RIZBE-=FF  KAHEA LR EBHENAERER
REHE MeEt e B EHE MR RRBIER
= o

BHOENSH

FHE2ER BEXEAFERRIENZLE
Do BEEBIEHEFNERVERCBRAE
fl - R THRLERETHBERER - RERFD

FEM BRE A RE R B AR B EAA NG
B @A TEREER  nERHENH
Eté o

ERENFNERERR B8  BUTREEH
B BFP  fERRER - R EEREAR
BEE - E%@?fiﬁﬁaﬁmﬁiﬁi@7ﬁﬁ%¢%
BFHEETER  HENBRRERFNE
o BEEENHEEERMT

follows:

Stakeholders Expectations Communications and feedbacks

B E HE BERRE

Shareholders Financial results Growth in profitability and ensuring in

business sustainability

PR LIELE S REA NN MEREG AR EE
Information transparency Regular disclosure of information
BAERE TE BAE SR

Sound control over risks

o= KRR
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Stakeholders Expectations Communications and feedbacks
& HE BERRE

Staff Platform for career development Providing platform for career development
(== SEE THE I RHEBRERT S

Government and regulatory
authorities

B REE#E

Customers

P

Suppliers
HiERy

Communities

o

Salary and benefits
e REH

Safe working environment

RN TIERR

Compliance with rules and regulations

AP IR0
Tax payment in accordance with laws
BT EE

Maintaining high quality products
FEXNSEEEM

Security of customer information
BEFERLE

Protection of customers’ rights and
interests

B PR RS RIS
Cooperation with integrity

HIEA1E

Business ethics and creditworthiness

[SESEE

EES

K

o
i

Environmental protection
RIER#E

Job opportunities
MEKE
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Competitive salaries and employee benefits
HEEF e LESRT

Provision of employee training and
improvement in safety awareness

RHE BRI INEZ 255

Operational compliance

aRgE
Full payment of tax when due
R EREAT

Ensuring the stability of product delivery
HRFEMXNRBENE

Protection of customer privacy

P ILBRE

Marketing compliance

BREH

Establishment of a responsible supply chain
BEBEANHERE
Performance of contracts according to the

law
BEBITER

Use of environmentally friendly and energy-
saving equipment

 FAIRIRENRE R B

Provision of job opportunities

ESE S Vs
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Stakeholders
BE HAtE

Expectations

Communications and feedbacks
BERKE

Shareholders/institutional and ~ Annual general meetings and notices

individual investors

BR BEREAKREE BRFAFARE MaH

Regular corporate publications (including

financial statements)

EHNRRTY (BREPB®REK)
Increase in transparency of corporate
development

B EERERE

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

In 2023, the Group conducted a comprehensive materiality
assessment, which involved group discussions, interviews and
questionnaire surveys with internal and external stakeholders to
identify the environmental, social and operational issues which have
the most significant impacts on the Company’s business and the

relevant issues which are of concern to the stakeholders.

With reference to the scope of disclosure as required under the ESG
Reporting Guide, as well as taking into consideration its business
features, the Group has identified and determined 24 issues covering
greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emission, energy consumption, employee
welfare, occupational health and safety, training and development,
supply chain management, customer privacy, anti-corruption, and
community investment and other aspects with respect to business

operation.
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Results announcements

g
Issue of circulars and announcements in due
course
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Relevant extent/materiality to stakeholders

Materiality of ESG Issues
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Environmental aspect

HEBOEBRE E21E

Social aspect

Relevant extent/materiality to the business

Operational aspect

RIREE s gEEE
1. GHG emission 9.  Occupational health and safety 17. Supply chain management
RSB BERERZD HEpER
2. Energy consumption and resource  10. Child labour 18. Supplier evaluation and selection
management ET HEREHRT S R
BB ERE N ERE IR 11. Forced and compulsory labor 19. Customer service satisfaction
3. Water management 5818 F58 H11 45 EERBHEE
IKERETE 12. Training and development 20. Customer privacy
4. Waste management B R ERE EPALE
REEY)E IR 13. Compensation and employee 21. Opinion and complaint
5. Use of packaging material benefit management
BEEER kB TR BERREFER
6. Impact on the environment 14. Diversify and equal opportunities  22. Product safety and quality
HIRBENTE ZlthFE#Rs management
7. Climate change 15. Talent attraction and retention EmZXrREEERE
RIREL S| R A 23. Protection of intellectual property
8.  Community contribution 16. Anti-corruption rights
/N B B R&ES IRAEABRERE
24. Marketing and labelling
EIHEIRR
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL

To fulfil its sustainability commitment and comply with the

requirements under the laws and regulations in respect of

environmental protection, the Group has been striving to reduce

the impact of its operating activities on the environment.

Al:

Emissions

The Group strives to minimise the environmental impact
of its mining activities, production activities and products.
Taizhou Mining is located in Tongguan County of Shaanxi
Province, the gold mineralisation and production region in
China. The business of the Group is governed under the
Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic
of China (/1 # A R £ 1 B 3% 55 R & )% ). Violation of
relevant environmental regulations may result in temporary

suspension of production.

The Group adheres to the principles of active participation
and environmental responsibility. The Group not only
performs its market duties, but also vigorously supports
green activities and actively implements effective policies
which are aimed at reducing emissions. The Group
will consider purchasing more environmentally friendly
machinery in case that the existing machinery is no longer

available.

During 2023, the Group has no emissions of hazardous
substances. No adverse comment or irregularity has been

reported from internal and external control sources.

The Group has also adopted a set of CO, emission
reduction management policy in order to save energy
resources, reduce energy waste and improve energy
efficiency. All the member companies of the Group strive to
form energy saving habits. The emission reduction policy
has stipulated certain guidelines, aiming to create better

and cleaner environment for society.
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Since the local legislation and standards for environmental
protection are constantly updated, the Group shall assess
whether these legislations and standards are relevant to
the businesses of the Group and the Group’s compliance
status. During 20283, the Group has complied with
environmental laws and regulations which were applicable
to the Group’s businesses. The Group will continue looking

for ways to reduce CO, emission and land pollution.

During 2023, pollution factors such as nitrogen oxide
(“NO,”), sulfur oxide (“80,”) and suspended particulate
matters (“PM”, also known as “Particles”) were mainly

generated from vehicles of the Company.

During the reporting period, air pollutant emissions were as

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RE - #HEBRERRS

HRMARRENRIZETEHE
.o BEEEeTEZEEOIRIZER
BE SEEZEBEBANL E5£E
MEMBR - RZTZ=FE " &%
MO ETEAR BREEBIREEL
BRER - BEEBEEESIORL
SACBRBE R £S5 2 T o

RZZE-=%FF  A%(®W(NO, ) -
et (so, ) R FR F([PM] -
MBI ERY ) S5 RAES Y EERE
NEER o

RIS - BRI T

follows:

Types of emission (Note 1) Unit 2023 2022
BemERE (it 1) B ZEIZFE CZECHEE
Nitrogen oxide (NO)) gramme 10,469 10,393
AEALHNO) 2

Sulfur oxide (SO,) gramme 182 172
FRat®(So) =

Suspended particulate matters (PM) gramme 751 747
SZRLT(PM) 7

Note: Hat

1. The emission factors used to calculate the NO,, SO_and PM
are sourced from: the Hong Kong Environmental Protection
Department’s EMFAC-HK Vehicle Emission Calculation
model and the United States Environmental Protection
Agency’s Vehicle Emission Modeling Software — MOBILE 6.1;
and the assumptions of 80% relative humidity, a temperature
of 25 degrees Celsius, an average speed of 30km/h, and
include running exhaust emissions only.
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Reduction target of air emissions BER BRI BB B #E

Air emissions Reduction target Baseline year  Status

R B R HEF AR EE

Nitrogen oxide (NO,) emission intensity Reduce 3% by 2024 2019 In progress

BATINO)BEREE MRZZE_MFERIMI3% —E-NFE ETHF

Sulphur oxide (SO,) emission intensity Reduce 3% by 2024 2019 In progress

BRSO HE R = MRZZE_MFERIMI3% —E-NFE ETHF

Particulate matters (PM) emission intensity Reduce 3% by 2024 2019 In progress

BFRFPMBE S MRZZE_MEFERIM 3% —E-NFE OETHF

The main sources of the Group’s GHG emissions are direct EEERERBINNEZRREARE

emission from the mobile combustion sources (“Scope WREERM BB ([ €E1]) - FrESE

1), indirect emission from acquired electricity emissions THE e e ([ E @2 ) & E

(“Scope 2”) and other indirect emissions (“Scope 3). P ([EE3]) -

In 2023, GHG emissions were as follows: RO -=FF  BEREHRT -

GHG emissions Unit 2023 2022

mERBHER B TEREIZEE CZEICHE

GHG emissions (Scope 1) (Note 1) kg of carbon dioxide equivalent 35,819 34,044
(*kgCO.e")

mERBIER(EEN) (et 1) N g

GHG emissions (Scope 2) kgCO,e 7,024,291 7,079,975

BERBBEER(EHE2) DT _E(tIREE

GHG emissions (Scope 3) kgCO,e 9,346 14,706

RERBBEER(EHES) N = g

Total GHG emissions kgCO,e 7,069,456 7,128,725

RERBBHNES ATFZ®REE

Total production tonne 116,686 78,022

FERS 7

GHG intensity kgCO,e/per tonne of product 61 91

RERERE Nt g

SIS

Note: Hiat -

1. The emissions related to electricity consumption were 1. BEREBEERERUAN_Z—NF
calculated on the basis of the emission factor of Northwest PR RS ERERERATEE
China Power Grid for 2019. Such figures have been £ o ZEH T RERIFERERE
calculated in accordance with the Reporting Guidance on EERIES| 5T E -

Environmental KPIs.
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Reduction target of GHG emissions BER BRI AR E
Environmental KPI Reduction target Baseline year Status
REBRENER R R HESF R R

GHG emission intensity (Scope 1) Reduce 3% by 2024 2019 In progress
BERBENEZE (HE1) MZZEZMEERIK 3% —E-NEFE ETH

GHG emission intensity (Scope 2) Reduce 3% by 2024 2019 In progress
BERBENEE(HE2) RZZ_MFERIMI3% —E-NFE ETT

GHG emission intensity (Scope 3) Reduce 3% by 2024 2019 In progress
mERBINEE (EBE3) MRZZE_MFERIMI3% —E-NFE ETHF
Environmental performance Unit 2023 2022
B RD B SRC=EE  CSCoEE
Extra trees planted Tree 8,000 16,000
FEHNBIE AR R

Carbon dioxide reduced kgCO,e 184,000 368,000
Frim 89 — |k ik NI 8y

In the year 2023, Taizhou Mining actively planted saplings in the nearby mountain areas, including locust trees, poplar
trees, oil pine trees, Pinus armandii and cypress trees, which are suitable for planting in the Qinling region.
RIZTZ=FF - KMNBEXBERENLILRBESS - TEmEaEes 56 Jhike -

LA RinEE e ERE LR BENSEE

Scope 1: represents diesel and gasoline consumed by motor #HET: TERABFERENSR LA
vehicles.

Scope 2: represents electricity purchased from electricity #HE2: TEEATFRENHEREENE
suppliers. e

Scope 3: represents scrap papers, water consumed and indirect EES : TEIEHFENREER  FAKLRESE
emissions of employees traveling by air. MATRE SN B RO R HERR o
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Waste micro dust management

The Group blasts, stacks and loads and unloads ore during
the production process which will produce micro dust.
Therefore, the Group uses wet drilling method, ventilation
machines and rock-surface cleaning regularly to control the
micro dust emissions and avoid the adverse effect on the

environment.

The micro dust may also be generated from the ore
crushing and ore screening system. In order to control
emissions of micro dust, the Group uses an automatic
feeding system and wet ore brokering method to reduce
the emissions of micro dust. The crushing and screening
equipment is located in a fully enclosed workshop and ore
storage yard is covered with a dense mesh as micro dust

suppression methods.

Wastewater management

Wastewater (containing mainly suspended solid from
ore processing) may be produced during the production
process and thus the Group has built a wastewater
treatment facility at the tailing pond to collect wastewater
through dedicated pipelines of wastewater produced at
the two ore processing plants. Following sedimentation
at the wastewater treatment facility, the wastewater can
reach the relevant discharge standards. However, to
reduce substantially water consumption and thus improve
resource conservation, the Group recycles and reuses
all its treated wastewater back to its processing plants
without any direct discharge to the environment, either
from the processing plants or tailing pond under the normal

operating conditions.
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The Group also has one wastewater collection sump at
each of its two operating processing plants for accidental
discharges in case of any accident at the plants which
may result in release of wastewater. According to the
environmental protection requirements promulgated by
local government, the Group has built a sedimentation
tank with capacity of 100 m? at the pithead of wastewater
collection sump. The proper collection, treatment and
recycling and reuse of wastewater in the Group help
protect natural receiving water bodies and ecological

environment in the surrounding areas.

The Group has invested much production cost for
wastewater control and recycling to meet the Integrated
Wastewater Discharge Standards (35 7K 47 & HE 2 %),
The wastewater only contains a small amount of harmful
substances and it is in line with Integrated Wastewater

Discharge Standards.

Non-hazardous waste management

The mine has been in continuous production for many
years. Waste mining rocks are generated during the
production process. The waste mining rock of the Group
was used for road paving and underground filling of mines
after being crushed. The remaining waste was stockpiled in
special waste rock plants. Some of the mineral processing
tailings were transported for underground filing of mines
after being classified and disposed. The waste rock yard
set up retaining walls as required to intercept drainage

facilities to prevent soil erosion and mudslides.

The Group has not generated hazardous waste during its
production process. The non-hazardous waste is mainly
waste mining rock. The Group also transports domestic

waste to designated garbage collection station.
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In 2023, the quantity of hazardous and non-hazardous RIZT_=5F  AEEEVMRESE
wastes generated were as follows: BEYELSBNT

Hazardous and non-hazardous

wastes generated Unit 2023 2022

FEEEEBRENREEREY By TEREIZEE CZEDCZHE

Total quantity of hazardous wastes (Note 7) tonne N/A N/A

BEREEMBRE(H71) ] ANiE R N3

Intensity of hazardous wastes (Note 1) tonne/per tonne of product N/A N/A

BEREEWTE M) WE, G ME B (L T E iE

Total quantity of non-hazardous wastes tonne 18,277 17,948

BEERVAE i

Intensity of non-hazardous wastes tonne/per tonne of product 0.16 0.23

BERZEYTE g, A B i B

Note: Hist

1. Hazardous wastes generated from gold mining and 1. EZeFARLBREBHBEEEEYE
exploration business are relatively small. As such, the Group EERD Al ESEVES/LE
does not quantify the relevant figures. AET -

Reduction target of waste BEEY R

Environmental KPI Reduction target Baseline year  Status

REBRENER REER R HAESF AR EE

Intensity of hazardous waste N/A N/A N/A

BEREYTE A5 ANiE A AN iE A

Intensity of non-hazardous waste Reduce 3% by 2024 2019 In progress

BEEENTE RZZE_MFERIMI3% —E-NEFE ETTF

Noise management BEE®E

The Group makes noise primarily when operating air EEENBRITERBLEEBREPR

pumps, blowers, ball mills, crushers, belts and vibratory R - SR - DREHK - B B

screens during production. The Group controls noise EHEHEE o BEEERAEEER

by applying noise-abatement equipment, basic vibration B ERRERE  RERERKERE

reduction methods, vibration-absorptive and soundproofing NRE R BRI R R EITIER - %5

rooms and rubber lining. The positions of these noise REEARFENOMLENTEEERMNAE

generation equipment are also in compliance with the EYRTEEBEEBENREARE

applicable standards for buffer distances to sensitive HmBERETE -

receptors, such as residences and villages, and thus

minimising the impacts.
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The Group also makes noise in the process of blasting. The
Group considered noise pollution issues when choosing
the mining area, so the Group chose the mining area which
is far away from the residential areas. The Group strictly
follows Emission Standard for the Noise at the Boundaries
of Industrial Enterprises (T 27> ¥ i SR A HZ /E),

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

In 2023, the Group was not aware of air and GHG
emissions, discharges into water source and land, or
generated wastes which have a significant impact on the
environment. The Group was not aware of any material
violation of laws and regulations. The Group strictly
complied with laws and regulations relating to emissions,
such as the Environmental Protection Law of the People’s
Republic of China (1 2 A R M EIIR R (R &%), the Law
on the Prevention and Control of Water Pollution of the
People’s Republic of China (P2 A R & FIEIKI5 B8 05)
and the Law on the Prevention and Control of Solid Waste
Pollution of the People’s Republic of China (1% A F& 41
B [#] 88 & Y1 3R 35 B )R V). Furthermore, no significant fine
or nonmonetary sanction for non-compliance with relevant

laws and regulations was imposed on the Group in 2023.

Use of resources

Electricity, water and fossil fuel consumption

The Group utilises resources effectively and initiatively takes
its responsibilities to achieve sustainable development.
The Group encourages its employees to develop
environmentally responsible habits, control and reduce

consumption, minimise waste and recycle useful materials.

The use of electricity, water and fossil fuel may have effect
on the environment. When the Group conducts gold mining
business or operates its offices, it exerts an impact on the
environment through the consumption of electricity, water
and fossil fuel. Nevertheless, the Group has always tried its

best to reduce its energy consumption.
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The Group used 439 tonnes (2022: 291 tonnes) explosive
for mining gold mineral, and the production volume was
116,866 tonnes in 2023 (2022: 78,022 tonnes).

In October 2020, the Group reconstructed the high voltage
lines in its mining area and replaced equipment and lines,

in order to improve production capacity of the mining area

BERE(EA4B(ZZE - _FF - 291
WE) BRI SEY - ER-T==F
EHESA116,860M( T - —F% :
78,022M8) °

BEEERN T _TF T ARKYRRN
SERGEETHE N E IR AR -
AR THHE R B A E B h KR BRIE AR BE 1R

and reduce its line loss. The relevant projects have been IR ER =2 immﬁil
completed and put into use in 2021. In 20283, the relevant FEXEAGR RZTZ=FF -
projects have saved the Group’s electricity consumption BB EREKNIERA - Emllﬁ F&ﬂl
by approximately 787,300 kWh despite the substantial EEaE 787,300 F KA AEE -

increase in production throughput of the mining area.

The Group has no problem in accessing to appropriate

B EEEERE BRI ERE -

water source. The existing supply of water source can BANKREEEKE - KEREKEE
satisfy the Group’s needs in the aspects of volume and f%?éﬁ@i’ﬂﬁﬁﬁii EEBHF K - R
quality of water and guarantee of water supply facilities. In T -FE . BESECDERGES
Year 2023, the Group has implemented measures on water IKBERE - THEREKEIRMASEIE -

conservation and consumption reduction and recycling of

industrial waste water.

The Group not only strictly observes the Energy EEBTERBET(REARKLNR
Conservation Law of the People’s Republic of China EARERE) BB E IIEPESRE
(h#E AR A1 E &0 49 82 R %), but also encourages its BENER - BRERNEE - ARE

employees to develop resource saving and recycling
habits in daily practices. To protect natural resources and
increase operation efficiency, the Group closely monitors
the use of resources with a view to ensuring full utilisation of
resources and preventing wastage. Each department of the
Group regularly reports on its use of resources and takes

corrective actions for issues arisen in a timely manner.
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R-ZF - =FREFSHAR SR FR

gold mining business: B ERESIRAT ¢

Environmental performance Unit 2023 2022
RIERXRE By —E-=FE CZ—E--FE
Electricity consumption kWh 7,873,000 7,936,031
N TRB

Fuel consumption (Note 1) kWh 787,136 373,177
REDERE(HYaE1) F B

Total energy consumption kWh 8,660,136 8,309,208
BEREHEE F LB

Energy consumption intensity kWh/per tonne of product 74 106
LR E TEE,SHEENER

Water consumption m? 10,533 17,875
FEKE SR

Water consumption intensity m?3/per tonne of product 0.09 0.23
FKZE SR, GWEBE A EE

Total packaging material used kg N/A N/A
BEES NI NE ANiE
Intensity of packaging material used kg/tonne N/A N/A
BENEE Nyl i A A5 A
Note: Kat -

1. The conversion factors used to calculate the units to kWh
are sourced from the Energy Statistics Manual issued by the

International Energy Agency.

1. ARFGETRREBEMMHERRERE
RRERE TIBRCRERATET T ©

Reduction target of resources consumption BREAWEHEE
Environmental KPI Reduction target Baseline year Status
RIRRARERER HHEE B AREE
Energy consumption intensity Reduce 3% by 2024 2019 In progress
RERHRERE R-ZT - NEE AR 3% —T-NFE OETHR
Water consumption intensity Reduce 3% by 2024 2019 In progress
FREE RZTZMFEARL3% —E-NFE O ETHR
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A4:

Environment and natural resources

Measures to reduce environmental impact

As gold mining operators, the Group inevitably needs to
extract natural resources from Taizhou Mining, thereby
causing change to the ecological environment to a certain
extent. The ecological impacts were mainly as a result
of land occupation. As Group’s mining and exploration
activities are conducted in tunnels, impact on the land and
forestation is limited to relatively small areas immediately
surrounding the tunnel exits. The extent of the Group in
extraction operation at Taizhou Mining is performed in line
with market demand and the Group has not engaged in
any unnecessary exploitation and production activities.
The Company complies with the policies under national
laws and regulations, and the Group adopts standard
production methods and technology. The Company has
taken measures, such as water and soil conservation,
mining area plantation, etc., to reduce the impact on the

natural environment.

Efficiency and environmental protection are significant
concerns and difficult long-term tasks for the Group and
the society as a whole. The Group strictly monitors and
reviews relevant data from time to time, so as to minimise
the negative effect on the environment and, at the same

time, maximise its business development and operation.

Climate change

Awareness over climate change continues to grow and
climate change is one of the most discussed topics among
companies. The Group is no exception in increasing its
awareness over the potential impact of climate change
on the Group’s business and operation. The Group
regularly reviews global and local government policies,
regulatory updates and market trends to identify potential
climate- related risks that may affect the Group’s business

operations.
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In accordance to the reporting framework developed by the
Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures, there
are two major categories of climate-related risks, being the
physical risks and transition risks. The Group will develop a
response plan immediately such as changing the business
strategy and modifying the development plan in order to

reduce the negative impacts of such climate-related risks.

The Group will continuously incorporate sustainable
practices in its business operations and prepare and
maintain sufficient resources for managing identified
climate-related risks and studying the potential remediation

measures.

In 2023, there was no climate-related risk, including
physical risks and transition risks, that had a significant

impact on the Group.

B. SOCIAL
B1: Employment
Labour practices

The Group has formulated good workplace practices for
all the employees, regardless of their age, gender, race,
colour, sexual orientation, disability or marital status, to
prevent discrimination and promote equal opportunities and
therefore increase job satisfaction among the employees.
The Group endeavours to provide a good working
environment for its employees because it regards every

single employee member as a valuable asset of the Group.

The Group guarantees the rights and interests of
employees relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, rest periods, equal opportunity,
diversity, antidiscrimination and other benefits and welfares.
The Group clearly explains in detail the rights enjoyed by its

employees with regard to their employment.
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The Group carries out an annual review of employment BEREHERECETFESN - B8R
policy to ensure the balance between employee & B H e 2 I R o A T - (B
remuneration and business growth, so that it can benefit BN EXEMNER -

the development of the Group.

Anti-discrimination and equal opportunity REBERFEHE

The Group strives to diversify employees in terms of EEBENFREREUENRFRZ T
gender and age, so as to realise balance in culture NEREEEXIER KA EERY

and communication among employees. The Group
is committed to providing a working environment free
from discrimination and with equal opportunities for all
its employees, regardless of age, gender, race, colour,

sexual orientation, disability or marital status. The Group

- BEEERINRMAERERM—

EEEAE N FSREN TIERE - T
HER - MH - Bk - E6 - HEE -
BRI o SEZESETS
TE - BB RIS ) - KT F

encourages labour diversity and welcomes labour from all BRAINHEE R-_T_=ZFEF &
areas, thus putting the principle of fairess into practice. SE EERSE AT ETEFERE
The Group has not reported incidents of non-compliance BB ©

with employment-related regulations in 2023.

The Group has strictly implemented recruitment procedures EEEEENTRERT - mANpal
to select and attract outstanding talents for the Group Eﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁi*%i%%@gﬁﬂ&ﬂ&@ﬁ%m

through external recruitment and internal training. In 2023, AT -RZEZ=FF - EHEERM
the proportions of employees (excluding independent non- Bl - FheAER - ﬁﬁ%’%ﬂ&ﬁﬁﬁ@ﬂéiﬂ
executive directors) of the Group by gender, age band, D2 BREBK T BIEB I IEMITES)
nature of employment and geographical region are as wm

follows:

Social Performance Unit 2023 2022

HERE B ZR-=FE CZB--HFE

By gender

g edaE o

Male Person 42 (82%) 47 (81%)
B A

Female Person 9 (18%) 1 (19%)
g A

Total Person 1 (100%) 58 (100%)
et A
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Social Performance Unit 2023 2022
HERR B ZR-=FE CZB--HFE
By age group

BRERARE S

Age below 30 Person 5(12%) 4 (7%)
30BE AT A

Aged 30 to 50 Person 13 (23%) 17 (29%)
30E507% A

Aged 50 above Person 33 (65%) 37 (64%)
5088 AL A

Total Person 51 (100%) 58 (100%)
et A

By employment type

RERERE S

Full-time Person 51 (100%) 58 (100%)
28 A

Total Person 51 (100%) 58 (100%)
et A

By geographical region

R EEEE S

Hong Kong Person 7 (14%) 7 (12%)
& A

China Person 44 (86%) 51 (88%)
as A

Total Person 51 (100%) 58 (100%)
st A
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In 2023, the employee turnover rates of the Group were as

follows:

RIZTE-=FF BSE£EEHNEBERX
T

2023 2022
ZEC=HE CZBCCHE

By gender (Note 1) BMERIEI D (1)
Male B

Female gk

By age group (Note 1) REWRMABIEI D (M)
Age below 30 307 A T

Aged 30 to 50 30E507%

Aged 50 above 5055 A £

By geographical region (Note 1) R EE| D (1)
Hong Kong BHA

China s

Note:

1. The turnover rate is calculated by dividing the number of
departed employees in a specified category during the
relevant financial year by the number of employees in such
specified category at the end of the financial year.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

In 2028, the Group was not aware of any material
noncompliance with the relevant laws and regulations
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,
diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare
that have significant impact. The Group strictly complied
with local laws and regulations relating to employment,
such as the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China
and the Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of
China, the Regulations on Enterprise Wage Payment of
Shaanxi Province. In addition, there was no significant fine
or sanction as a result of non-compliance with relevant

laws and regulations during 2023.
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B2: Health and safety

Workplace health and safety

It is critical for the Group to protect its employees’
occupational health and safety. The Group respects
occupational safety and health and other applicable
regulations for a safe and comfortable working environment
that protects employees from occupational hazards.

The Group always treats employees’ health and safety
as its priority for production. Every worker is required to
follow safety instructions and attend safety training on using
equipment or plant. Safety monitoring mechanism has been
established and employees have been assigned to monitor
the compliance with safety rules at each production stage.

The Group has equipped its factory and head office with
all the required safety equipment and facilities, and has
passed all the governmental safety inspections.

mensmwn il @ szowvzaRiE
Tl 44 R AT 35 (LEC)

R — PR 0 4T i PR A A ) 5 PLF I D S ER HE o (E  B  R B A 0 R MR
TR R LR N S E R L BT R A R TR
EEREEANE: - HEBRTELLD, E- AGBRTARTFRNHENEE. C-—8B
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Method of Risk Assessment for
Operation Conditions in Mines

LR RS e B

Procedures on Accident Prevention, Safety Risk
Classification and the Screening, Identification and
Control of Accident Hazards in Mines
RELEEWRTE - Z2REBR SRR
FHEBHERERF

ECOVID-19% 1581 - BEXEIETE

ERREE THREMENL - BS
lﬁ&ﬁéﬁhﬁmmﬁémﬁﬁW%
HlfENE - ATIEABRETBNER
EARERE - WEATRERENEE TIE
e EAIE R THEZCHE ©

The Group has been very conscious in protecting the
health and well-being of its staff during the COVID-19
epidemic. The Group has keen on full compliance with
the government control measures both in the Mainland
and Hong Kong. Staff has been supplied with necessary
personal protective equipment and to the extent possible
adopted flexible work hours and home office arrangement.
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The Group uses explosives for mining gold and strictly
follows rules and regulations on using explosives which
are consistent with the standards in the PRC. There are
dedicated, exclusive and isolated bunkers designed in
accordance with the required standards and approved by
safety authority and the local public security authority which
controls the supplies. Detonators and explosives are stored
in two separate bunkers with a safe distance to each other.
The yard to these bunkers is secured with high walls,
metal gate, and 24-hour video cameras. Both bunkers
are well secured with two locks, with keys kept by two
separate staff (one management personnel and one safety
personnel). Only when both individuals (key keepers) are
present at the same time, all the locks can be unlocked to
access detonators and/or explosives. The storage facilities
are regularly inspected by the management and the safety
and public security authorities to ensure compliance at
all time. After the use of explosives, the Group will use
detection equipment to measure the residue in the air.

Employees cannot be arranged to enter into the gold mine

until the air meets the standards.

Safety facility outside warehouse storing detonators

FEBEEIMNN R 2R
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During the reporting period, the numbers of lost days due ATREEIRE - KMNMBEEETGIEATE
to work-related injury in Taizhou Mining were as follows: HEAT -
2023 2022 2021

—E=FE —ECCEE —EC-FE
Number of work-related fatalities AT AL - - -

Number of work-related injuries TEAE - - -
Lost days due to work-related ETBEATIE
injuries HE - - -

Lost day rate BREE X - - -

In the past three years, no employees of the Group were RBE=F  BESXEVTEEEFSLE

involved in work-related fatalities. THTEMR -

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations BFERLEER

The Group follows the laws and regulations on ensuring BEREETRERLESIRREIRLE2H

workplace health and safety, which mainly include: EEER  MEEEEREERRE

e Production Safety Law of the People’s Republic of o (HREAREMBELZEEEZE)
China

e Mine Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China o (HEAREMBEBRLEZEE)

e Emergency Response Law of the People’s Republic o (HhEARLMBARFEEHELEE)
of China

e Law of the People’s Republic of China on the o (FREARKEMBIBEREE)
Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases

e Special Equipment Safety Law of the People’s o (FREAREMBFEZMELEE)

Republic of China

e Safety Requirements on Explosive Hazardous Area o (BIEERBELEHET)
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B3:

No significant fine or sanction for non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations was imposed on the Group
during 20283. Moreover, the Group has maintained accident
insurance for its employees. The Group has taken all
reasonable measures to improve the working environment
and to create a safe and comfortable workplace for
employees. The management has improved the safety
standard of workplace, and has provided mandatory

training for all its employees.

Development and training

Employee development and training

Continuous staff training plays a fundamental role in
business growth. The Group encourages employees to
engage in continuous development and to improve their
skills through training. The Group understands that training
is the most sustainable way for long-term development,

which is beneficial for both the Group and its employees.

The Group provides training for its directors regarding the
Group’s development and essential skills and regulatory
compliance training, enabling them to have a better
understanding of development potential of the Group and

direction to enhance their management skills.

The Group provides various internal trainings for developing
the workforce, including orientation and on-board
trainings for new employees to enable them to adapt to
the operation of the Group efficiently and strengthen their
skills and knowledge required for work. It is important for
employees to perform tasks safely, follow safety working
procedures and operate machines and equipment

cautiously.
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In 2023, the employee training rates of the Group were as RZZE-=FE  BEEEMNEEXT
follows: te&Em -

2023 2022

Percentage of employees trained ZH{EETDLL(H171)
(Note 1) 84% 90%

Percentage of employees trained ZH4tRIESNZIEEET DL

by gender (Note 2) (Kit2)
Male B 86% 88%
Female gl 14% 12%

Percentage of employees trained R{EBEREINZIHEET DL
by employment category (Note 2)  (fi2)

Senior management mAREIEE 26% 19%
Middle management HREIRE 23% 25%
General staff —MRIEE 51% 56%
Notes: et -
1. Calculated by dividing the number of employees trained by 1. EBZINEEASBRURZMEFER
the total number of employees at the end of the financial HEEBAE -
year.
2. Calculated by dividing the number of employees trained in 2. BZEMNZIEEABRIUZIIEE
such category by the total number of employees trained. BAEE -
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In 2023, the average training hours of the Group’s RZBEZ=FE  BESEMNEEZT
employees were as follows: HEHIEENT
2023 2022

ZEC=HE CZBCCHE

Average training hours completed SZEEXHKZ TR (F1)
per employee (Note 1) 7.0 7.0

Average training hours completed ZtRIEoNEZEETKZII

per employee by gender (Note 2)  ERE&(f1572)
Male Eelia 7.2 7.6
Female 7t 6.0 2.7

Average training hours completed Z{EEERIE P NS EREEZTRZI

per employee by employment FIFE(H72)
category (Note 2)
Senior management BREERE 3.8 5.0
Middle management RARERE 7.4 5.4
General staff —RIEE 8.5 8.4
Notes: Hat -
1. Calculated by dividing the total training hours by the total 1. RIFIBRHERUNZMIEFERERD
number of employees at the end of the financial year. EEBAH -
2. Calculated by dividing the total training hours in a category 2. RZFERIFIERERAZERES
by the total number of employees in such category. BAEL -
The Group evaluates the training programs from time to B EE NI ETIRE I TSI
time and reviews the effectiveness of training. The Group R BEBRNINREAEENIFHKE
makes effort to improve employees’ knowledge and skills FRELAER TIEREMRETT ©
for discharging duties at work.
Moreover, the Group encourages mutual communication gboh - EEEHBEEEREESHE
between management and employees. The Group respects Rime EBEXEEBEEVHLMEEMNER
and cares about employees’ opinions and suggestions. REg# - AR EXEERFRN2ERE
Meanwhile, the Group releases the latest corporate news B R ETH A RIBHAE o

to all employees in a timely manner.
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B4: Labour standards

Child labour and forced labour

Any individual below legal working age and without any
identification documents is unqualified for employment.
It is the Group’s policy to disqualify the person from
employment if he/she is found to be hired against the

requirements of the Labour Contract Law.

The Group makes good use of its Human Resource
Department to ensure compliance with laws and
regulations. The Human Resource Department takes
the responsibilities to review and confirm employment
practices to avoid child labour and forced labour. In case
that any unlawful labour was identified, the Group would
immediately terminate the employment relationship with
the relevant employee and hold the person-in-charge

accountable.
Compliance with relevant laws and regulations
The Group followed the laws and regulations on prohibiting

child labour and forced labour, which mainly include:

° Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong Special

Administrative Region

e Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China

o Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of
China

o Law of the People’s Republic of China on Protection

of Minors

e Regulations on Prohibiting Use of Child Labour (State
Council Order No. 364)

In 2023, there was no violation of laws and regulations on

employment age or any labour dispute arose within the

Group.
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B5: Supply chain management B5 : {HtIESEEE
Supplier management HEFEE

The Group aims to provide comprehensive solutions that
meet customers’ needs and establish a comprehensive
vertical supply chain management system through resource

integration and supplier screening and management.

The objectives of the Group are to deepen the collaborative
relationship with its strategic suppliers and to create
competitive advantages in the value chain, and thus to
enhance the impact on the society and environment and to
ensure that its suppliers uphold similar stance in sustainable
development. The Group maintains long-term relationship

with its suppliers to ensure stable supply.

In 2023, the Group purchases explosive substances
from local reputable suppliers according to government
regulations. The Group does not foresee its source of
supplies would have effect on the operation of local

factories.

As at the end of 2023, the number of major suppliers by

geographical region was as follows:

BREEEREZENERTRANE
EPFNRE  WEBERES RHER
BENEREY -ERXENEEMHRER
EIRERM

BEEENE R AR ERRHERA
BFEBRLEZYNEERTOEFE
g EMREALEE RREXE N RRE
HIER R Al F5 A 3 R 77 E RAF AL
5. BREEAHERRERABE
PACRFBIRTEHIE -

TR =FE - EEERBEAR
BRERINAHHENEESED
g BEREBEREHERIRS TR
BN THAEE o

moA R

&

BE_T_=6EK REESHE
BHEFHENT -

2023 2022
—EC=EE —ECEE
Mainland China AR A i, 7 7
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B6: Product responsibility

Product safety and quality

The Group has formulated customary practices to ensure
that its customers are well aware of the quality and gold
content of mineral concentrates being purchased. A sample
test would be conducted by an independent lab on each
shipment of mineral concentrates under the supervision of
representatives of the Group and its customer. The Group
strives to provide its customers with quality products to
establish good credibility and reputation. The Group has
complied with relevant requirements in the Product Quality

Law of the People’s Republic of China.

Product return policy

In 2023, there were no product sold or shipped subject to
recalls for safety and health reasons in the Group and there
were no cases of complaints received against the quality of

the Group’s products.

Customer feedback and handling

The Group welcomes comments and suggestions from the
customers. The Group provides a variety of communication
channels, for instance, social media and emails. Regular
communication channels and feedback systems are in
place to gather information on satisfaction and suggestions

for improvement from the customers.

The Group consolidated and comprehensively analysed
the customers’ feedback and monitor the level of customer
satisfaction in its business. Follow-up actions, including
internal evaluation and modification of training programs for
employees, formulation of improvement plan and refining
the existing management procedures will be taken to
address the identified issues. Feedback will be provided to

the customers in a timely manner.
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B7:

Data privacy

The Group keeps business information and customers’ data
confidential in order to protect consumer data and privacy.
The Group will destroy relevant information in due time. The
Group has set up strict code of conduct requirements for
their employees. In addition, the employees are required
to maintain all reasonable methods to safeguard the
information of the Group and the customers as stated in

the Staff Handbook and working practices.

Protection of intellectual property rights

The Group is committed to complying with relevant laws
and regulations in relation to intellectual property rights by
valuing and protecting its intellectual properties through
renewals of patent and trademark. The Group enters
into standard employment contracts with its employees
which contain provisions on intellectual property rights and

confidentiality

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

The directors believe that the Group has complied with
relevant laws and regulations related to the products of the
Group, such as the Product Quality Law of the People’s
Republic of China (% AR H MBI EmE 8%). In 2023,
the Group did not have any product returned due to
safety or health problems or any complaint received from
customers or any significant fine resulted from violation of

regulations.

Anti-corruption

Anti-corruption and money laundering

The Group’s operation strictly complies with local and
national legislations, such as the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance of Hong Kong and relevant legislation on

anticorruption of Mainland China.
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The Group is well aware of the importance of honesty, BERERAHE  HERATFHELE
integrity and fairness to its operation and has formulated E’\JEE%EE SIEREFHEE - B
its anti-corruption policy. The Group has reminded its FEMXH(WMEIFM)H - %77/7\
employees at all levels many times of anti-corruption, giving TE@E BEBFIERES HLTHER
and taking of interests in meetings and documents such as Flzx o EE WA BITBER AR
staff handbooks. Staff are required to declare any conflicts e o

of interests when performing their duties.

Through the establishment of relevant rules and regulations, EEEEBEITERBARRRE - S
the Group encourages all the employees to discharge their PRESNEMEITES 2 BELEST
duties with integrity and in compliance with the relevant HEERRER - BEEB2ENRS
laws and regulations. Transactions in monetary sums are TERAKHEERREZEENR SR
processed through cash and bank transactions which BITRZH#ET - BEEEWED KK
require authorised signatures with appropriate levels. The 5 BURSERITERFI I ERR N B B
Group did not involve in money laundry and there was ST o

no enquiry or concern from the government or banking

department.

The Group has provided anti-corruption education and RZZEZ=FF ESBEEREE=S
training for its directors and staff in 2023 to raise their KiEERMHE T RESHE RIEI - AR
awareness and concern towards ethical and corruption SFEHEENEMEENRN LA
issues. pa

In 2023, the Group did not record any bribery or corruption RZZE-=ZFF - EE£BEWERSH
charge. BRSEITIRIE ©

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations BTHEELELR

In 20283, neither the Group nor any of its employees was RZBEZ=FE  BESEIEREREH
found involved in any legal proceedings relating to bribery, MEIRES M - 81 - HEFIUL
extortion, fraud or money laundering, or has recorded any BEEMRERRG - NI BEEMHER
bribery or corruption charge. The Group strictly complied gESEE - BSREESELE
with the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance, the Anti-unfair FEERIEDI) - (FREARKEMBIRTIEE
Competition Law of the People’s Republic of China and FEEREMRESH BT AR
other local laws and regulations relating to anti-corruption. VAR o
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*

sustainable development strategy. The Group fully
supports community welfare and particularly focuses
on underprivileged community to enhance its efficiency
of community involvement. In 2023, the Group carried
out several social public welfare undertakings, including
participating in the 2022 Charity Fundraising for Rural
Revitalization organized by the Tongguan County Charity
Association in July 2022 and donate cash and COVID-19
control materials and equipment to the local community
during the peak of pandemic.

B8: Community investment B8 : HHE®E
Community involvement HEZEH
Giving back to society is a component of the Group’s Bt EEENIHERREEEN

HkE D - ESBEZEIEHER
- WHFRIRF IS E M B LAR ST ES
HRR PR _T_=FF BEEZ
HTZEMER TR BELHERE
HEREEHEN T - —F+tARNEN
[2022B) bt iR BlZa = 18 5 8 | -
WEREREHHERE T RERRS
AMCOVID-19P7 6 W& K&t - NI
i ARATEE » [A) & Hb At [ 18 B SR IE AN
P& R -

The Group values the importance of and the need for
community investment, and actively explores the activities
and manner for the Group to engage in community. The
Group maintains daily contact with community officials and
leaders to ensure the effectiveness and feasibility of its
involvement in the community. One remarkable move is
that most employees working in the mining area were hired
by the Group from the nearby villages, which was highly
recognised and appreciated by the local community. The
Group is committed to developing more community
investment opportunities in its development plans and
incorporating them into development plans to give back to

the local community.

For identification purposes only
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company strives to attain and maintain the highest standard
of corporate governance as it believes that effective corporate
governance practices are fundamental to enhancing shareholder

value and safeguarding shareholder interests.

The principles of corporate governance adopted by the Group
emphasize a quality board, sound internal control, and transparency

and accountability to all its shareholders.

The Company has adopted the code provisions (the “Code
Provision(s)”) set out in the Corporate Governance Code and
Corporate Governance Report (the “Code”) set out in Appendix 15 to
the GEM Listing Rules and the Company had complied with all Code
Provisions as set out in the Code in the Year, except for the following

deviation:

Code Provision A.2.1

Code Provision A.2.1 of the Code stipulates that the roles of the
chairman and the chief executive should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual. During the Year, the role of the
chairman of the Company is performed by Dr. Li, while the office of
the chief executive is vacated following the retirement of Mr. Feng Jun
on 11 September 2017. The Board will keep reviewing the current
structure of the Board from time to time and should candidate with
suitable knowledge, skill and experience be identified, the Company
will make appointment to fill the post of the chief executive as

appropriate.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding the
securities transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than
the Required Standard of Dealings. Having made specific enquiries of
all Directors, all Directors confirmed that they had complied with the
Required Standard of Dealings and the code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by Directors adopted by the Company during

the Year.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Eva Lee, a practising solicitor in Hong Kong, was appointed as
the Company Secretary on 20 February 2020 and responsible for
advising the Board on corporate governance matters and ensuring
that the Board policy and procedures, and the applicable laws,
rules and regulations are followed. All Directors have access to the
advice and services of the Company Secretary to ensure that the
Board procedures and all applicable laws are followed. Moreover,
the Company Secretary is responsible for facilitating communications

among Directors as well as with senior management.

During the Year, the Company Secretary had undertaken more than
15 hours of relevant professional training in compliance with Rule 5.15
of the GEM Listing Rules.

BOARD OF DIRECTOR

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Group, overseeing the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions
and performance, evaluating the performance of the Group and
supervising the management. In addition, the Board reserves the
authority to make final decisions for all major matters of the Company,
including approving and monitoring of budgets, dividend payout,
material transaction, preparation and release of financial information,
appointment of Directors. The Board is also responsible for
performing the corporate governance duties set out in Code Provision
D.3.1 of the Code.

The Board had reviewed the compliance of Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of
the GEM Listing Rules and disclosure in this Corporate Governance
Report including the board diversity policy and effectiveness of the
internal control systems. In order to enhance efficiency, the Board
has delegated the day-to-day responsibilities and operations to the
executive Directors and senior management who perform their duties

under the leadership of the chairman of the Company.
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BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board comprises five Directors, including two executive Directors

and three independent non-executive Directors.

Details of their composition by category are as follows:

Executive Directors
Dr. Li Dahong (Chairman)

Ms. Ma Xiaona

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Guo Wei

Mr. Lam Albert Man Sum

Mr. Cheung Wai Hung

With the various experience of the executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors (the “INEDs”) and having regard
to the nature of the Group’s business, the Company recognises
the benefits of having a Board with well-balanced experience and
qualifications to maintain a sustainable business development of the
Group in the long run. In recognition of the Company’s commitment
to a well-balanced Board, the nomination committee is entrusted
to review the Company’s human resources policy and recruitment

process to ensure the effectiveness of such policy.
Details of Directors and relationship between the board members are

set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and

Senior Management” on page 14 of this report.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY
Pursuant to the Code, the Board has adopted a board diversity

policy. The Company believes that board diversity is a key element
for the Company to maintain sound corporate governance, realize
sustainable development and achieve strategic objectives. The
Company believes that board diversity enhances decision-making
capability and a diverse board is more effective in dealing with
organizational changes. The Company considers that the concept
of diversity incorporates a number of different aspects, such as
professional experience, business perspectives, skills, knowledge,
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity and
length of service. For the purpose of implementation of the board

diversity policy, the following objectives were adopted:

Independence: The Board should include a balanced composition of
executive and independent non-executive Directors so that there is a
strong element of independence in the Board. The independent non-
executive Directors shall be of sufficient caliber and stature for their

views to carry weight.

Gender: The Company is committed to maintaining an environment of
respect for people regardless of their gender in all business dealings
and achieving a workplace environment free of harassment and
discrimination on the basis of gender, physical or mental state, race,
nationality, religion, age or family status. The same principle is applied
to the selection of potential candidates for appointment to the Board.

During the Year, the Board had one female executive Director.

Nationality and ethnicity: To cope with the diversified portfolio of the
Company’s businesses, the Company aspires to having a board
of directors of different nationality or ethnic backgrounds who can
contribute their knowledge and understanding of the environment in

which the Company operates its business.
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Skills and experience: The Board possesses a balance of skills
appropriate for the requirements of the business of the Company.
The Directors have a mix of finance, academic and management
backgrounds that taken together provide the Company with

considerable experience in a range of activities.

Apart from the above objectives, the board diversity policy has the
following measurable objectives to comply with the GEM Listing

Rules:

1. at least one third of the members of the Board shall be

independent non-executive Directors;

2. at least three of the members of the Board shall be independent

non-executive Directors; and

3. at least one of the members of the Board shall have obtained
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related

financial management expertise.

The implementation and effectiveness of the policy on board diversity
is reviewed annually by the Board. The Company has achieved the
measurable objectives under board diversity policy as at 31 March
2023.
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DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS ESHFEER
During the Year, 12 Board meetings and one general meeting were REFDBTI2REZEERER —RBREAE -

held. Set out below are the attendance records of all the Directors EREENAFERITZARTNESSZH
at the Company’s board meetings, board committee meetings and EZEgERRREARE 2L EEHEEHI AT

general meetings held during the Year:

Audit Remuneration Nomination

Board Committee = Committee = Committee General
Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
ENEEE HFMEREE REZET
Exgel = = 2% [ E VN
Number of meetings attended/Number of meetings
entitled to attend

HEEERE ARHFERRY

Executive Directors: HITES .
Dr. Li Dahong FTREAET 12/12 - - - 11
Ms. Ma Xiaona BEMZ Lt 12/12 - 3/3 2/2 1/1

Independent Non-executive B EHITES :

Directors:
Mr. Guo Wei HEELE 12/12 4/4 3/3 2/2 1/1
Mr. Lam Albert Man Sum MERESE 12/12 4/4 3/3 2/2 11
Mr. Cheung Wai Hung REWESLE 12/12 4/4 - - 1/1
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION TEERBEE
According to Code Provision D.3 of the Code, the Board is RIETRINSTREXED.3E EESAERET
responsible for performing the corporate governance duties of the AARMTCEERBE ZER2CRAFUTEH

Company. The Board has the following duties and responsibilities for BOIAARCEERBENBENEMT

performing the corporate governance duties of the Company:

1. to develop and review the Group’s policies and practices on 1. HIEAERASEBEECEE ANEENLE

corporate governance; 3
2. to review and monitor the training and continuous professional 2. HHERERAEBEZRaNEEENE

development of the Directors and senior management of the DISEEEERE

Group;
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3. to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on

compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and the

Directors; and

5. to review the Group’s compliance with the Code and disclosure
in the corporate governance report and in annual report of the

Company.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Pursuant to the Code Provision A.6.5 under Appendix 15 to the GEM
Listing Rules, all Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This
is to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. Each Director received induction on the first occasion of his
appointment, so as to ensure that he has appropriate understanding
of the business and operations of the Group and that he is sufficiently
aware of his responsibilities and obligations under the GEM Listing

Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory requirements.

During the Year, all Directors participated in continuous professional
development regarding their duties and responsibilities under the
relevant legal and regulatory requirement which included reading
materials in relation to legal or regulatory update and attending online

training courses.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors a confirmation of independence pursuant to
Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers all the independent

non-executive Directors to be independent.
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CONFLICT OF INTEREST

If a Director has a conflict of interest in relation to a transaction or
proposal to be considered by the Board, such Director is required
to declare his interest and to abstain from voting. The matter is
considered at a Board meeting attended by Directors who have no

material interest in the transaction.

BOARD COMMITTEES

During the Year, the Company had three committees, namely the
Audit Committee, the remuneration committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”), and the nomination committee of
the Company (the “Nomination Committee”) to assist the Board
in discharging its duties and responsibilities. The committees are
provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties and are
able to obtain outside independent professional advice in connection

with their duties at the Company’s expenses.

Audit Committee

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review the financial
information of the Company, oversee the financial reporting process
and risk management and internal control systems of the Group,
maintain an appropriate relationship with the Company’s auditors and

provide advice and comments to the Board.

The Audit Committee has written terms of reference that sets out its
authorities and duties, which has been published on the websites of

the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Audit Committee comprises all independent non-executive
Directors. Members of the Audit Committee during the Year and up
to the date of this report is as follows:

Mr. Lam Albert Man Sum (Chairman)

Mr. Guo Wei

Mr. Cheung Wai Hung

4 meetings had been held by the Audit Committee during the Year.
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The Audit Committee has reviewed and discussed with the
management the audited consolidated financial statements for the
Year, the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements for
the three months ended 30 June 2022, for the six months ended 30
September 2022 and for the nine months ended 31 December 2022,
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and
auditing, risk management and internal control systems and financial
reporting matters. The audited financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2023 have been reviewed by the Audit

Committee.

Nomination Committee

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are reviewing
and supervising the structure, size and composition of the Board,
identifying qualified individuals to become members of the Board,
assessing the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors and making recommendations to the Board on the

appointment or re-appointment of Directors.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy setting out the
approach to diversity of members of the Board. The Company
recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity of Board
members. It endeavours to ensure that the Board has a balance of
skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
requirements of the Company’s business. All Board appointments
will continue to be made on a merit basis with due regard for the
benefits of diversity of the Board members. Selection of candidates
will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
experience (professional or otherwise), skills and knowledge. The
ultimate decision will be made upon the merits and contribution that

the selected candidates will bring to the Board.
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has adopted the following policies for the nomination of

directors.

Selection Criteria

In determining the suitability of a candidate, the Nomination
Committee and the Board shall consider the potential contributions
that a candidate can bring to the Board and/or the Group. The
Nomination Committee would consider a candidate in terms of
qualifications, skills, experience, independence and other factors. The

following shows a non-exhaustive list of selection criteria:

e the candidate’s race, reputation, character and integrity;

° the candidate’s qualifications, skills, knowledge, business
judgment and experience which are relevant to the operations of

the Group;

e the relevant factors set out in the Board Diversity Policy (as

amended from time to time).

Nomination Procedures

The evaluation, recommendation, nomination, selection and
appointment or re-appointment of each proposed Director shall be
assessed and considered by the Nomination Committee and the

Board against the Selection Criteria and the Board Diversity Policy.

In the context of appointment of any proposed candidate to the
Board:

e the Nomination Committee may take such measures that it
considers appropriate in connection with its identification and
evaluation of candidates, including referrals from the Directors,

shareholders, management, advisors of the Company;
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e the Nomination Committee shall identify and ascertain the
character, qualification, knowledge and experience of the
candidate and perform adequate due diligence in respect of

such candidate; and

e the Nomination Committee shall make recommendations by
submitting the candidate’s personal profile to the Board for its

consideration.

The Nomination Committee has written terms of reference that sets
out its authorities and duties, which has been published on the

websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Members of the Nomination Committee during the Year and up to the

date of this report are as follows:

Mr. Guo Wei (Chairman)
Ms. Ma Xiaona
Mr. Lam Albert Man Sum

For the Year, the Nomination Committee held 2 meetings.

Summary of the work of the Nomination Committee during the Year

was as follows:

e To review and monitor the structure, size and composition —
(including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board and
make recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed

changes;

e  To identify and nominate qualified individuals for appointment as
additional Directors or to fill Board vacancies as and when they
arise. The criteria to be adopted by the Board in considering
each individual shall be their ability to contribute to the effective

carrying out by the Board of its responsibilities; and
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e To make recommendations to the Board on matters relating to
the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession
planning for Directors in particular the chairman and the chief

executive officer.

Remuneration Committee

The primary duty of the Remuneration Committee is to formulate
transparent procedures for developing remuneration policies and
compensation packages for the Directors and senior management of
the Group. The Remuneration Committee has adopted the operation
model where it performs an advisory role to the Board, with the Board
retaining the final authority to approve the remuneration packages of

individual executive Directors and senior management.

The Remuneration Committee has written terms of reference that
sets out its authorities and duties, which has been published on the

websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Members of the Remuneration Committee during the Year and up to

the date of this report is as follows:

Mr. Guo Wei (Chairman)
Ms. Ma Xiaona
Mr. Lam Albert Man Sum

3 meetings had been held by the Remuneration Committee during

the Year.

Senior management’s remuneration
Senior management’s remuneration payment of the Group for the

Year falls within the following band:

s HMEAXEFZEEETURER(LHREE
ERATRABE) BETENERETERNES
Sl -

FHESS
FHEZEENIERARANEAREERELS
REEENFMER MFMEA R L ABERERN
Bl - FMZE@EERAEFREARELTE
FEZEMAR BEESRBEMLESITESR
BREEBALHMTB I RRES -

FNZE e EHMBERE RAEREREE -
W 2 TIB B S P R AR R o

RAFEAREEAREEE FHESRKE
T

BEEE(EE)
ekt
MEREE

RAFE  HFHEZEELRIT=RE -

EREEEHMH
AREBRAFERENEREEBIFHTERIAT
#E -

Number of
individuals

AB

Nil to HK$ 1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 to HK$6,000,000
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the Year, the fees paid/payable to the auditor in respect of the

audit and non-audit services were as follows:
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BB ETEN &
RAFER - BN/ B REHEREZ RIS
R BAWT

Amount

Types of services BRAE3E R x|
(HKS)

(A7)

Annual audit services FEEZRS 1,200,000
Non-audit services B AR -

DIVIDEND POLICY

The dividend policy of the Company is to distribute to its shareholder
the funds surplus to the operating needs, current and future business
development of the Group as determined by the Board. The
Company may declare and pay dividends to the Shareholders subject

to the criteria as set out below.

In accordance with the article of association of the Company and
subject to the relevant laws of the Cayman Islands, the Company
in general meeting may from time to time declare dividends in any
currency to be paid to the Shareholders but no dividend shall be

declared in excess of the amount recommended by the Board.

Dividends may be declared and paid out of the profits of the
Company, realized or unrealized, or from any reserve set aside from
profits which the Board determine is no longer needed. With the
sanction of an ordinary resolution dividends may also be declared
and paid out of share premium account or any other fund or account
which can be authorized for this purpose in accordance with the

relevant laws under the Cayman Islands.
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Subject to compliance with applicable laws, rule, regulations and
the articles of association of the Company, in deciding whether
to propose an dividend payout, the Board will take into account,
among other things, the financial results, the earnings, losses and
distributable reserves, the operations and liquidity requirements,
the debt ratio and possible effect on the credit lines, the capital
requirements, the current and future development plans of the
Company, the interests of the Shareholders, dividends received from
the Company’s subsidiaries and associate companies, and other

factors that the Board considers relevant.

The Board will review the dividend policy from time to time and
reserve its sole and absolute right to update, amend, modify and/or
cancel the dividend policy. There can be no assurance that dividends

will be paid in any particular amount for any given period.

ACCOUNTABILITY

The Directors are responsible for preparation of financial statements
which give true and fair view of the state of affairs, the results
of operations and cash flows of the Group in compliance with
accounting standards, the GEM Listing Rules, legal and statutory
requirements in relation to financial reporting. In preparation of the
financial statements for the three months ended 30 June 2022, for the
six months ended 30 September 2022, for the nine months ended 31
December 2022 and for the Year, the Directors have adopted suitable
accounting policies and applied them consistently. The financial
statements for the Year have been prepared on going concern
basis. The statement of auditor about its reporting responsibilities on
the consolidated financial statements is set out in the Independent

Auditor’s Report.
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The Group requires sufficient funding for its working capital, debt
repayment, further development and planned acquisitions. The Group
currently faces limited financial resources and for the time being, it
is in net current liabilities, although there are no immediate concerns
for solvency due to the nature of its current liabilities. Failure to
obtain additional funding in a timely fashion however, may adversely
affect the Group’s operation and its development plan. The Group
is now actively engaged in fund raising, talking to several interested
investors/financiers, trying to raise fund raising to significantly
alleviate the current liability risks as well as improve its production
performance and profitability. Furthermore the Group is to continue
exploring investment opportunities for acquisitions for quality mining
assets. The successful implementation of these measures would
fundamentally improve the Group’s financial position and address the

current liabilities concerns.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
SYSTEMS

The Board is overall responsible for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving
the Group’s strategic objectives, and ensuring that the Group
has established and maintained appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems. The risk management and
internal control systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement

or loss.

The Group has conducted an annual review on whether an internal
audit department is required. Given the relatively simple corporate
and operation structure, the Group currently does not have an internal
audit function. Even though the Group does not maintain an internal
audit function, the Board has overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in
achieving the Group’s strategic objectives, and establishing and
maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and internal

control systems.
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The Audit Committee reviews the risk management and internal
controls that are significant to the Group on an on-going basis.
The Audit Committee would consider the adequacy of resource,
qualifications and experience and training of staff and external advisor
of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting

function.

The management of the Group is responsible for designing,
maintaining, implementing and monitoring of the risk management
and internal control system to ensure adequate control in place to

safeguard the Group’s assets and stakeholder’s interest.

The Board performs annual reviews on any significant change of the
business environment and establishes procedures to respond the
risks result from significant change of business environment. The risk
management and internal control systems are designed to mitigate

the potential losses of the business.

The Group has engaged an independent professional party (the “IC
Expert”) to carry out internal audit functions by conducting an annual
review of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems during the reporting period. IC Expert has reported
findings and areas for improvement to the Company. The Group
is committed to implementing the suggested improvement in the
coming year and determined to establish and maintain adequate risk

management and internal control processes.

The Board approved and adopted an inside information policy and
procedures for the handling and dissemination of inside information.
The insider information policy provide the guidelines to the directors,
management and relevant staff (likely possessing the unpublished
inside information) of the Group to ensure that the inside information
of the Group is to be disseminated to the public in equal and timely
manner in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations. The
procedures include, among others, regularly remind the directors,
management and relevant staff about the compliance with the
securities dealing restrictions as set out in the Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of
the GEM Listing Rules and the notification of the regular “Blackout

Period”.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company encourages two-way communications with its
shareholders. Extensive information about the Company’s activities is
provided in our quarterly, interim and annual reports to be sent to the
shareholders. Enquiries from individuals on matters relating to their
shareholdings or the business of the Company are welcomed and
will be dealt with in an informative and timely manner. Shareholders
and investors may communicate with the Company by mail,
telephone, fax and email, details of which are made available on the
Company’s website. In order to promote effective communication,
the Company maintains a website on which financial and other
information relating to the Group and its business are disclosed.
The Board had reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of
the shareholder’s communication policy during the Year, given the
various means to enhance the communication between the Company
and its shareholders, the Company considered that such policy was

effective.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

As one of the measures to safeguard shareholders’ interests and
rights, separate resolutions are proposed at shareholders’ meetings
on each substantial issue, including the election of individual Directors,
for shareholders’ consideration and voting. All resolutions put forward
at shareholders’ meetings will be voted by poll pursuant to the GEM
Listing Rules and the poll results will be published on the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company at “www.hkexnews.hk”
and “http://www.grandtg.com”, respectively, after the relevant

shareholders’ meetings.
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Right to convene extraordinary general meeting

Any one or more shareholder of the Company holding at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital
of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or the Secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held
within two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition. If within
twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be

reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Right to put enquiries to the Board

Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the Board. All
enquiries shall be in writing and sent by post, together with his/her
contact details, such as postal address, email or fax, to the principal
office of the Company in Hong Kong for the attention of the Company

Secretary.

Right to put forward proposals at general meetings

Shareholders may put forward proposals at general meetings of the
Company by sending the same to the principal office of the Company
in Hong Kong, specifying his/her information, contact details and
the proposal(s) he/she intends to put forward at the general meeting
regarding any specified transaction/business and the supporting

documents.
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MCM

McM (HK) CPA Limited

To the shareholders of Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Grand
T G Gold Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 97 to 219,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 March 2023, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including

a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA'’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements which reveals that the Group had net current liabilities
of approximately HK$5,043,000 as at 31 March 2023. Based on
the current position of the Group, the Group might have financial
uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. The Group has undertaken measures
to mitigate such risk as set forth in note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements to meet its overdue financial obligations from time to time,
and the consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a
going concern basis. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this

matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and
we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. We have
determined: (i) impairment assessment of the cash generating unit of
gold mining operation; and (ii) allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) of trade and other receivables to be the key audit matters to

be communicated in our report.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
BEREREHE

Impairment assessment of the cash generating unit

of gold mining operation

Refer to accounting policies in note 4(h), significant accounting judgments
and estimates in note 5 and relevant disclosures made in notes 15, 16
and 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

SEMTANN LR - WM ERGE HE KA - UREEHHB
WFEMEES - 16RATIEL 2 AR

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had property, plant and equipment,
mining rights related assets, construction in progress and right-of-
use assets relating to the gold mining operation which amounted to
approximately HK$681,079,000, HK$44,124,000, HK$51,229,000 and
HK$10,202,000, respectively, were allocated to the cash generating units
(“CGU”) of gold mining operation. The impairment assessment of CGU
of gold mining operation is a key audit matter due to its significance and
judgement involved.

RZZBZ=Z4=A=+-HB  ESEHEGBRAREBEAINE
BERSE REEABEE ERIRRERAREEDAIAN
681,079,000/8 7T * 44,124,000 7T + 51,229,000/ 7T 12 10,202,000/
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AREZEE®)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BE2ERNAEERARERSE

TRAREBREELENMNRERNE

Our audit procedures in relation to the impairment assessment of the cash

generating unit of gold mining operation included:
EEREBRREBR e EL EMNENHE T ERERFBHE -
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Assessing management’s identification of CGU of gold mining operation
and impairment assessment policies based on the Group’s accounting
policies and understanding of the Group’s business;

RE BESRECZEHBERY BEEEEXBCTRIMERRYER
FREBR S EE B 2 SR ROR B E R

Engaging a valuation specialist to assist us to review the
appropriateness of the value-in-use calculation methodology adopted
by management, the accuracy of the calculations, the appropriateness
of the discount rate and the market data used;
ZEEESRBHESRIEREMRACERBEAEECEE
e EHE RN RERAER 2 TERENEE T

Assessing and challenging the reasonableness of key assumptions
adopted by management in the preparation of discounted cash flow
underlying the value-in-use calculation (including mining costs, gold
prices and discount rate) based on the Group’s business against
industry performances; and

RE BEEEXBULTERANGREREEENREEAEET
Bl ARReRERARATIERR(AERENE  Z2BRK
rEx) s aRIt: Rk

Reviewing the appropriateness of the disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
BREREE

Allowance for ECLs of trade and other receivables

Refer to accounting policies in note 4(v), significant accounting
judgments and estimates in note 5 and relevant disclosures made in
notes 22, 23 and 37(c) to the consolidated financial statements.

B2HGE M BRERM T4V SRR © MM ERGEHE R
et AR MiEE22 2337 (c)E L VB RA IR EE -

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amount of the Group’s trade
and other receivables, net of allowance, were HK$41,072,000 and
HK$2,882,000, respectively.

RZZEZ=%=-A=+—0  EXENEIEKET LRI MEKE
B (RS ) MBREE 5 5l 341,072,000/ 70 % 2,882,000/ 7T ©

The measurement of forward-looking ECLs approach requires the
application of significant judgement and increased complexity which
include the identification of exposures with a significant deterioration
in credit quality, and assumptions used in the ECLs models (for
exposures assessed individually or collectively), such as forward-
looking macroeconomic factors.
AENEBEREEE AN EFERA BRI RIEMEHN -
BREZNEAEERERCHRRKAAREREEHERR DE
AMERR G AR ARFRORRKA) - LOAREZELE
e

We identified the above matter as a key audit matter due to the
significant judgement and estimates made by the management
involved in determining the allowance for ECLs for trade and other
receivables.
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EEvERNRERBREREE

B2 RURR R EEKRENRREEBERE

Our audit procedures in relation to the allowance for ECLs of trade and

other receivables included:

BEHESRERR LA EURENRREE
'

9

ERERNEZEFE

Obtaining an understanding of and evaluating the Group’s credit
policies;
TR

BE&H

EREERR

With the assistance of auditor’s expert, assessing the
reasonableness of the Group’s ECLs models by examining the
model input used by management to form such judgements,
including testing the accuracy of the historical default data,
evaluating whether the historical loss rates are appropriately
adjusted based on current economic conditions and forward
looking information including the economic variables and
assumptions used and their probability weightings and assessing
whether there was an indication of management bias when
recognising loss allowances;
EGEMOEZXNRET - BEREERERRTKA BAE
REGAZE Tt EXREEHEEFERENGEY 85
RSELBOEERNOERY  TRELEREXREREEMNL
BERARAREERETEENRE  BRMEANEEZER
BRREGERES - VR ERBRARRRTEERERM
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Inspecting settlements after the financial year end relating to the
trade and other receivables as at 31 March 2023; and
REVHFEEREEN_Z_=F=A=T—HNEKESHK
HREMEBRERBOEEER Rk

Reviewing the appropriateness of the disclosure in the consolidated
financial statements.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all the information in
the Company annual report other than the consolidated financial

statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that

fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND

AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no

realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their

responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or

accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these

consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continuead)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise

B BN B AR AR
sE#)

BUMBHRRAREZ

ERREEERBENETER T2 87 -
BEREEFBLERPITEERABAIRFER

throughout the audit. We also: EERIREE - BE ¢

professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the o FBAINFHEERE PSR B G ERR TS
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, Bz BRI - R R ITEZIZ
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, FFAEEZERE  URERFTEREEZ
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate BZRBRETEZERIRMHEN - AREEF
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a PR RiE - BEER - BRI
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for KB ERIES] - A RAE T IR ARFFATE B
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, < B2 K BH FR PR R Be: = B R R RE B IR R BR AT
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of BEE

internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion

on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related

disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

B BN B AR AR
sE#)

BUBHREAREZ

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the . %ﬁﬁ%%ﬂﬁ%ﬁ%z@ﬁ% \ IR
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit Wam o WIRBCD BRI ERRE  BE=RE
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related GFHEHEEHIERE E@Ziﬁ$ﬂﬂ AR % -
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the e BEEBZFBEKEENRENKS -

Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based

on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s

H
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QAR RS ET RBERE IER
a%%ﬁ%WZﬁ@ﬁﬁ'ﬂhﬁﬁﬁﬁ$
B RABRIEEZER - BFZEREER
ﬁi%@%ﬁ%%ﬁ%%%ﬁz ORE
AR REREMHIBRATEER EXET
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report. However, future events or conditions may cause the BEBER .

Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

AHESR A BRR CERER  RBELRAR
BEREER)  AREEPBHRRES
RARBRIBER S RES -

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the °
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, (
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the e Bt EEEANTEXERETRMBER
financial information of the entities or business activities within i%?%ﬁi&m%?Z%V BEE - B E B
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial BHREBRER - EZREEREE  BEERH
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 7 B% IZ%ﬁIT’E W BTz = RAHE
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible 2EELE ©
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other EEREZZEGEBR(HP BB BERITIEZE

ZHE - BHEMERERER  BRESNEX
BIZ PRI 2 PR B 2 (M B R ERFA -

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control

that we identify during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continuead)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards

applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such

communication.

McM (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Wong Ka Bo, Jimmy

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number — PO7560
24/F., Siu On Centre

188 Lockhart Road, Wan Chai

Hong Kong

Hong Kong, 28 June 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mEEaRkRAEMEEKRER

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
HiaF FET FAT
Revenue Wz 7 153,195 128,434
Cost of sales SHEMA (89,886) (91,498)
Gross profit E7 63,309 36,936
Other income and expenses, net B A MY - F5E 8 117 20,266
Selling and distribution expenses HE RO A (1,687) (2,626)
Administrative expenses TR (28,331) (22,508)
Impairment losses under excepted £ H 4t E U AR TR B R H 78 HR
credit losses (“ECLs”) on other FEBE(EREESE]D
receivables THYRERE (1,802) -
Operating results R IR 31,606 32,073
Finance costs RUE RN 9 (10,794) (17,318)
Profit before tax B3 BI& A 10 20,812 14,755
Income tax credit/(expense) FrisfiEe,/ () 11 22,924 (6,911)
Profit for the year FERR 43,736 7,844
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable: FE#F(FHE)REN :
Owners of the Company RAGHEEA 26,109 (137)
Non-controlling interests eI 17,627 7,981
43,736 7,844
HK cents HK cents
AL il
Earnings/(loss) per share attributable 4~ A Bl#E A EBLEREFR
to owners of the Company (E548)
Basic LN 14 0.48 (0.01)
Diluted D] 14 0.48 (0.01)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FEeEaRkHEHMEZEWER
2023 2022
—E-=F TEC4F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
HizF FTET T
Profit for the year FEEF 43,736 7,844
Other comprehensive income for FEHM2EUE GNBRBIE) :
the year, net of tax:
Item that may be reclassified HER[fEEN DI E Eam
subsequently to profit or loss: ZIEA -
Exchange differences arising from REGINKTE A R B R
translation of financial statements of FREH ZEH ZHR
overseas subsidiaries (29,594) 14,807
Total comprehensive income for FEXEKEHAEE
the year 14,142 22,651
Total comprehensive income for FEZEREZEERER
the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company VIN/NEIL ¥ =N (2,158) 14,060
Non-controlling interests FEPERR AR 16,300 8,591
14,142 22,651
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

A BB AR R &R

2023 2022
—E=F TEC4F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
HizF FTERT FHET
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment VI - BB R 15 681,079 757,064
Construction in progress EEITR 15 51,229 55,279
Right-of-use assets EREEE 16 10,202 6,768
Mining rights related assets REREAEEE 17 44,124 63,065
Investment in an associate H—5WERrHRE 18 = -
786,634 882,176
Current assets RENEE
Inventories ES= 20 16,701 5,554
Promissory notes EEEE 21 = -
Trade receivables B RN ARIE 22 41,072 15,697
Deposits, prepayments and other e BAREREA 23
receivables JEUERTE 17,962 16,351
Pledged bank deposits BERIRITIFR 24 20,000 -
Cash and bank balances e RIRITHEER 24 24,641 4,444
120,376 42,046
Current liabilities REBAR
Lease liabilities HEAaRE 25 - -
Trade and other payables JERTE 5 BRIE [ Bopth 26
FEfFARIA 47,005 91,671
Borrowings =9 27 7,333 13,134
Bonds B% 28 14,342 13,838
Tax payables FESBITE 56,739 80,137
Convertible bonds AR ES 29 - 28,754
125,419 227,534
Net current liabilities REBEEFEHE (5,043) (185,488)
Total assets less current liabilites #EEFBRBERB 781,591 696,688

99




Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2022/2023
REESEREMAT « —T== /“T-_=FFH

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
A BB AR R &R

2023 2022
—EB-=F T F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
HiaF FET FAT
Non-current liabilities FkRBAE
Other payables EAbfERARIA 26 37,994 35,913
Borrowings &g 27 302,966 388,758
Deferred tax liabilities EIEFITEAE 30 - 204
340,960 424,892
Net assets FEE 440,631 271,796
Capital and reserves EXRR B
Share capital & A< 32 5,987 89,807
Reserves [ 33(a) 374,480 138,125
Equity attributable to owners of the RATHE ANEGHERS
Company 380,467 227,932
Non-controlling interests B 60,164 43,864
Total equity R 440,631 271,796

The consolidated financial statements on pages 97 to 219 were ~ $9722198 ZEREMBHMER T _=FA

approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 T N\BEEFgIERSEETE - WHTIIE
June 2023 and are signed on its behalf by: EREEE
Li Dahong Ma Xiaona
ERE =1
Director Director
EF EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REERBER

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARHE AR
Foreign
Issued currency Share  Convertible Non-
share Share  translation option bonds Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses  Sub-total interests Total

SNEEE BRE TRRES
BERE  ROEE it e fie BB Nt FERER a5t
HKS000  HKSO000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO0D  HKSO00  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000
T T Thxn T Thn Thx T Thn Thn
Asat 1 Aprl 2022 RoECCEMA-E 80807 1842983 4,866 - 153 (17207 2192 43864 2717%

Profit for the year ERER - - - - - 26,109 26,109 17,627 43,736

Other comprehensive income  E£12 E
Exchange differences arisng  FHAEBNHB AR
from translation of fivanclal ~ EIERMELZ

statements of overseas EiZE

subsidries - - (%) - - - 82N (3 (295%)
Changes for the year EERE - - (28,267) - - 26,109 (2,158) 16,300 14,142
Share option granted RILERE (i)

(note 35) - - - 1,972 - - 1,972 - 1,972
Capital reorganisation BREEWH)

(note 32) (88,310) 88,310 - - - = = = =
Transfer of convertible bonds AR ERER 2B

reverse upon redemption of AT AREEEEL

convertble bonds (note 29 E(Ar29) - - = = (12,543) 12,543 S S -
Issuance of shares upon rights 21713

issue (note 32) (Wise) 4,490 152,672 - - - - 157,162 - 157,162
Share issue expenses UESRIE = (4,441) = = = = (4441) = (4441)

(83,820) 236,541 - 1,972 (12,543) 12,543 154,693 - 154,693
At 31 March 2023 RZBzz%
=A=1-H 5,987 2,079,524 (23,401) 1,972 - (1,683,615 380,467 60,164 440,631

101




Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2022/2023
REESEREMAT « —T== /“T-_=FFH

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REERBER

Attributable to owners of the Company

LN 2PN 3
Foreign
Issued currency Share  Convertible Non-
share Share  translation option bonds  Accumulated controling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses Sulb-total interests Total

NEIRE BRE  TRRES
BEARE  ROEE File i ke ZiEE INF FRER @t
HKS000  HKS000  HKSOOD  HKSOOD  HKBOOD  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSOOD  HKSOD
T Thr Thr T Thr T Thr ThL Thr
Asat 1 Aprl 2021 RoZ--EMA-B 80807 1802083 19:331) S REB (1720%) 23812 %3 24914

(Loss)proftfor the year ~ EE(EE) /&7 - - - - - (137) (137) 7981 7844

Other comprehensive income  E£12 E
Exchange differences arisng  FHAEBNHB AR
from tranglation of fivanclal ~ BIERMELZ

statements of overseas EXEE
subsidliaries - - 14,197 - - - 14,197 610 14,807
Changes for the year FESY - - 14,197 - - (137) 14,060 8,591 22,651
At 31 March 2022 W-8--%
=A=1-8 89,807 1,842,983 4,866 - 12543 (1,722,267) 227,932 43,864 271,79
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERTMER

2023 2022
—E_=H —E -
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Htat FER FHT
Cash flows from operating activities X BHEZ THNHRESHTE
Profit before tax BRA AT ) 20,812 14,755
Adjustments for: AT SBEELAR
Depreciation on property, plant and WZE B MR A R R
equipment and mining rights related EHBAEENTE
assets 37,985 39,340
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 128 203
Finance costs BhE KA 10,794 17,318
Gain on waliver of interest of BeEEN SRk
borrowings - (14,529)
Equity-settled share-based payments  LARSHEAEE LA (5 AERE R
(NEA 1,972 -
Impairment losses under ECLs on HibEWARIBEH(ZE &R
other receivables THIREEE 1,802 -
Interest income FEMA (39) (57)
Operating result before working REEESEBRINCEEER
capital changes 73,454 57,030
Changes in inventories FEEE) (11,554) 1,755
Changes in trade receivables LG eI BR (26,505) (3,905)
Changes in deposits, prepayments e - B FIERHAREL
and other receivables ARIE & &) (4,483) (1,969)
Changes in trade and other payables FENE 5 R R A TR
I8 EE) (29,866) 23,778
Cash generated from operation REEBEE 2R G 1,046 76,689
Interest element of lease rentals paid BfHE 27855 = (1)
Net cash generated from operating HE& EZEEECRETHE
activities 1,046 76,688
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mERERER
2023 2022
—E-=F —E -
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Htat FER FHT
Cash flow from investing activities REFZHELEZELSRE
Purchases of property, plant and BEWME - WE RE&E
equipment (13,118) (89,658)
Expenditure incurred on mining rights ~ IRIEMEMRRE EEA 2 X
related assets (3,304) (13,174)
Proceeds from disposal/written-off of ~ REFEERBEELE,
mining rights related assets WisH 2 PTG sRIA 13,298 1,279
Expenditure incurred on right-of-use TREEEES ZFAX
assets (4,057) (6,906)
Interest received EHFIE 39 57
Placement of pledged deposits FEEBRFR (20,000) -
Net cash used in investing activities #R&EEFfIA>H ST (27,142) (58,402)
Cash flow from financing activities REEECRERE
Proceeds from borrowings raised KREMEFEENMMEHRIE 108,188 34,494
Repayment of borrowings EEEE (184,025) (53,126)
Repayment of convertible bonds EERRES (30,273) (1,208)
Principal element of lease payment HENRO A = (75)
Share issuing expenses AR EEFTHIZ (4,441) -
Proceeds from rights issue REMBRAI TS IR 157,162 -
Net cash from/(used in) financing BMETEAFE(FTR)Z
activities REFE 46,611 (19,915)
Net increase/(decrease) in cashand RE&RREZEER LM,
cash equivalents CE2)F5E 20,515 (1,629)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April RUA—RAZERERREE
HIEH 4,444 5,916
Effect of foreign exchange rate (R o ek
changes, net (318) 157
Cash and cash equivalents at R=A=+—HZEE&EK
31 March RE%ERAE 24 24,641 4,444
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR BERRWE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3
of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands.
Its principal place of business in Hong Kong is Room A-B, 8th
Floor, Centre Mark Il, 305-313 Queen’s Road Central, Sheung
Wan, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on GEM
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock

Exchange”).

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Its
subsidiaries (together with the Company collectively referred
to as the “Group” hereinafter) are principally engaged in gold
exploration, mining and mineral processing. Details of the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 19 to the

consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is the functional currency of the
Company, with values rounded to the nearest thousand.
The functional currency of the Group’s operating subsidiary,
Tongguan Taizhou Mining Company Limited (“Taizhou Mining”) is
Renminbi (‘RMB”).
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BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”), which in collective term includes all applicable Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”), Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKAS”) and Interpretations issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA”) and accounting principles generally accepted in Hong
Kong. These consolidated financial statements also comply with
the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM
Listing Rules”) and with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622). Significant accounting

policies adopted by the Group are discussed in note 4 below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption for the
current accounting period of the Group. Note 3 below provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting from
initial application of these developments to the extent that they
are relevant to the Group for the current and prior accounting

periods reflected in these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR BERRWE

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Going concern assumption

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had net current liabilities of
approximately HK$5,043,000 (2022: HK$185,488,000). Based
on the current position of the Group, the Group might have
financial uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. In preparing
these consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company have given careful consideration to the impact of the
current and anticipated future liquidity of the Group. The validity
of the Group to operate as a going concern is dependent upon
the successful outcomes of the Group to (i) attain profitable and
positive cash flows from operations; and (i) renew or extend
the existing borrowings, complete debt financing or obtain new
credit line, at a level sufficient to finance the working capital
requirements and financial obligations of the Group. Having
considered the above scenarios, the directors considered that
it is appropriate to adopt the going concern in preparing these
consolidated financial statements. In order to strengthen the
Group’s capital base and liquidity in the foreseeable future, the

Group has taken the following measures:

e  the directors of the Company have been taking various cost
control measures to tighten the costs of operations and
implementing various strategies to enhance the Group’s

revenue,

e  negotiating with lenders to extend the repayment terms of

borrowings, including bonds and borrowings; and

e  Continue to seek alternative debt and/or equity financing to

meet cash flow requirement.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Going concern assumption (Continued)

Based on the cash flow projections of the Group and having
taken into account the available financial resources of the
Group, including the proceeds from rights issue and financial
support from controlling shareholders, together with the above
measures, The directors are of opinion that the Group is able to
continue as a going concern and to meet their financial liabilities
as and when they fall due for the next twelve months. Should the
Group be unable to continue as a going concern, adjustments
would have to be made to the consolidated financial statements
to adjust the value of the Group’s assets to their recoverable
amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which might arise
and to reclassify non-current assets and liabilities as current
assets and liabilities respectively. The effects of these potential
adjustments have not been reflected in these consolidated

financial statements.
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs 3. BRANETET RGBT ERMB|RE

_l_/\IJ
(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs (@) ERAFTRLIETEBUBEHREER
The Group has applied the following amendments to REBEMBELT A P IEHRE &R ER
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the first time, which are HESZMASRMAR S __F
mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning on or WA — B3k & RREF R ARG -
after 1 April 2022 for the preparation of the consolidated Bz TH BBV EREERNSET A
financial statements:
Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: BEGTER mE - TR K& 1ER
Proceeds before Intended Use F165 (BT A) ERRATRIPTEEE
Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfiling A RER BEEAN-BITAHMN
a Contract FIRUEITR) KA
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual ERMBHRERED  HESERMRL
Framework FR(BETA)
Annual Improvements Projectto  Amendments go HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, BRUBREER  BEUKREEL
HKFRS Standards 2018-2020  HKFRS 16 and HKAS 41 —T-)\¥% FR - BRYHRE
—TTENE ERIEOS - BERK
EREER BEERFE165E
BEGHERE45%
(B5TA)
Revised to Accounting Guideline ~ Merger Accounting for Common RiEeiHEsE55  LRZHAMHTMANE
5 Control Combination ETEET EJUJ*ZEE
The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the RAFEERAEBYERELENMESET
current year had no material impact on the Group’s A EWAREERFERATEF RO
financial positions and performance for the current and AR RISz Fhr & R
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these FRE DI B BRI MR E RS2 -

consolidated financial statements.
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs 3.
(Continued)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied new and revised HKFRSs
that have been issued but are not yet effective for the
financial year beginning 1 April 2022. These new and
revised HKFRSs include the following which may be

relevant to the Group.

Effective for
accounting periods

beginning on or after

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice 1 January 2023
Statement 2 - Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8 — Definition of 1 January 2023
Accounting Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 - Deferred Tax 1 January 2023
Related to Assets and Liabilities Arising from
a Single Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 1 - Classification of 1 January 2024
Liabilities as Current or Non-current

Amendments to HKAS 1 - Non-current 1 January 2024
liabilities with Covenants

Amendments to HKFRS 16 - Lease Liability in 1 January 2024
a Sales and Leaseback

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 - To be determined

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an

Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) Presentation 1 January 2024
of Financial Statements Classification by the
Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a

Repayment on Demand Clause
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR BERRWE

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs

(Continued)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)
The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these amendments and new standards
is expected to be in the period of initial application. So
far it has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely
to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial

statements.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared

under the historical cost convention.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires the use of certain key assumptions and
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment
in the process of applying the accounting policies. The areas
involving critical judgement, and areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to these financial statements, are

disclosed in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of

these consolidated financial statements are set out below:

(@) Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made
up to 31 March. Subsidiaries are entities over which the
Group has control. The Group controls an entity when
it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the entity. The Group
has power over an entity when the Group has existing
rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities (i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’s

returns).

111

RG] REIEF] BB ERE

#Rlz)

(b) BEMEMNKEMNTTREBTER
B SRR ()
AN B A ST R S AT 2 I T 28
BHRERERAPEOEE - £5 5
IF - AEMR AR RS ST AR
AT A B A BT RERE L EA

B8R
e

BEASTHEME

RAMBRRCREELRAEREH

RRTABEVBRELUZ W BEREET
BEHETEEZMREME - MERENS
ERERBEFER BT ETHE - B R
BRI T A R AB SRR = BEAZ R
RRAGFH TS R 2 RSP NR A B SR M AT
5K FE

RREZSFEAMBHRRKEA ZERS
BERESIIAT -

(@) #_ERE
RAEMBHREBEARATRENBAR
HE=A=TBINUBHRE - WE
REEAREEBEA LR T - E4
SERSEEEEKmMAETZBRS
R\ sk = A F] # B3R 2 T - BAsE
BEHEE 2 RNTEZSZEHRE - A
AEEEFZER EAEERER
68 EL B S9N TR A A AR AR 22 7% (BN
ERORELTSATEZER)R - Al

AEBEZERERRES -




Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2022/2023
REESEREMAT « —T== /“T-_=FFH

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR BERRWE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(@ Consolidation (Continued) ()

4, EREFBERME#)

FERE (&)

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other
parties. A potential voting right is considered only if the

holder has the practical ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated

from the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results
in a loss of control represents the difference between (i)
the fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair
value of any investment retained in that subsidiary and (i)
the Company’s share of the net assets of that subsidiary
plus any remaining goodwill and any accumulated foreign

currency translation reserve relating to that subsidiary.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the

policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries
not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company.
Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position and consolidated statement
of changes in equity within equity. Non-controlling interests
are presented in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of profit or loss and
total comprehensive income for the year between the non-

controlling shareholders and owners of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR BERRWE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(@) Consolidation (Continued) ()

4, EXRSTBERBE®)

FEMRE (&)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in the

non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a
subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions (i.e. transactions with
owners in their capacity as owners). The carrying amounts
of the controlling and non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which
the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value
of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly

in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
loss, unless the investment is classified as held for sale (or
included in a disposal group that is classified as held for
sale). Cost includes direct attributable costs of investments.
The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the

Company on the basis of dividend received or receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income
of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or
if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net

assets including goodwiill.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(b) Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate
in the financial and operating policy decisions of an entity
but is not control or joint control over those policies. The
existence and effect of potential voting rights that are
currently exercisable or convertible, including potential
voting rights held by other entities, are considered when
assessing whether the Group has significant influence. In
assessing whether a potential voting right contributes to
significant influence, the holder’s intention and financial
ability to exercise or convert that right is not considered.

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements by the equity method
and is initially recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and
liabilities of the associate in an acquisition are measured at
their fair values at the acquisition date. The excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities
is recorded as goodwill which is included in the carrying
amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities
over the cost of acquisition is recognised in consolidated
profit or loss.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing
its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair
value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any
impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any asset,
including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that
the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently

increases.

114

4.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR BERRWE

BEAXSHBEREBE @)

(b)

BENT
BERRREARENEBEATE N
MER - EAFENR2ERX-ERN

K

Pt R B EBRORE RS - M RY
% FHUR VIR B S RIIR B4 - ERFE
AEBELAEATENE €EEH
RIAI T Sk AT ) B IR 2 1
REZE BREGERSANELER
S - A - REBEEREEE TR
EAFENR  T@ERFAATERX
RN 2 BB LR -

REpE R B2 R E LR G DA SR
BEBWME - WHTIRRATER - B
PR E AR R R EER B ETHZIR
BRHZATERE - RERANBBAS
EEEBE AR HREERBEF
RFEZEZBIIREE  SFARENER
EE - AEERIEAHREEREEL
FATEBBRBKRAZ ZBRNGAE
FSFER ©

AEEF AR A FERBE RRARE
BRAZEm A BER(E - EFEEAE
BIEBENBRT  RENZHEREE
(BREE)SIRREBSHERE36
SREIERE —BES B EE KD
FROAEABERAFEBEEKRAN
MR EE A%E) BEKREEETRER
o RNERREBERETENEE
BREEREE B ERNEE(R
EER) - MBI E S EHRIE
- RIRIREE G T AR E36TAR T
FER R E R IR R T -



Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2022/2023
REESEREMAT « —T== /“T-_=FFH

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR BERRWE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4., ERGHBERBE @)
POLICIES (continued)
(b) Associates (Continued) (b) EELQT(E)
$%EEE%§QTZW%é/ﬂ&%
BREMSA WG A BRERE M2
FilzE %¢ﬁﬂo%$%gﬁ%%%@

The Group’s share of an associate’s post-acquisition
profits or losses and other comprehensive income is

recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss and

other comprehensive income. When the Group’s share of Al BRSNS IRE R N F 2R
losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the = (BRIEEEBAAEENEE QRS
associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in WEZE D MERRBAER )R - BRIE
substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the NEED KB E DR AEEERIERN
associate), the Group does not recognise further losses, 7 TE'J$’§I7F<‘%TJ€M — A -
unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on i & AR EERK AT - AIAEEE
behalf of the associate. If the associate subsequently ECHJ’HE) AR E (R R EREIRZ
reports profits, the Group resumes recognising its share BN TN IEEREIE(L 2 255

of those profits only after its share of the profits equals the

share of losses not recognised.
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SE&EER)LELHE 2 AFEM R
Rz E ARz ERRE 2 A TFE
i) AN B R RS AR 2 2 EREE
(BIEEE) RAEMEE R INEITE R
associate (including goodwill) and any related accumulated BZERNERE - MRBE QR CREE
RREEREIRE - AIASEEERE
AEZEE  WTEFTEREE

S o

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that results
in a loss of significant influence represents the difference

between (i) the fair value of the consideration of the sale

EEHH‘Q%EJ?HT}&

plus the fair value of any investment retained in that

\|

associate and (i) the Group’s entire carrying amount of that

foreign currency translation reserve. If an investment in an

associate becomes an investment in a joint venture, the

N

Group continues to apply the equity method and does not

B

remeasure the retained interest.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and
its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
associates have been changed where necessary to ensure

consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
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AR BERRWE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(©

Revenue and other income

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or
service is transferred to the customer, at the amount of
promised consideration to which the Group is expected to
be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of
third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other

sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Revenue from the sale of gold concentrate is recognised
when control of the gold concentrate has transferred, being
when the gold concentrate had been dispatched to the
buyer’s specific location (delivery). Following delivery, the
buyer has full discretion over the manner of distribution
and price to sell the gold concentrate, has the primary
responsibility when on selling the gold concentrate and
bears the risks of obsolescence and loss in relation to the
gold concentrate. A receivable is recognised by the Group
when the gold are delivered to the buyer as this represents
the point in time at which the right to consideration
becomes unconditional, as only the passage of time is

required before payment is due.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method. For financial assets measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVTOCI”) (recycling) that are not credit impaired,
the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying
amount of the asset. For credit impaired financial assets,
the effective interest rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e.

gross carrying amount net of loss allowance) of the asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR BERRWE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(d)

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any.

Cost of self-constructed properties are classified as
property, plant and equipment includes the cost of
materials, direct labour, the initial estimate, where relevant,
of the costs of dismantling and removing the items and
restoring the site on which they are located, and an

appropriate proportion of production overhead.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of
an item of property, plant and equipment are determined as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item and are recognised in profit or

loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual
value, if any, using the straight line method over their

estimated useful lives as follows:

—  Freehold land is not depreciated.

—  Buildings situated on freehold land are depreciated
over their estimated useful life, being no more than 50
years after the date of completion.

—  Buildings situated on leasehold land are depreciated
over the shorter of the unexpired term of lease and
their estimated useful lives, being no more than 50
years after the date of completion.

—  Plant and machinery 10-30 years

—  Others 3-10 years

117

4, EREFBERME#)

(C)

¥ - BERRE
M - BB R RBRKAR RETE R
RERE (B IR -

DREBNFE  BEARBEIBERMELZ
FRABIEYRIAA - BIRSET ~ HifFE
KAFBRIA R REEMEMET 2 A
Z N EE (AnAERE) A BB E Pl 2 &
ERZEHAX

HY% - BE KRR B WL &R
ELRWESEE - REEMSSRE
HEARARREEME ZHNEZHRE
E o URmERDEE AR Ea

27
n?JL:\ ©

B TR E SRR AT
HE MY - BERRETEE 2
RAREEEHRBREEDS) - 2t
T

— KAERLMTERE o

— (IR AERE L EFIREMG
SAIERFHTE  ATENE
REEBRTF -

— [URHEE LMz EFRAEEE
HREGEFAFERAFH(RES)
e ATZRERAHERT
E'Eo

—  HENEZHE10E30F

—  H{3=10%F




Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2022/2023
REESEREMAT « —T== /“T-_=FFH

AR BERRWE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(d) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(e)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated
on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and

its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Construction in progress represents buildings under
construction and plant and equipment pending installation,
and is stated at cost less impairment losses. Depreciation

begins when the relevant assets are available for use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use. The gain or loss on disposal or
retirement of an asset is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset, and is recognised in the consolidated statement of

profit or loss.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets are recognised and measured on initial
recognition at cost only if the related economic benefits
will probably flow into the Group and their costs can be
measured reliably. However, the intangible assets acquired
through business combination not involving enterprises
under common control should be measured at fair value
separately as intangible assets when their fair values can

be reliably measured.

The useful life of the intangible assets shall be assessed
according to the estimated beneficial period expected to
generate economic benefits for the Group. An intangible
asset shall be regarded as having an indefinite useful life
when there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which
the asset is expected to generate economic benefits for the

Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR BERRWE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

()

(9)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Intangible assets with a finite useful life are amortised over
their estimated useful lives using the straight-line method
or other reasonable systematic methods. For an intangible
asset with a finite useful life, the Group reviews the useful
life and amortisation method at least once at each financial

year-end, and makes adjustments when necessary.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
assets are measured at the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset
and are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit

or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Mining rights related assets

Mining rights related assets with definite useful lives are
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment loss. Amortisation is provided
using the unit of production method based on the actual
production volume over the estimated total proved and

probable reserves of the ore.

Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has
both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and to
obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from that

use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR BERRWE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

4, EREFBERME#)

(9) Leases (Continued) (9 BEE)
The Group as a lessee
At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises KEBERAHAA

a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-
term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less
and leases of low-value assets which, for the Group are
primarily laptops and office furniture. When the Group
enters into a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the
Group decides whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-
by-lease basis. The lease payments associated with those
leases which are not capitalised are recognised as an

expense on a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term, discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement of
the lease liability. After initial recognition, the lease liability
is measured at amortised cost and interest expense is
calculated using the effective interest method. Variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or rate are
not included in the measurement of the lease liability and
hence are charged to profit or loss in the accounting period

in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR BERRWE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(g) Leases (Continued) (9)

4, EREFBERME#)

HE(#E)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

e where possible, uses recent third-party financing
received by the individual lessee as a starting point,
adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions

since third party financing was received,

e uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free
interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held by
the group entities, which do not have recent third-

party financing, and

e makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term,

country, currency and security.

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available to
the individual lessee (through recent financing or market
data) which has a similar payment profile to the lease,
then the group entities use that rate as a starting point to

determine the incremental borrowing rate.

The right-of-use assets recognised when a lease is
capitalised is initially measured at cost, which comprises
the initial amount of the lease liability plus any lease
payments made at or before the commencement date, and
any initial direct costs incurred. Where applicable, the cost
of the right-of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs
to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore
the underlying asset or the site on which it is located,
discounted to their present value, less any lease incentives
received. The right-of-use assets is subsequently stated at
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
except for the right-of-use assets that meet the definition of

investment property are carried at fair value.

121

I%@ﬁﬁﬁﬁi%@
RETEZEBENEX - NEH :

. %ﬂﬁF%T'ﬁ%ﬁﬂ%mA

FHERNE=TRE AN

YEHRE - AR EEE=S
BB LA RALE IS 8 -

s HNIMHAEBF=TREZE
BERSEZHEE  RANER
BN R B R 2 RIVE - WIRHR
HEZEERBETHE - &

o HUHEMBETERE -
R BR - S8 RER -

1l 40 2R

= ERIAEA A ES A BERER B
HEFME(BBKONRMERTIEH
%) BEMFKIEREEEREL - A%
EEBUAZNERERETRIBEEHN X
FREES o

REEENMEER 2 EREEENS
WA E - HhEREEREZNE
SR LRGSR B RSz AT 2 A
HENK - KREEZ EANTEEK
Ko RIERIBERT - (£ REEEKAT
BRI MBERIAAEEKIREERE
EXZEEME 2 ARA - rRE
HBEHRETANEREEES - £H
REERRIEKARRFITE KREE
B ENEREMEER 2 EAE
BERAFETEE -




Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2022/2023
REESERBROF e ZB= /ZZBZFFK

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR BERRWE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(g) Leases (Continued) (9)

4, EREFBERME#)

HE#E)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful

life and the lease term.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost of right-

of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in
future lease payments arising from a change in an index
or rate, or there is a change in the Group’s estimate of
the amount expected to be payable under a residual
value guarantee, or there is a change arising from the
reassessment of whether the Group will be reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss
if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been

reduced to zero.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet
the definition of investment properties and lease liabilities
separately in the consolidated statement of financial

position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR BERRWE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(h)

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or that
are not yet available for use are reviewed for impairment
annually and whenever events or changes in circumstances

indicate the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

The carrying amounts of other non-financial assets
are reviewed at each reporting date for indications of
impairment and where an asset is impaired, it is written
down as an expense through the consolidated statement
of profit or loss to its estimated recoverable amount unless
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in
which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation
decrease. The recoverable amount is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets. If this is the case, recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs. Recoverable amount is the higher of
value in use and the fair value less costs of disposal of the

individual asset or the cash-generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future
cash flows of the asset/cash-generating unit. Present
values are computed using pre-tax discount rates that
reflect the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset/cash-generating unit whose impairment is being

measured.
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AR BERRWE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i)

Inventories
The Group’s inventories include raw materials, work in

progress and finished goods.

Inventories are initially measured at cost. Cost of inventories
comprises all costs of purchase, costs of processing and
other expenditures. The actual cost of inventories upon

delivery is calculated using the weighted average method.

At the end of the reporting period, inventories are measured
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. If the net
realisable value is below the cost of inventories, a provision
for decline in value of inventories is made and recorded in
profit or loss for the current period. After the provision for
decline in value of inventories is made, if the circumstances
that previously caused inventories to be written down
below cost no longer exist so that the net realisable value
of inventories is higher than their cost, the original provision
for decline in value is reversed and the reversal is included

in profit or loss for the current period.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs
of completion, the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale include incremental costs directly attributable
to the sale and non-incremental costs which the Group
must incur to make the sale and relevant taxes. For raw
materials, provision for decline in value is made based on
the categories of inventories. For finished goods, provision

for decline in value is made on an item-by-item basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR BERRWE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

0)

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position when the
Group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) are added to
or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to
control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its
retained interest in the asset and an associated liability
for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to
recognise the financial asset and also recognises a

collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable, including any non-cash assets
transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or

loss.
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AR BERRWE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

0)

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments
(Continued)

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the consolidated statement of financial
position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle
on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not
be contingent on future events and must be enforceable
in the normal course of business and in the event of
default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the company or the

counterparty.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
time frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace. All recognised financial assets are measured
subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair

value, depending on the classification of the financial assets.

Debt investments
Debt investments held by the Group are classified into one

of the following measurement categories:

- amortised cost, if the investment is held for the
collection of contractual cash flows which represent
solely payments of principal and interest. Interest
income from the investment is calculated using the

effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR BERRWE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

0)

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments

(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Debt investments (Continued)

FVTOCI - recycling, if the contractual cash flows of
the investment comprise solely payments of principal
and interest and the investment is held within a
business model whose objective is achieved by
both the collection of contractual cash flows and
sale. Changes in fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income, except for the recognition
in profit or loss of expected credit losses, interest
income (calculated using the effective interest method)
and foreign exchange gains and losses. When the
investment is derecognised, the amount accumulated
in other comprehensive income is recycled from equity

to profit or loss.
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AR BERRWE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

)

Financial instruments

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified

according to the substance of the contractual

arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial

liability and an equity instrument under HKFRSs. An equity

instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest

in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities.

The accounting policies adopted for specific financial

liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.

0

(i)

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference
between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and
the redemption value is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss over the period of the

borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless
the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after

the reporting date.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially
at their fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial,

in which case they are stated at cost.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR BERRWE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

4, EREFBERME#)

(k) Financial instruments (Continued) k) E€BMIAEE)
Financial liabilities (Continued) THEEE)
(i) Convertible bonds that contain an equity component (i) B EEm s 8 AT B E

Convertible bonds that can be converted to equity
share capital at the option of the holder, where the
number of shares that would be issued on conversion
and the value of the consideration that would be
received at that time do not vary, are accounted for as
compound financial instruments which contain both a

liability component and an equity component.

At initial recognition the liability component of the
convertible notes is measured at fair value based on
the present value of the future interest and principal
payments, discounted at the market rate of interest
applicable at the time of initial recognition to similar
liabilities that do not have a conversion option.
The equity component is initially recognised at the
difference between the fair value of the convertible
bonds as a whole and the fair value of the liability
component. Transaction costs that relate to the issue
of a compound financial instrument are allocated to
the liability and equity components in proportion to the

allocation of proceeds.

The liability component is subsequently carried at
amortised cost. The interest expense recognised in
profit or loss on the liability component is calculated
using the effective interest method. The equity
component is recognised in the capital reserve until
either the bonds is converted or redeemed.

If the bonds is converted, the capital reserve, together
with the carrying amount of the liability component at
the time of conversion, is transferred to share capital
and share premium as consideration for the shares
issued. If the bonds is redeemed, the capital reserve is
released directly to retained profits.
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AR BERRWE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(k)

()

(m)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

(iv)  Offsetting of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset
and the net amount is reported in the consolidated
statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities

simultaneously.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to
receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage
of time is required before payment of that consideration is
due. If revenue has been recognised before the group has
an unconditional right to receive consideration, the amount

is presented as a contract asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective

interest method less allowance for credit losses.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the group’s cash management
are also included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated cash flow
statement. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for

expected credit losses (“ECLS”).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR BERRWE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(n) Foreign currency translation

@

(i)

Functional and presentation currency

[tems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional

and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s
financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this

translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in
foreign currencies are translated using the exchange

rates at the dates when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item
is recognised in other comprehensive income,
any exchange component of that gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income. When a
gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in
profit or loss, any exchange component of that gain or

loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR BERRWE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(n)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(iij) Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different from
the Company’s presentation currency are translated

into the Company’s presentation currency as follows:

— Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement of

financial position;

— Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates for the period (unless this
average is not a reasonable approximation of
the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the exchange rates

on the transaction dates); and

- All resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated

in the foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of monetary items that form part of the
net investment in foreign entities are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
foreign currency translation reserve. When a foreign
operation is sold, such exchange differences are
reclassified to consolidated profit or loss as part of the

gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the

closing rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR BERRWE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

()

()

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised
as part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for

capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used
for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount
of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined
by applying a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on
that asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted average
of the borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the
Group that are outstanding during the period, other than
borrowings made specifically for the purpose of obtaining
a qualifying asses. Any specific borrowing that remain
outstanding after the related asset is ready for its intended
use or sale is included in the general borrowing pool for

calculation of capitalisation rate on general borrowings.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in

the period in which they are incurred.

Employee benefits

(i) Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service leave as a
result of services rendered by employees up to the

end of the reporting period.
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AR BERRWE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(p) Employee benefits (Continued)

@

(i)

Employee leave entitlements (Continued)
Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity

leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Retirement benefits schemes
The Group operates the below post-employment
schemes which are defined contribution pension

plans:

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (the
“Ordinance”) for all qualifying employees in Hong
Kong. The Group’s contributions to the MPF Scheme
are calculated at 5% of the salaries and wages subject
to a monthly maximum amount specified in the
Ordinance per employee and vest fully with employees

when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the PRC subsidiaries participated in
various defined contribution retirement benefit plans
operated by the relevant municipal and provincial
social insurance management bodies in the mainland
of the PRC under which the PRC subsidiaries and its
employees are required to make monthly contributions
to these plans at a stated contribution rate based on

the monthly basic compensation of the employees.
The retirement benefit costs charged to profit or loss

represent contributions payable by the Group to the

funds.

134

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4, EREFBERME#)

(p) EEEFE)

()

(ii)

ESEER ()
BEANZFAZABREREZR
BB THER -

BIKIEF 1 &
ANEBERA AT BER R R IRG
& - BIFREHBRAREFTE -

AEBREBEEBRHIMEAERF
SHERGI(TED ) RERBEES
EREEEFRIIERTESE
(T2E2srE]) - AEERERE
TR EIHAIREEHFE R TEN
5%:TH - BREEEA LRI
IR ETR AR e a2 5T 814

RETERBREEME

TENBARMNEREDSEAT
BAmAE MR LB RL SRR
EEBFIEFENZAREHIE
RAEFE S Bt - PEMER
AILHEEEBALERSAELRH
et B EBERKRZFE

BAHK

Ban HIBR MR IKAE R R A FE AR



Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2022/2023
REESEREMAT « —T== /“T-_=FFH

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR BERRWE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4, BERSHBEBE#)
POLICIES (continued)

(p) Employee benefits (Continued) (p) EEEFE)

(iii) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw
the offer of those benefits, and when the Group
recognises restructuring costs and involves the

payment of termination benefits.

() Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to
certain employees. Equity-settled share-based payments
are measured at the fair value (excluding the effect of non-
market based vesting conditions) of the equity instruments
at the date of grant. The fair value determined at the
grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually
vest and adjusted for the effect of non-market based

vesting conditions.

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to

certain directors, employees and consultants.

Equity-settled share-based payments to directors and
employees are measured at the fair value (excluding the
effect of non-market based vesting conditions) of the equity
instruments at the date of grant. The fair value determined
at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based
payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over the
vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of shares
that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect of non-

market based vesting conditions.
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AR BERRWE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(q) Share-based payments (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payments to consultants are
measured at the fair value of the services rendered or, if
the fair value of the services rendered cannot be reliably
measured, at the fair value of the equity instruments
granted. The fair value is measured at the date the Group

receives the services and is recognised as an expense.

Taxation
Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and

deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in
profit or loss because of items of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or

substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases
used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which deductible temporary differences, unused
tax losses or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable

profit nor the accounting profit.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR BERRWE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

U]

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint arrangements, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary

difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will

be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in

equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of

its assets and liabilities.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

()

Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to

the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
separately. Temporary differences relating to right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities are not recognised at initial
recognition and over the lease terms due to application of

the initial recognition exemption.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends

to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material, provisions are
stated at the present value of the expenditures expected to

settle the obligation.
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AR BERRWE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(s)

(t)

Provisions and contingent liabilities (Continued)

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated
reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the

probability of outflow is remote.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified from
the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s
most senior executive management for the purposes of
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance
of, the Group’s various lines of business and geographical

locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments
have similar economic characteristics and are similar in
respect of the nature of products and services, the nature
of production processes, the type or class of customers,
the methods used to distribute the products or provide
the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material may

be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(t)

(u)

Segment reporting (Continued)

Segment assets include all assets but corporate assets
which are not directly attributable to the business activities
of any operating segment are not allocated to a segment,

which primarily applies to the Group’s headquarter.

Segment liabilities exclude corporate liabilities which are
not directly attributable to the business activities of any

operating segment and are not allocated to a segment.

No asymmetrical allocations have been applied to

reportable segment.

Government grants
A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions

attaching to it and that the grant will be received.

Government grants relating to income are deferred and
recognised in profit or loss over the period to match them

with the costs they are intended to compensate.

Government grants that become receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose
of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the

period in which they become receivable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR BERRWE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(v)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECLs on
investments in debt instruments that are measured at
amortised cost. The amount of ECLs is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial

recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECLs for trade
receivables, if any. The ECLs on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that
are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current as well as the
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date,

including time value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises
lifetime ECLs when there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk
on the financial instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss
allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal
to 12-month ECLs.

Lifetime ECLs represents the expected credit losses that
will result from all possible default events over the expected
life of a financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECLs
represents the portion of lifetime ECLs that is expected to
result from default events on a financial instrument that are

possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(v)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort. Forward-looking information
considered includes the future prospects of the industries
in which the Group’s debtors operate, obtained from
economic expert reports, financial analysts, governmental
bodies, relevant think-tanks and other similar organisations,
as well as consideration of various external sources of
actual and forecast economic information that relate to the

Group’s core operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased

significantly since initial recognition:

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal

credit rating;

—  significant deterioration in external market indicators of

credit risk for a particular financial instrument;

—  existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to

meet its debt obligations;
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AR BERRWE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(v)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the

operating results of the debtor;

— significant increases in credit risk on other financial

instruments of the same debtor;

— an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt

obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable

information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the financial instrument is
determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A

financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(i)  the financial instrument has a low risk of default;

(i) the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its

contractual cash flow obligations in the near term; and

(i) adverse changes in economic and business conditions
in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce
the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash

flow obligations.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(v)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit
risk when the asset has external credit rating of “investment
grade” in accordance with the globally understood
definition or if an external rating is not available, the asset
has an internal rating of “performing”. Performing means
that the counterparty has a strong financial position and

there is no past due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to
ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past

due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that receivables that meet

either of the following criteria are generally not recoverable.

— when there is a breach of financial covenants by the

counterparty; or

— information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to
pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without

taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate that a more

lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(v)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes

observable data about the following events:

— significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the

counterparty;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or past due

event;

—  the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the counterparty’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the counterparty
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise

consider;

— itis becoming probable that the counterparty will enter

bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

— the disappearance of an active market for that

financial asset because of financial difficulties; or

—  the purchase of a financial asset at a deep discount

that reflects the incurred credit losses.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(v)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
including when the debtor has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or
in the case of trade receivables, when the amounts are over
two years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking
into account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries

made are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECLs

The measurement of ECLs is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward
looking information as described above. As for the
exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented
by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date;
for financial guarantee contracts, the exposure includes the
amount drawn down as at the reporting date, together with
any additional amounts expected to be drawn down in the
future by default date determined based on historical trend,
the Group’s understanding of the specific future financing
needs of the debtors, and other relevant forward-looking

information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR BERRWE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(v)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Measurement and recognition of ECLs (Continued)

For financial assets, the ECLs is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the

original effective interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a
financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs in
the previous reporting period, but determines at the current
reporting date that the conditions for lifetime ECLs are no
longer met, the Group measures the loss allowance at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs at the current reporting
date, except for assets for which simplified approach was

used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account, except for investments in debt
instruments that are measured at FVTOCI, for which the
loss allowance is recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the investment revaluation
reserve, and does not reduce the carrying amount of the

financial asset in the statement of financial position.
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AR BERRWE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(w) Exploration and evaluation assets

x)

These are stated at cost less impairment loss. Exploration
and evaluation assets included topographical and
geological survey drilling, exploratory drilling, sampling
and trenching and expenditure incurred for the technical
feasibility studies and incurred to secure further
mineralisation in the mine ore. Expenditure incurred prior to
obtaining the exploration and evaluation rights to explore
an area are written off as expense as incurred. Once the
technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting
the mineral resource had been determined and that the
project reaches development phase, exploration and
evaluation costs capitalised are amortised. If exploration
property is abandoned during the evaluation stage, the

total expenditure thereon will be written off.

Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for
impairment when facts and circumstances suggest that the
carrying amounts of exploration and evaluation assets may

exceed its recoverable amount.

Event after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events
after the reporting period that are not adjusting events
are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial

statements when material.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR BERRWE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 4, the directors of the Company are required
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may

differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future

periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the directors
have made the following judgments that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements (apart from those involving estimations,

which are dealt with below).

(@) Going concern
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis, the validity of which depends
upon the success of the Group in generating sufficient
cashflows from operations and utilising its future financing
resources to meet its financial obligation as they fall due for

the foreseeable future. Details are set out in note 2 above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR BERRWE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS

AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies

(Continued)

(b) Renewal of the Group’s exploration permits
As detailed in note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements, certain of the Group’s mining right permits will
be expired within recent few year. The renewal of such are
subject to the discretion of relevant government authorities.
Based on past experience, the directors are of the opinion
that these permits would be renewed successfully.
Should the renewal of these permits were unsuccessful,
impairment on relevant property, plant and equipment and

mining rights related assets arise.

(c) Significant increase in credit risk
ECLs are measured as an allowance equal to 12-month
ECLs for stage 1 assets, or lifetime ECLs for stage 2 or
stage 3 assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when its credit
risk has increased significantly since initial recognition.
HKFRS 9 does not define what constitutes a significant
increase in credit risk. In assessing whether the credit risk
of an asset has significantly increased the Group takes
into account qualitative and quantitative reasonable and

supportable forward looking information.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities

within the next financial year, are discussed below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR BERRWE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several
jurisdictions. Significant estimates are required in
determining the provision for income taxes. There are
many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course
of business. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax provisions in
the period in which such determination is made. During the
year ended 31 March 2023, HK$22,924,000 (2022: tax
charge of HK$6,911,000) of income tax was credited to

profit or loss.

Allowance for ECLs of trade and other receivables

Management regularly reviews the impairment of trade
and other receivables to ensure appropriate allowance for
ECLs of trade and other receivables are recognised in the

consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Where differences between all contractual cash flows that
are due to the Group in accordance with the contract
and all cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition. Where the future cash flows are less than
expected, or being revised downward due to change in
facts and circumstances, a material impairment loss may

arise.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(b) Allowance for ECLs of trade and other receivables

()

(Continued)

As at 31 March 20283, the Group had balances of
trade receivables of approximately HK$41,072,000
(2022: HK$15,697,000), and other receivables of
approximately HK$2,882,000 (net of allowance for ECLs of
HK$4,240,000) (2022: HK$4,250,000 (net of allowance for
ECLs of HK$2,438,000)).

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

In applying the accounting policy on property, plant and
equipment with respect to depreciation, management
estimates the useful lives of various categories of property,
plant and equipment. This estimate is based on the
historical experience of the actual useful lives of property,
plant and machinery of similar nature and functions. The
estimated useful lives reflect the management’s estimate of
the period that the Group intends to derive future economic
benefits from the use of the Group’s property, plant and

equipment.
As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amount of the Group’s

property, plant and equipment was approximately
HK$681,079,000 (2022: HK$757,064,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR BERRWE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

5. ERGFHERMEEE)

et TRABEENEERR(E)
(d) ZEHREBRELELENIBETE

(d) Impairment assessment of the cash generating unit of

gold mining operation

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment,
mining related assets, construction in progress and right-
of-use assets is reviewed for impairment when events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying values
may not be recoverable in accordance with the accounting
policy as disclosed in note 4(h) to the consolidated financial
statements. The recoverable amounts of these assets, or
where appropriate, the cash-generating unit to which they
belong, is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and
value in use. The Group has to exercise judgment and
make estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an
event has occurred or any indicators that may affect the
asset value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset can
be supported by the recoverable amount, in the case of
value in use, the net present value of future cash flows
which are estimated based upon the continued use of
the asset; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to be
applied in estimating the recoverable amounts including
cash flow projections and an appropriate discount rate.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the assets
belongs. Changing the assumptions and estimates,
including the discount rates or the growth rate in the cash
flow projections, could materially affect the net present

value used in the impairment test.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR BERRWE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(d) Impairment assessment of the cash generating unit of

(e)

gold mining operation (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2023, no impairment
losses (2022: Nil) was made on the Group’s property, plant
and equipment, mining rights related assets, construction
in progress and right-of-use assets. As at 31 March 2023,
the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment,
mining rights related assets, construction in progress and
right-of-use assets were approximately HK$681,079,000,
HK$44,124,000, HK$51,229,000 and HK$10,202,000,
respectively (2022: HK$757,064,000, HK$63,065,000,
HK$55,279,000 and HK$6,768,000, respectively).

Mine resources and reserves

Mining rights related assets are amortised over the
estimated useful lives of the mines in accordance with the
production plans of the entities concerned and the mineral
resources and reserves of the mines using the units of

production method.

The process of estimating the quantities of the Group’s gold
reserve and resources is inherently imprecise and represent
only approximate amounts because of the subjective
judgments involved in developing such information based
on available geological, geophysical, engineering and
economic data. These estimates may change substantially
as additional data from ongoing development activities
and production performance becomes available and as
economic conditions impacting mineral prices and costs

change.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR BERRWE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(e) Mine resources and reserves (Continued)

®

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amount of the
Group’s mining rights related assets was approximately
HK$44,124,000 (net of accumulated amortisation of
approximately HK$25,966,000) (2022: HK$63,065,000
(net of accumulated amortisation of approximately
HK$23,344,000)).

Provision for claims on litigation

When accounting for provision for claims on litigation
against the Group, the Group has taken internal and
external advice in considering known claims and actions
made by or against the Group. It carefully assesses the
likelihood of success of a claim or action. Assessments
and estimations on provisions are made for claims or
actions against the Group on the basis of likely outcome,
but no provisions are made for those which in the view of

management are unlikely to succeed.

No provision (2022: Nil) was made in the consolidated

financial statements in relation to claims on litigation.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information is reported internally to the board of directors of
the Company (the “Board”), being the chief operating decision
maker, for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment
of segment performance focuses on the types of goods

delivered or services provided.

This is also the basis upon which the Group is organised
and specifically focuses on the Group’s operating divisions.
No operating segments identified by the Board have been

aggregated in arriving at the reporting segments of the Group.

The directors primarily use a measure of profit after tax to assess
the performance of the operating segments. However, the
directors also receive information about the segments’ revenue

and assets on a monthly basis.

The Group has identified the following reportable segments:

(i)  Exploration of gold mine which principally engages in the
operation of exploration, mining, processing and sale of

gold concentrate and related products;

(i) Corporation which principally engages in investment

holding.
Each of these operating segments is managed separately as
each of the product and service line requires different resources

as well as marketing approaches.

Segment assets and liabilities are allocated based on the

operations of the segments.
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L ELE
SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. PEHER®)
Segment information by operating segments is presented as RIEENEEI D 2 D EERZPT ¢
follows:
Year ended 31 March 2023 BE-Z-_=F=A=+—HLEFE
Gold Mining Corporate  Elimination Total
ESFER hTaf 3 ey st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FH&T FHT FExT FExT
Segment revenue: D ERN -
Revenue for external REINDER 2 W
customers 153,195 - - 153,195
Gross profit EF 63,309 - - 63,309
Other income and expenses, HAW AN » F58
net 111 6 - 117

Impairment losses under L b FE W BR TR S B &Y
ECLs on other receivables ~ TEHAEEEETH

EEE (1,437) (365) - (1,802)
Operating expenses TEB A (13,706) (16,312) - (30,018)
Segment results DEPELE 48,277 (16,671) - 31,606
Finance costs RBhE A AN (8,579) (2,215) - (10,794)
Profit/(loss) before tax BREATE R, (&) 39,698 (18,886) > 20,812
Income tax credit FriSHiE e 22,703 221 = 22,924
Net profit/(loss) for the year P K] (E538 ) H 48 62,401 (18,665) = 43,736
Segment assets DEBEE 869,086 223,112 (185,188) 907,010
Segment liabilities DEEE (639,289) (325,214) 498,124 (466,379)
Capital expenditure BARFEE (20,479) - - (20,479)
Depreciation and Hree s
amortisation (38,113) - - (38,113)
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Segment information by operating segments is presented as

follows:

N

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR BERRWE

ZHEEMENMT

Year ended 31 March 2022 HE_Z-—_F=-A=1+—HIFE
Gold Mining Corporate Elimination Total
=me K (=S ¥18H st
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FA&T FAET FAET FAT
Segment revenue: DEBUIA -
Revenue for external REIMNBEFE 2 Wi
customers 128,434 - - 128,434
Gross profit EF 36,936 - - 36,936
Other income and expenses, HAW AR @ F58
net 20,266 - - 20,266
Operating expenses KwEB A (12,801) (12,328) - (25,129)
Segment results DEELE 44,401 (12,328) - 32,073
Finance costs BB RN (8,635) (8,683) - (17,318)
Profit/(loss) before tax B ATLREF] (E8) 35,766 (21,011) - 14,755
Income tax (expense)/credit  Fr{SH: (Fis%), % (7,577) 666 - 6,911)
Net profit/(loss) for the year SR FI, (E518 ) ;548 28,189 (20,345) - 7,844
Segment assets DESEEE 1,085,815 177,533 (339,126) 924,222
Segment liabilities HEEE (895,286) (415,661) 658,521 (652,426)
Capital expenditure =N (59,738) - - (59,738)
Depreciation and TE R
amortisation (839,478) (65) - (89,543)
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Geographical segments

The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong and other
parts of the PRC whereas the principal markets for the Group’s

products are mainly located in other parts of the PRC.

Segment information by geographical segments is presented as

6. DEHER @
Ho350 5 28
REE Y EBHRES KPR E -
AEMERZEETHERARE b
[& o

b BRI D 2 A RERZHIT

follows:
2023 2022
—EC-=F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Segment revenue by location of REFHREME D 25 H W
customers
PRC, excluding Hong Kong, Macau and FE(TNEEES  BFINAE
Taiwan 153,195 128,434
Non-current assets FRBEE
PRC, excluding Hong Kong, Macau and FE(TBIEEE  RFIREE)
Taiwan 786,634 882,176
Hong Kong BB - -
786,634 882,176

Revenue of approximately HK$153 million (2022: HK$128
million) which arose from sales to the Group’s largest customer.
There is one (2022: one) customer contributed 10% or more to

the Group’s revenues for the year ended of 31 March 2023.

159

MAEBHGARPETHEEE 2
# # 153,000,000 % 7 ( = T = = 4 -
128,000,00087T) - REE-_T_=F=H
=+—HLFE F-R(ZEZ=F: —
Z)VEFABAEE10%A 2 Uz




Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited An}uol Report 2022/2023
T_=F

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR BERRWE

7. REVENUE 7. W
Revenue represents the net value of goods sold, net of trade WREeHEERs FE(ENRE ST
discounts and returns and various types of government M- BRERTRESZBANINE (IE
surcharges where applicable: B)):
2023 2022
—E-=F —E -
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FTERT FHET
Revenue recognised at a point in time BV BREERF155RBER
within the scope of HKFRS 15 L0 [E B R Y
Sale of gold concentrate SHER DR 153,195 128,434
8. OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSES, NET 8. HttWARRX - F8
2023 2022
—E_=F —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$ 000
FTHERT FHET
Gain on waiver of interest on interest st SEEN SN
bearing borrowings = 14,529
Interest income FEMA 39 57
Government grant (note (i) ERAT AR (A7 a20)) 55 12
Non-operating income (note (i) e EW A (HTaE () - 5,669
Others EHh 23 (1)
117 20,266
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OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSES, NET 8. HMW AKX  FHw)

(Continued)

Note: Bt -

()  During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group recognised () #H=E-Z-_=F=-—A=1+—HIEFE =K
the government grants of approximately HK$55,000 (2022: % B MR BT BA 455,000 T (Z 2 ==
HK$12,000) in relation to unemployment allowance provided by F 112,000/ 7T ) Ty B AR B A BT R AR Y
the Government of the mainland China. The Group fulfilled all KREOZBLARE o AN B TR ATHT 2 3B IR
conditions attached to the subsidies and recognised as other 0 A EAERR A E AU o
income.

(i)  The non-operating income mainly represents the pricing difference iy FELFWATFBRAREERPKINES
of electricity bills and explosive charges received from construction MIEBERERERE -
teams.

FINANCE COSTS 9. RERA

2023 2022
—E-=F =B
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT

Interest on bonds BEHHME 504 501

Interest on convertibles bonds AR ESFFE 1,519 5,245

Interest on borrowings EERE 8,771 11,571

Interest on lease liabilities HEAGENE - 1

10,794 17,318
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10. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 10. BREL AR
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ RNEE 2 BB ANSF TIENR(GEA) TF
(crediting) the following: FIAEHER
2023 2022
—EBC=HF .- —
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
Cost of inventories sold BEEFERA 89,886 91,498
Auditors’ remuneration (note (ii)) ZEEREN S (1 a2 (i) 1,550 1,733
Amortisation of mining rights related assets  £RUEHEARRE & E 285 (H22())
(note (i) 4,334 3,774
Depreciation on property, plant and Y% - BEMERETE
equipment 33,651 35,566
Depreciation on right-of-use assets TREEENE 128 203
Impairment losses under ECLs on other HHE A ERIRIBE B TEHEER
receivables BETHREBE 1,802 -
Short-term lease payments EEAENR 862 576
Equity-settled share-based DL E R A BERNAR
payments (note 35) (B17#35)
Directors 5% 1,350 -
Employees (== 465 -
Consultant A 157 -
1,072 -
Staff costs including directors’ ETIRAN(BIEEEEHH) -
emoluments:
Salaries, wages, allowances and benefits ~ ¥& - TE& 2R EYHZE
in kind 10,390 7,969
Retirement benefits scheme contributions iR REF 5+ Bl 700 622
Equity-settled share-based payments DARGHE G E ID AR 2 5K 1,815 -
Staff costs 8 ITKA 12,905 8,591
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. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (Continued) 10. BRELATERI (2)
Notes: Wi
(i) Approximately HK$4,334,000 (2022: HK$3,774,000) are included (i) #74,334,000 70 ( —ZF = =4 : 3,774,000
in cost of sales. BIT)ET ASHERA o
(i) Approximately HK$350,000 (2022: HK$183,000) was incurred for (i) #9350,000/7C(=ZF = —4F : 183,000 1)
the audit of the Company’s subsidiaries and approximately HK$NIl BARRZMBARZEFESE  HTHET
(2022: HK$350,000) was incurred for the professional fees of right (ZZF =4 : 350,000/ 7T ) 4 A% &9 5 A
issues. BRAEL -
. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE 1. 88 (ER), HX
2023 2022
—E=H —E - F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Current tax - PRC Enterprise Income ENEASi 8 — PR ERER
Tax (“PRC EIT”) (THPELERBH]D
Provision for the year INEF E R 6,903 7,577
Over-provision of previous years BAFERERE (29,606) -
(22,703) 7577
Deferred tax IRFER 18
Credited to profit or loss (note 30) T AB=(A7:230) (221) (666)
Income tax (credit)/expense st (3 e) (22,924) 6,911
Under the two-tiered Profits Tax regime, the first HK$2 million of REFSHMRES - REBKILEERSE
profits of the qualifying group entity established in Hong Kong EERE2EEELANIES25% (222
will be taxed at 8.25% (2022: 8.25%), and profits above that F : 8.25%) MiEn - AR IR % & B F A5
amount will be subject to the tax rate of 16.5% (2022: 16.5%). BIZ16.5% (T -4 : 16.5%) NFI R
The profits of the group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered T o DREE TS A I B £8 B 2 B 1))k A
Profit Tax rate regime will continue to be taxed at a rate of HEEIR16.5%(ZF Z—F : 16.5% ) 8IH
16.5% (2022: 16.5%). TR ©
No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made for the AEBRBE—_E_=FN_FT_—F=1
years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022 as the Group did not =+—H ﬁirtbﬁﬁfﬁﬁéﬂ SR B
generate any assessable profit. % B AARSE B E A A JERRBE A o
PRC EIT has been provided at a rate of 25% based on the MR 5 A B A0 7% 3R Al 2 0R AR 1R 5 B JE AR T i 4
assessable profit in accordance with the tax rules and o PECEMEHRIE2%HE(ZE -
regulations in the PRC (2022: 25%). F 1 25%)FHRREME -
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AR BERRWE

INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE (Continued)

Pursuant to the (a) Notice of the Continuation of the Enterprise
Income Tax Policy Related with the Western Region
Development”, (b) Measures on Handling of Enterprise Income
Tax Incentives (Revision 2018) and its attached Management
Catalogue of Preferential Iltems in Enterprise Income Tax (2017
Edition) (Notice of STA 2018 No. 23), (c) the (i) encouraged
industries in the Guiding Catalogue for Industrial Restructuring
(2019 Edition) (Order of NDRC 2019 No. 29) and the (ii)
industries in the Catalogue of Industries for Encouraging Foreign
Investment (2020 Edition) (Order of NDRC and MOC 2020
No0.38) set out in the Catalogue of Industries Encouraged to
Develop in the Western Region (2020 Edition) (Order of NDRC
No. 40), enterprise income tax may be levied at a reduced tax
rate of 15% for enterprises established in the western region and

engaged in encouraged industries.

Taizhou Mining, the Company’s operating subsidiary, has been
granted a reduced EIT rate of 15% from year 2015 to 2021.

As a result of the outbreak of COVID-19 which affected the
process in applying the tax incentive and therefore income tax
expense of Taizhou Mining for the year ended 31 March 2022
had been provided at statutory EIT rate of 25%.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the applicable EIT rate
of Taizhou Mining has been restored at 15% following the
abovesaid policies from the tax bureau under which Taizhou
Mining could enjoy a reduced EIT rate of 15% from the statutory
EIT rate of 25% for the years ended 31 March 2023 and
2022. As a result, an over-provision of income tax expense of
approximately HK$2,856,000 in relation to the year ended 31

March 2022 was recorded during the year.
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INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE (Continued)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Measures for the
Management of Accounting Archives issued by the Ministry
of Finance and the National Archives Administration, tax
return of an enterprise shall be stored for a period of 10 years.
According to Article 53 of the Tax Administration and Collection
Law, “tax authorities may within three years collect taxation
and late payment fee if the non-payment or underpayment of
taxes is due to computational errors made by the taxpayer or
withholding agent. The statute of limitations of tax collection
may be extended to five years under special circumstances”.
During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group, having
consulted with the legal experts and PRC CPA in the mainland
China, recognised an over-provision of income tax expense
in profit or loss of approximately HK$26,750,000 incurred for
the years from 2008 to 2010 by Taizhou Mining which income
tax filings had exceeded the promulgated retention period of
ten years pursuant to the law enacted in the Mainland China,
on the ground that Taizhou Mining did not receive income tax
demand from the tax bureau and which collection period was
also expired and lapsed. The management considers that it is
not probable that Taizhou Mining would be requested to pay the

income tax expense for the years from 2008 to 2010.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR BERRWE

11. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE (Continued) 1. FIEB(ER) BX @)

The reconciliation between the income tax (credit)/expense and FTS#(ER) MY BIZERRETE 2
accounting profit at applicable tax rates: wARE 2 ERRIAT
2023 2022
—EBC=HF .- —
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
Profit before tax PR3 AT 7 20,812 14,755

Tax at the applicable tax rate in Hong Kong 1% &8 @A £16.5%

of 16.5% (2022: 16.5%) CEC T 16.5%)5E
I8 3,433 2,435
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AR ASZ 2 R E 3,952 3,291
Tax effect of non-taxable income BERTA 2 RS2 (36) (110)
Utilisation of tax losses not recognised SR TERER 2 BB 18 2 B A
previously = (1,746)
Over-provision of previous years BAFERERE (29,606) -
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries ~ 7F Eth B A HE I 48 & 275 2 [T &8
operating in other jurisdictions REITRME 2 2 (667) 3,041
Income tax (credit)/expense FTiSi (%) Fx (22,924) 6,911
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REMBHRERKE
12. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE 12. EESM R A2 REHES
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
(a) Directors (@ ==
Details of the remuneration of directors of the Company are RABEFZHEFBOT ¢
as follows:
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) RIBEB B R EEDIZE383(1) KR 2 &
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance are as follows: EHMOT -
For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE-ZE-=F=A=+—HLEE
Salaries, Retirement Equity-
allowance benefit settled
and benefits scheme share-based
Fees inkind contributions payments Total
UREEE
E =4 1 RIMER  ROAEHR
e REWHR HE 25 PANES st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT THER THET THERT THET
Executive directors: HITES .
Li Dahong FRE 2,820 - 18 600 3,438
Ma Xiaona & 700 - 18 525 1,243

3,520 - 36 1,125 4,681

Independent non-executive  BYFHTES :

directors:

Cheung Wei Hung RiFE 320 - - 75 395
Guo Wei e 320 - - 75 395
Lam Albert Man Sum MER 320 - - 75 395
960 - - 225 1,185
4,480 - 36 1,350 5,866
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12. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE 12. EEFMREEESHES &)
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continued)
(a) Directors (Continued) (@) EZ(E)
For the year ended 31 March 2022 HE_Z-_—_F=-A=+—HIFE

Salaries, Retirement

allowance benefit
and benefits scheme
Fees in kind contributions Total
e - ER RIREF
we EEUHN= FT IR @5t
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$’000
FET FHET FHETT FHET
Executive directors: HITES .
Li Dahong EY NN 2,820 - 18 2,838
Ma Xiaona BB 1,660 - 18 1,678
4,480 - 36 4,516
Independent BUFHITES !
non-executive directors:
Cheung Wei Hung SRIZ 320 - - 320
Guo Wei 2Pz 320 - - 320
Lam Albert Man Sum ER 320 - - 320
960 - - 960
5,440 - 36 5,476
The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were il TESEHN AR SR AR T LA
for their services in connection with the management of the EEEREEMHERSHREN o LulsE
affairs of the Company and the Group. The independent NIEHITESTWNABRSEERAT R

non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were

LKA RIE R -

N

for their services are directors of the Company and its

subsidiary.
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REMBHRERKE
12. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE 12. EEF R TR ESHES #)
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continued)
(b) Five highest paid employees (b) EEBREFHES
The five highest paid individuals for the year ended 31 REBEEZT-_="F=-A=+—HIHF
March 2023 included two (2022: two) directors whose EhEEaHATEERE(ZE
remuneration are included above. During the year ended T MR)EE BEZMEEE
31 March 2023, there are three (2022: three) highest paid REX - BEZZE-_=F=-A=+—
individuals of the Group had been included in the following AIEFE  TRREAEE=%(ZF
table. The remunerations of the remaining three (2022: ZZF ZR)BRFAT B T=H
three) individuals were as follows: ZEIZF  =B)ALT BT
2023 2022
—E_=HE —E - F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTET TFHET
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ~ ¥7& - J2BEREWHZ 2,087 2,248
Retirement scheme contributions RIRET B 30 30
Equity-settled share-based payments VAR A AR (7 B ERE R
(NE7S 75 -
2,192 2,278
Their remunerations of the remaining individuals were within BTATZHMEERUTHE :
the following band:
Number of individuals
A
2023 2022
—E_=F —E - F
HK$ Nil to HK$1,000,000 L 7E7T21,000,00078 7T 3 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 87LE
1,500,000/ 7T - 1
3 3
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12. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Continued)

(b)

Five highest paid employees (Continued)

During the year, no remunerations were paid by the
Group to the directors or the highest paid individuals as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office (2022: Nil). No directors of
the Company waived or agreed to waive any remunerations

during the year.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed in note 38 to the consolidated financial
statements, no other significant transaction, arrangement
and contract in relation to the Group’s business to which
the Company was a part and in which a director of the
Company and the director’s connected party had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at

the end of the year or at any time during the year.

13. DIVIDEND

No dividend has been paid or proposed by the Company for the
years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.
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EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE 14. EREBF,(&i8)

The calculation of basic earnings/(loss) per share is based on
the Group’s profit attributable to the owners of the Company
of approximately HK$26,109,000 (2022: loss of HK$137,000)
and the weighted average number of 5,418,415,731 (2022:
1,570,528,387) ordinary shares in issue during the year ended
31 March 2023.

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the
purpose of calculating diluted earmings per share is adjusted as

follows:

Number of shares BHEE

BREARRBF(EEB) DRAARERA
JE A 2N £ @5% F £926,109,0008 L (=&
T BE187,0008 ) RBEZE =
FZA=Z+—BHLEFEEBHTLEBRAM
1T 19805,418,415, 731/ (=T ==
1,570,528,387% )5t & o

STESEEE R R BB E I EER

BT

2023 2022
—E—=F —E-—F

Weighted average number of ordinary AR EBRERER,(EE)8
:\t
E

SR AN E B

shares for the purpose of calculating

basic earnings/(loss) per share

5,418,415,731 1,5670,528,387

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares AN a)# T RIEE L BEES
jt
E

BERHRE

arising from share options issued by

the Company

10,892,950 -

Weighted average number of ordinary BAREtEEREEERT (BiE)M

shares for the purpose of calculating AR N8

diluted earnings/(loss) per share

5,429,308,681 1,670,528,387

Notes:

(@  The weighted average number of ordinary shares used to calculate
the basic and diluted loss per share for the year ended 31 March
2022 have been adjusted to reflect the rights issue on 17 May
2022.

(b)  The effect of the conversion of convertible bonds was not included

in the calculation of diluted earnings/(losses) per share as they are
anti dilutive.
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. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

15. Y% - BERRE

Furniture,
fixtures and
Mine Plant and office Motor Construction
properties machinery equipment vehicles Sub-total in progress Total
B £ER
BEN%  BEREE A% Byl gt HBIE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL TAL TEL
Cost M
At 1 April 2021 RZE--FMA-A 1,016,242 15,485 212 4046 1,035,985 53,082 1,089,067
Additions AE 39,658 - - - 39,658 - 39,658
Exchange realignment EHA% 4,113 1 3 138 42575 2,197 4,772
At 31 March 2022 and WZBZZE=F=1-A
1 Apri 2022 R 1,098,013 15,806 215 4,184 1,118,218 55,279 1,173,497
Additions HE 13,118 - - - 13,118 - 13,118
Exchange differences ERZE (80,446) (593) @) (953) (82,000) (4,050) (86,050)
At 31 March 2023 R-E-=f=fA=t+-A 1,030,685 15,213 27 3,231 1,049,336 51,229 1,100,565
Accumulated depreciation 23t E
At 1 April 2021 R-E--4MmA-A 298,130 12,849 212 1,736 312,927 - 312927
Charge for the year TEEXH 34925 - - B41 35,566 - 35,566
Exchange realignment [ER A% 12,382 214 3 62 12,661 - 12,661
At 31 March 2022 and RZE-“F=f=+-A
1 Apri 2022 KZE--%5MmA-H 345,437 13,063 215 2439 361,154 - 361,154
Charge for the year REETH 33,170 - - 481 33,651 - 33,651
Exchange realignment EjiE (25,322) (392 @) (826) (26,548) - (26,548)
At 31 March 2023 W-8-=E=fA=+-A 353,285 12,671 27 2,094 368,257 - 368,257
Carrying amount REE
At 31 March 2023 R-BZ=£=f=1-A 677,400 2,542 - 1,187 681,079 51,229 732,308
At 31 March 2022 RZE_“#=f=+-A 752,576 2,743 - 1,745 757,084 55,279 812,343
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Impairment assessment

During the year, the Group had appointed an independent
professional valuer, Ravia Global Appraisal Advisory Limited, to
assess the recoverable amounts of the Group’s property, plant
and equipment, mining rights related assets (note 17) and right-
of-use assets of factory lands (note 16), in particular of those
employed in the gold mining segment, and no impairment loss
(2022: Nil) was recognised. The recoverable amount has been
determined based on a value-in-use calculation using cash
flow projections based on financial budgets approved by senior
management. The discount rate applied to cash flow projections
is 13.23% (2022: 11.70%) per annual. The growth rate used to
extrapolate the cash flows of the Group’s of cash generating
units beyond the five-year period is 0% (2022: 0%) per annual
which based on past performance and its expectations in
relation to market development. Other key assumptions for the
value-in-use calculations relate to the estimation of cash inflows/
outflows which include budgeted revenue and gross margin,
such estimation is based on the past performance. The directors
believed that any reasonably possible change in any of these
assumptions would not cause the aggregate carrying amount to

exceed the aggregate recoverable amount.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 16. EAEEE
The movements in right-of-use assets are as follows: EREEE 2 #FFHIT

Leased Factory
properties lands Total
HEWE 5 A it et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET T FHT
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE
At 1 April 2021 NZEZ—FMHA—H 65 - 65
Addition =T - 6,906 6,906
Depreciation charge for the year FEWES (65) (138) (203)
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 = S——
=A=+—AkK
—E-FMA—H - 6,768 6,768
Addition NE - 4,057 4,057
Depreciation charge for the year FEWEER = (128) (128)
Exchange realignment P& H A = (495) (495)
At 31 March 2023 MZT_=%F
=A=+—H - 10,202 10,202

The Group leases offices for its operations, which represented
as leased properties. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed
term of 2 years. For the lease contracts within 1 year and less
than 1 year, the Group recognised as short-term lease payment

under administrative expenses.
The Group’s leasehold interest in factory lands are situated in the
PRC and held under 50-year term leases. Lump sum payments

were made upfront to acquire these leasehold interests.

The right-of-use assets of factory lands are amortised based on

the lease period.
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AR BERRWE

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued) 16. FREEE#®)

The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than
the security interests in the leased assets that are held by the

lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing

BROEARENEEEETERESIN
MEBZTEMETAEBRE - HEEET
BRNEERER -

purposes.
2023 2022
—ZE—=F T F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT

Interest expense on lease liabilities HEAENNERX
(included in finance costs) (FTARVE R AN) = 1
Depreciation e 128 203

Lease liabilities of HK$Nil (2022: HK$NIl) are recognised with
related right-of-use assets of HK$Nil (2022: HK$NIl) as at 31
March 2023.
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e MBEmKRHE
17. MINING RIGHTS RELATED ASSETS 17. RIBEREMEBREE
HK$'000
FAT
Cost AR
At 1 April 2021 R_E_—FMHA—H 71,554
Additions = 13,174
Disposal or written-off & s (1,279)
Exchange realignment & H 2,960
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 RZTEZZF=A=+—HK
—E-_FmMA—H 86,409
Additions NE 3,304
Disposal or written-off HE g (13,298)
Exchange realignment RN E (6,325)
At 31 March 2023 NR-EB-_=%=H=+—H 70,090
Accumulated amortisation e £
At 1 April 2021 R-Z-—FmA—H 18,787
Provision during the year REF A 3,774
Exchange realignment M 5, B 783
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 RZZE-_—_F=A=+—HBK
—E-_FPA—H 23,344
Provision during the year REERE 4,334
Exchange realignment R (1,712)
At 31 March 2023 R-CEBE-=F=H=+—H 25,966
Carrying amounts RREE
At 31 March 2023 R=ZB-=f=A=+—H 44,124
At 31 March 2022 W_TE__F=HA=+—H 63,065
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MINING RIGHTS RELATED ASSETS (Continued)

Impairment assessment

During the year, the Group had appointed an independent
professional valuer, Ravia Global Appraisal Advisory Limited, to
assess the recoverable amounts of the Group’s property, plant
and equipment (note 15), mining rights related assets and right-
of-use assets of factory lands (note 16), in particular of those
employed in the gold mining segment, and no impairment loss
(2022: Nil) was recognised. The recoverable amount has been
determined based on a value-in-use calculation using cash
flow projections based on financial budgets approved by senior
management. The discount rate applied to cash flow projections
is 13.23% (2022: 11.70%) per annual. The growth rate used to
extrapolate the cash flows of the Group’s of cash generating
units beyond the five-year period is 0% (2022: 0%) per annual
which based on past performance and its expectations in
relation to market development. Other key assumptions for the
value-in-use calculations relate to the estimation of cash inflows/
outflows which include budgeted revenue and gross margin,
such estimation is based on the past performance. The directors
believed that any reasonably possible change in any of these
assumptions would not cause the aggregate carrying amount to
exceed the aggregate recoverable amount.

Mining rights related assets represent the cost of exploration
permits and mining rights permits.

The Group’s exploration permit and mining right
permit with no. of T6100002008054010006667 and
C6100002014084120135479 were expired on 9 October 2022
and 17 April 2022, respectively.

Due to the expiration of exploration permit with no. of
T6100002008054010006667, the Group received the withdrawn
compensation of approximately HK$13,298,000, during the year
ended 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil).

From the year 2019 to 2022, the Group was in the progress of
application of transfer between exploration permit and mining
right permit. On 14 June 2022, the Group obtained the new
mining right permit with no. of C6100002014084120135479,
with a period from 14 June 2022 to 14 June 2025. The
management enquired the legal experts in the mainland China
and considered that there are no legal obstruction on the
renewal of mining right permit when expired.
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18. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE 18. HBE N AMNKRE

2023 2022
—E-= B4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHEx FAET
Unlisted investment KEMEE = —
Details of the Group’s associate at 31 March 2023 are as RN-EBE-—=ZF=A=+—HAEEHZE QT

follows: ZEHBIT

Percentage of

Place of ownership interest/

incorporation/ Issued and voting power/ Principal
Name registration registered capital profit sharing activity

AR, FERkER RERE
=L P 37 3t B BT REMmRE BT EBEDL FTEED
Lvbang Jiexing (Beijing) PRC RMB10,000,000 2023: 40% (2022: Nil)  Not yet

Technology Co., Ltd. commence of
business
RAEBEACFORHBR AR FE AER#10,000,0000 ZZFZ=%F : 40% EENGIEES
(ZT= % #\)

* The company was incorporated on 20 July 2022. The Group * HARNZE_—F+ A -+ B -
did not pay up the registered capital up to the date of the end of HERSHRAH  AEBEWKRZFFME
reporting period. 7K o

19. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 19. {2 Bl =
2023 2022
—E_=F —E -
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET THETT
Unlisted shares, at cost JEFT - BAAE 10 10
Amounts due from subsidiaries (note b) FEUHI B R B sRIB (AT 7ED) 121,937 121,658
121,947 121,668
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19. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Notes:

)

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2023

and 2022 are as follows:

Place and date
of incorporation/

Issued and

19.

B A B2
Kzt -

@ MIZE-_=Fp-_T-_—F=-A=+—HRK
RNEIMB AR ZFIBRT ¢

Percentage of

Principal activities

establishment/ fully paid up capital/ equity interest attributable  and place of
Company name Type of Company registered capital to the Company operations
AR,
RIBERAE, BRITRBRKRE R REMGRE TEEBR
DNRER NGk il &R B Fed=dichy
2023 2022
—EC-=F B
Directly
E#
SSC Mandarin Mining British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of 100% 100%  Investment holding
Investment Limited 2 October 2007 US$1 in Hong Kong
Limited liability Company
SCEFTMIEERE RBRUHE 1R1ET 2 Ll 100% 100% FEEBREER
BRAF T HETACZA
BREFRAR
T G Capital Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
30 August 2018 in Hong Kong
Limited liability Company
EREAFRAR 5 10,000/ 7T 100% 100% FEBEBREER
ZE-NFNA=FH
BEREERAT
Indirectly
B
T G Mining Asia Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$2,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
9 November 2005 in Hong Kong
Limited liability Company
BEeBETMERRE BB 2,000,000 7T 100% 100%  FEEBREER
—TZRE+—-ANA
BREARR
SSC Sino Gold Mining PRC Registered and paid-up 90% 90% Investment holding
Investment Co., 5 February 2004 capital of US$7,000,000 in the PRC
Limited Sino foreign equity joint
venture
XEDSAR)BEXERE F 7,000,0003 TTaE & A B 90% 0% EFEKREEK
BERARARF —ZTMFE_ARA R
FOMRERE
Taizhou Mining PRC Registered and paid-up 72% 72%  Exploration, mining
29 June 2004 capital RMB10,000,000 and mineral
Domestic Company processing in the
PRC
AiMmESE hE AR #10,000,0007T 7 72% 72% EARERE - ER
ZZZNERAZTAE ERRBRRA By
BAAR
Beiing Huijinfu Technology PRC HK$20,000,000 100% N/A  Scientific research
Development Co., 2 September 2022 and technical
Limited Domestic Company services in the PRC
TtRESEMEERAR FH 20,000,000/ 75 100% TNEA  FEIEARESEHRN
NS —T--FhA=H Aty AR
BART]

None of restricted assets held by the subsidiaries.
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19. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 190. ftB DB %)
Notes: (Continued) BiaE (&) -
(b)  The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free (o) FEWFIEARIRIEREER 2 ERARE
and repayable on demand. KIEE o

The following table shows information on a subsidiary, Taizhou TRINTFHE IFZER R ([ s 1) M
Mining, that have non-controlling interests (“NCI”) material to the HEAEBBEAZHBARAMBEE - 2
Group. The summarised financial information represents financial FEEREEEAR EEERTAMER 2
information of Taizhou Mining before inter-company eliminations. AR -

Taizhou Mining

FONTEE

2023 2022

—E-=F —E-F

Principal place of business/country of FEEEMB RIBER PRC PRC

establishment ==} =8
% of ownership interests/voting FERERFTFEEZFERE

rights hold by NCI R REEAS

At 31 March R=A=+—~H 28% 28%

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FAET

Non-current assets IEREE E 786,634 882,176

Current assets MENEE 82,203 39,037

Current liabilities mEALE (83,270) (143,092)

Non-current liabilities ERBEE (595,930) (641,712

Net assets HEE 189,637 136,409

Accumulated NCI EFHIEE i iEs 53,098 38,195

Year ended 31 March: BE=A=1+—HILEE:

Revenue e 153,195 128,434

Profit il 63,254 28,678

Allocated to NCI DR R R 14,903 9,242
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HmEMBHRRHME

INVENTORIES 20. 78
2023 2022
—EBC=F —EoF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHETT
Raw material R4 95 209
Work in progress R m 11,409 4,064
Finished goods BURK an 5,197 1,281
16,701 5,654

The carrying amount of inventories at the end of reporting REREHIR - AT BR 2 FENERERES
#716,701,000% 70 ( ZF = 4 : 5,554,000

BIT) °

period that were carried at cost amounted to approximately
HK$16,701,000 (2022: HK$5,554,000).
The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included FRN - GFERAERAFR LT AHE

in “cost of sales” during the year amounted to approximately B | 49 578,522,000/ 0 ( —F = —4F :

21.

HK$78,522,000 (2022: HK$81,813,000).

81,813,000/ 7T) ©

PROMISSORY NOTES 21. A HEE
2023 2022
—EC-=HF —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHETT

Promissory notes

O 2 -
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PROMISSORY NOTES (Continued) AAEE®)

The Group measures loss allowances for promissory notes

21.

at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. Given the repayment of

the promissory notes had been further extended by the issuer

AEEZESER2MEMEEHRNSHET
BAGRBNERREE
%’ﬁﬁ%&%ﬁ)@&—iﬁ%é:?::imﬁ

ENERE EIRRE

to April 2022 which indicating that the promissory noted are (RPREAEBEELHEEERE) -
credit impaired. The promissory notes have been fully impaired ——®ZA=1+—HB AHEEEE#{TEE
as at 31 March 2021. For the year ended 31 March 2023, the BME -REBE_T-_=F=A=+—HIF

settlement of promissory notes was settled by way of consulting

services provided by the issuer and its associate based on the

B - AR AR s
BARMBERERB D A& ERERIEN

FIATIT AR HE

consultancy agreement. FHIF o

TRADE RECEIVABLES 22, FEWE 5 IR1E
2023 2022
—E-=HF —EC 4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FIT
Trade receivables B 5 [EWGRIA 41,072 15,697
The aging analysis of trade receivables, based on the invoice B SN RIRA MR E#EE - RIFZHE A

2 ZREAITT

date, and net of allowance, is as follows:

2023 2022

—E-=F B F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHT

0to 90 days 0£90H 22,359 11,179
91 to 180 days 91F180H 18,134 3,901
181 to 365 days 181&365H = 617
Over 365 days HiB365H 579 -
41,072 15,697
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TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)
The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to

measuring ECLs which uses a lifetime expected credit loss
allowance for all trade receivables. Individual credit evaluations
are performed on all customers requiring credit over a certain
amount. These evaluations focus on the customer’s past history
of making payments when due and current ability to pay and
take into account information specific to the customer operates.
The credit terms generally range from 30 to 180 days. Each
customer has a maximum credit limit. Overdue balances are

reviewed regularly by the directors.
No impairment loss on trade receivables was recognised for the

year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil).

As at 31 March 2023, the trade receivables of approximately
HK$41,072,000 (2022: HK$10,697,000) were pledged to secure

the Group’s borrowings (note 27).
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22. EWWE S ERE (%)

AEBRAE BV REERNFEIIRAMFTA
MBI A ETREMEREIE - ZEMR
BESRUKERERA2MBHREERRR
B TEERBR - EHEEEZEPHE
BEXBUEENE - WEFHTEHEER
BER B HIR 88 FRAC 8 N E AT EE B
N AEBEFPERNEFLEBHARE
£ EEH-—RNFI0E180RTE - B
FORBREERY - ANEHRHESEE
HYEHZER] -

BE-_ET-_=F=A=+—-BI1LtFEF #
EE S RIERERERREEB (=2 ==
F )

RZTE-Z=ZF=ZA=+—H B5EK
BRIE 441,072,000 L (ZF = =
10,697,000/ 70 ) WM AR KB W B EIE
HIR(HEEE27) -
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DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 23. &% - ANREREMEWERE
RECEIVABLES
An analysis of deposits, prepayments and other receivables are %4 FBfFIEREMEKEES T
as follows:
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Deposits i) 935 1,619
Prepayments TERFIR 14,145 10,482
Other receivables H b FEYRIR 7,122 6,688
22,202 18,789
Less: impairment losses under ECLs of R HAb U ARIETE B A ES1E
other receivables TR EEE (4,240) (2,438)
17,962 16,351

The fair values of deposits, prepayments and other receivables

approximate their carrying amounts.

e ANFRREMmEKERRZ AT EE
HIREERE -

The movement in the impairment losses under ECLs of other HihpE U B TEE HAE B 1R TR REEE Y
receivables is as follows: SEMT -

2023 2022

—E-=F —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FER FAT

At the beginning of the year REH] 2,438 2,438

Provision for impairment losses under ECLs Efth fE I BRTETEHAZ AEE T /Y
on other receivables B EERE 1,802 -
At the end of the year RER 4,240 2,438

During the year ended 31 March 2023, impairment losses
under 12-month ECLs on other receivables of approximately
HK$1,802,000 was provided (2022: Nil). As at 31 March 2023,
the carrying amount of other receivables, net of allowance was
HK$2,882,000 (2022: HK$4,250,000).
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BE_Z-_-—#=-F=1+—AL%E  BE
1218 AT HR = S B 1B 5t H b FE U BR 1B 7T 1R
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PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND CASH AND
BANK BALANCES

The Group’s pledged bank deposits represented deposits
pledged to the bank to secure banking facilities granted to
the Group as set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements. These deposits are subject to regulatory restrictions

and are therefore not available for general use by the Group.

As at 31 March 2023, approximately HK$12,523,000 (2022:
HK$3,700,000) of the Group’s cash and bank balances were
denominated in RMB which is subject to exchange control
restrictions imposed by the Government of the PRC. Included
that, HK$NIl (2022: HK$617,000) were short-term, highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of
cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in

value.

However, under the PRC’s foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment
of Foreign Exchange Regulation, the Group is permitted to
exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to

conduct foreign business.
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BT - RFFRXEERS] - R ANEH
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LEASE LIABILITIES 25. HE&E

Lease liabilities were measured at the present value of the
remaining leases payments, discounted at the Group’s

incremental borrowing rate, and the aggregate effect is as

HEAGERAAREN R REL AREE
ZIGERBENETRETIE - B EW
T

follows:

2023 2022

—EC=E —E-F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FAT

At 1 April RUA—H - 74
Lease payments made during the year FREMNCHEERNRK = (75)
Interest on lease liabilities HEAEBNE = 1
At 31 March W=A=+—H - —

The directors considered the Group’s incremental borrowing
rate to be appropriate in view of the market environment
and economic conditions under which each remaining lease
operates. The weighted average incremental borrowing rate
applied to lease liabilities is Nil (2022: Nil).
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. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 26. ENEZRERHMENIRE

2023 2022
—EBC=F —EoF
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FTET T
Current portion BN EAER o
Advance from customers BRBR 98 7
Trade payables BB SRR 12,259 47,581
Accruals fEETEH 7,026 15,862
Other payables H At JETARIE 18,068 18,098
Salary and benefits payables BN E e REFR 9,554 10,123
47,005 91,671
Non-current portion JERNHAER &
Other payables HAbEIRIA 37,994 35,913
84,999 127,584
As of the end of the reporting period, the aging analysis of trade HEREHKR  BENESEIRETEME
payables based on the demand note date, is as follows: HHIZF| MRS ST -

2023 2022

—E-=F - F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FHT

0 to 90 days 0£90H 8,043 11,252
91 to 180 days 91%180H - 3,610
181 to 365 days 181&365H 3,363 -
Over 365 days 365H A E 853 32,719
12,259 47,581
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BORROWINGS 27. 18 &
2023 2022
—EC-=F =B
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHBT FiBT
The Group’s borrowings were AEEEEENEENT :
repayable as follows:
Amount due within one year included in HARBBEE TR —FNR
current liabilities ZIH 2 BUIR 7,333 13,134
Amount due after one year included in FIAFERBBEE TR —FE
non-current liabilities EI8 2 BIR 302,966 388,758
310,299 401,892
During the years ended 31 March 2023, the Group’s interest- H=E —FZA=FT—HILFE K&

bearing borrowings approximately of HK$187,360,000 (2022:
HK$256,181,000) are arranged at interest rates ranging 4.35%
to 5% (2022: 4.35% to 12%) per annum. The remaining

borrowings are interest-free.

The Group’s interest-bearing borrowings of HK$87,068,000
(2022: HK$11,735,000) were secured by the Group’s rights
of collection from its customers (note 22). During the years
ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group entered into a
security arrangement and transferred the rights of collection

of the Group’s trade receivables to a financer under which the

significant risks relating to these receivables would be passed

to the financer and would deduct corresponding uncollected

trade receivables from the pledged borrowings when the

corresponding trade receivables could not be recovered.

The above borrowings are carried at amortised cost and the

carrying amounts of borrowings approximate to their fair value.
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REBRET BB E 487,068,000 (==
ZZF 11,735,000 L) HALBE EER
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BONDS

On 30 April 2008, the Company issued convertible bonds
with an aggregate value of HK$806,400,000 (the “2008 CB”)
with maturity date of 30 April 2013 for partial settlement of
the consideration for the acquisition of SSC Mandarin Mining
Investment Limited and its subsidiaries. Upon the maturity of the
2008 CB on 30 April 2013, the 2008 CB became bonds and
payable on demand. The outstanding bonds is charged at 5%

per annum.

Movements of the bonds are set out below:

28. fE%

RZTZENFMA=+H  ARREITHEE
806,400,000/ 7T 2 Al k&5 ([ ZFZN
FUBMRES ) (R-_E—=FmMA=+H
FER) - MER B SCEERTIIR IR E BIR
RNAIREMBARZEHANRE - RZE—=
FOA=F+B TS N\FAIRREFEH
& —TT N\FARRESFKABEHFIAR
ERR - MAREREZEFEHFIR%W
o

B EEHIIMT

2023 2022

—EC-=F .- —

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHET

At 1 April KRIEA—H 13,838 18,337
Interest charged FEZH 504 501
At 31 March R=A=+—H 14,342 13,838

The fair value of the bonds at 31 March 2023 amounted to
approximately HK$14,342,000 (2022: HK$13,838,000).
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29.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 10 April 2017, the Company issued convertible bonds (“CBs”)
with face value of HK$30,095,000 to independent third parties.
Holders of the CBs will have the right to convert the CBs, on
whole or in part (in multiples of HK$150,000), of the principal
amount of the CBs into the Conversion Shares at the Conversion
Price of HK$0.3 for the period commencing from the date of the
issue of the CBs up to the close of business on the day falling
14 days prior to the 16 July 2022.

The CBs bear interest of 4% per annual and payable in arrears
quarterly on 31 March, 30 June, 30 September and 31
December in each year.

Upon the issuance, the value of the CBs has been split into the
liability element and an equity component of HK$15,073,000
and HK$15,022,000 respectively.

The movement of the liability and equity components of the
convertible bonds for the year is set out below:
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29. MR R E %

RZZ—tFMA+TH  ARFRETHER
30,095,000/ 7T 2 A] # i (8 75 ([ Al #2 A (E
HFDTEIF=TT o AIBRESZHE AR
BERABMBREFETCARE_T_—F
TATRARFI4RERERKREERILELZ
HIRA - IR REO.3B T Al AR ES 2
EB sk &R A& 8 (LA 150,000 7T 2 & 84 ) 8%
BRI o

BREFZFENR4%E - MABRREF
=A=+—HB - RA=+B - - AWA=+EK
TZA=1—8  AE8FHREN -

NEEITE - THBRESZEBEESE#EAEE
BB MiEZEE D R 415,073,0008 7T &
15,022,000/ T, ©

AR ES AERERORAFE 2 &
BHEIIMT

Liability Equity
component component Total
aEHs EEBD Ast
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FBT FET
At 1 April 2021 RZEZ—FMWH—H 24,717 12,543 37,260
Effective interest expenses EBRFEMEZ 5,245 - 5,245
Payment of interest FEATF (1,208) - (1,208)
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 A =Z——
=A=+t—Hk
—T-FWA—H 28,754 12,543 41,297
Effective interest expenses EREF SR 1,519 = 1,519
Redemption FE [l (30,273) (12,543) (42,816)
At 31 March 2023 i ——c
—HA=+—H - - -
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CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

The interest charged for the year is calculated by applying an
effective interest rate of 21.58% to the liability component of the
CBs.

In August 2018, a claim made against the Company in relation
to the CBs had been filed to High Court and had been resolved
on 26 May 2022 that the Company had redeemed the CBs in
full on 25 May 2022. Details of which are set out in note 42(i) to
the consolidated financial statements.

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

The balance comprise temporary difference attributable to:

29.

30.

BB ES e
PAAREZUREL 2 I B iR Al &S 2 &
B D ERERFIE21.58%H -

RZZ—N\FNA - $HERQEHE@RRK
BHECERECDMEEERRERE  WERZE
ZZFRAZTARERR RZEZ=FH
B-+EHB ARRCEEERAJBREKE
% o BRHAGHIBEEN G S WIS mE M FE42() »

EEBEERE

BERBREA T SREIE 2 ERMEER

2023 2022

—EC=HF —E-F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FHBT

Convertible Bonds AT AR (E 5 - 221

Movement: -/

At 1 April AP A—H 221 887
Credited to profit or loss (note 11) ST AB=MEE11) (221) (666)
At 31 March R=ZA=1+—H - 221

At the end of the reporting period the Group has no unused tax

losses (2022: Nil) available for offset against future profits.

BANKING FACILITIES

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group obtained bank
overdraft facilities from a bank to the extent of HK$20,000,000,
secured by the fixed deposits of HK$20,000,000 and bearing

interest at prime+0.5% per annum.

As at 31 March 2023, none of the abovesaid banking facilities

were utilised by the Group.
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32. SHARE CAPITAL 32, A
2023 2022
—E-=E —E--
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
RAEE KXo B! i
HK$000 HK$'000
TET TET
Authorised (HK$0.001 each): JETE (BAREE0.00TETT) :
At 1 April RIWA—A 2,666,666,666 160,000 2,666,666,666 160,000
Capital reorganisation EXREMR 157,333,333,334 - - -
At 31 March R=ZA=+—H 160,000,000,000 160,000 2,666,666,666 160,000
Issued and fully paid BRETRAR(BREE
(HK$0.001 each): 0.001%7T) :
At 1 April RmA—H 1,496,782,160 89,807 1,496,782,160 89,807
Capital reorganisation (note (3) ~ BAREL(Hi7#a) - (88,310) - -
Issuance of shares upon rights AR B TRE 1T
issue (note (b)) (M) 4,490,346,480 4,490 - -
At 31 March R=A=+—H 5,987,128,640 5,987 1,496,782,160 89,807
Notes: Bz
(a)  On 28 January 2022, a special resolution has been passed by the (@ RZZE-_—F—A=+/\B  KRAGKREHR
shareholders of the Company for a capital reorganisation which W RIEAEREEARERBE TSRS
involves capital reduction. The par value of each of the issued Ko RARIEREEITRO(TRERN D 2
shares of the Company of HK$0.06 each (the “Existing Share(s)”) HESRR0.06ETHIHZESREZETHRER
is reduced from HK$0.06 to HK$0.001 of paid-up capital on each YR B ZN0.00178 7T » BE 18 DA BIR A% 4%
issued Existing Share, then Existing Share by cancelling the paid HARFHEHERAZEREBITRER
up share capital to the extent of HK$0.059 per issued Existing 190.0594 7T + i ZRK B ARE(E0.00148 7T
Share by way of a reduction of capital, so as to form issued shares HEEITRG - RASHER T Z_FN
with par value of HK$0.001 each. The capital reorganisation is ANBEK - BRARAEHFIBERRARAA]
completed on 8 April 2022. Details of the capital reorganisation are AR —_FMNA+HHNRERART
set out in the Company’s announcement dated on 10 April 2022 HEA—ZS - —F—AZ1+/HBHBX -
and the circular of the Company dated on 26 January 2022.
()  On 17 May 2023, the Company issued a total of 4,490,346,480 ) RZZTZ=FRAA+EH TREUER

new Shares on the basis of three rights shares for every
one existing shares on the Company at a subscription price
of HK$0.035 each. The proceeds from the Placement was
approximately HK$152,672,000, deducting directly attribute costs
of approximately HK$4,441,000, the net proceeds approximately
HK$148,231,000 was credited to Company’s share premium.
Details of the Placement were disclosed in the Company’s
announcement dated 17 May 2022 and the circular of the
Company dated 26 January 2022.
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33. RESERVES

(@)

(b)

Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements

therein for the current and prior years are presented in the

consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 101

33. &
(@ &&£H

AEEFHBSBRAMNAER BEF

BREDEHRAZS

FIBE TN E101 1028 2 47

and 102.
The Company (b) EAFH
Convertible Share
Share bonds option Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
L
RAVRE B5RE BRERE REER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx TEx THET TEx TEL
As at 1 April 2021 RZEZ—FMHA—AH 1,842,983 12,543 - (1,931,443 (75,917)
Loss for the year FEER - - - (20,209) (20,209)
As at 31 March 2022 and ‘2
1 April 2022 ZR=1t—-Bk
—Z--FMA—H 1,842,983 12,543 - (1,951,652 (96,126)
Loss for the year FEER - - - (28,701) (28,701)
Share option granted ERTRERE = = 1,972 = 1,972
Capital reorganisation EXEH 88,310 - - - 88,310
Issuance of shares upon HIRBTREBRTRG
right issue 152,672 - - - 152,672
Share issue expenses BIHETHT (4,441) - - = (4,441)
Transfer of convertible bonds ~ ATHARR (E AR 2 B AT
reverse upon redemption of W S
convertible bonds - (12,543) - 12,543 -
As at 31 March 2023 2
—A=t+—8 2,079,524 - 1,972 (1,967,810) 113,686
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33. RESERVES (continued)
(b) The Company (Continued)

33. A=)
(b) AQTF(E)
() BROEE

(i)  Share premium

Under section 34 of the Companies Law (Revised) of
the Cayman Islands, the share premium is available for
distribution to shareholders subject to the provisions
of the articles of association of the Company and no
distribution may be paid to shareholders out of the
share premium unless, immediately following the date
on which distribution or dividend is proposed to be
paid, the Company shall be able to pay its debts as

they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

REMSFESRTEKER)E
34k - AR A& AR RIABEIZA
AIZRET BB ERI DK T
BRR : MARBAREREEHED
IRk 3 R B 2 B A& B S s
AEEHERTCHHES 7
AT LA AR B A g (B A BRR MR H
i °

(i)  Foreign currency translation reserve (i) IEBRERE
The foreign currency translation reserve comprises INEMBRERIEMERE G
all foreign exchange differences arising from the EB oM mAEMEE CERE
translation of the financial statements of foreign B ZREEDIRBEE U BRE
operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance PIEE4(n)ETSl w EETBUERRIE -
with the accounting policies set out in note 4(n) to the
consolidated financial statements.

(iij) Convertible bonds reserve (i) HRREFFE
The convertible bonds reserve represents the value AR ESFREERERIEGRE VB
of the unexercised equity component of convertible 2R B FEAK) i) L AT R AR B 2 B A
bonds issued by the Company recognised in ZEETBURFTTER AR E B
accordance with the accounting policy adopted for T2 R ESERITEE S ED
convertible bonds in note 4(K)(iii) to the consolidated MH2fEE -
financial statements.

(iv) Share option reserve (iv) FERRERE

The share option reserve represents the fair value of
the actual or estimated number of unexercised share
options granted to employees and other participants
other than employees of the Group recognised in
accordance with the accounting policy adopted for
equity-settled share-based payments in note 4(q) to

the consolidated financial statements.
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EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Defined contribution retirement plan

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees to join
the MPF Scheme, a defined contribution scheme managed
by an independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme, each
of the Group and its Hong Kong employees makes monthly
contributions to the scheme at 5% (2022: 5%) of the employees’
earnings as defined under the Ordinance. Both the Group’s and
the employees’ contributions are subject to a cap of HK$1,500
(2022: HK$1,500) per month and thereafter contributions are
voluntary. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in an independently-administered fund.
The Group’s contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

Pursuant to the regulations in the PRC, the employees in the
PRC are required to join the pension fund which is a defined
contribution scheme operated by the local government for
the benefit of retired employees. The Group is required to
make monthly contributions to the scheme at a specified rate
of the employee payroll to fund the retirement benefits of the

employees.
Save as disclosed above, the Group has no other obligations

to make payments in respect of retirement benefits of the

employees.
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Eligible participants include the full-time and part-
time employees, executives, officers, directors, business
consultants, advisers, agent, contractors, customers, suppliers
and shareholders of the Company and the Company’s
subsidiaries. The Scheme became effective on 27 September
2021 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in

force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently
permitted to be granted under the Scheme is an amount
equivalent, upon their exercise, to 30% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time. The maximum number of shares
issuable under share options to each eligible participant in the
Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of
shares options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’

approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
associates or to consultants, are subject to approval in advance
by the independent non-executive directors. In addition, any
share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company, or to
any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate value (based
on the price of the Company’s shares at the date of the grant) in
excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are subject

to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.

196

35. AR 2 HER VI

RRFRA—ABRAESE (B RER
gl]) - BEREAEENRIEL ML ER
MABKRSEERHNHBLREE - RS
EEBEARNTEMBAFNEBAFREE
T 28 KB #F EXBEB @A
fb - R AR TP HERMRE -
ZERTENR T —FAA-TERER A
BB TEF - HERTAARREUHKIER]

RIZERETEREERRTENRER
PRI ER A T HITHRMDEE ERR
o AR GBEBARARTREETRND
30% ° LM 12(E A EAE R EE2EE
ERREEREASREZROEE - TF
HBEARRTEDETRMA1% - NiE—
PR TEBBRBNERE - ARARBBR
RE LS RERALE

BRYARARES  AFAMTEREEBRRL
HIR A BRI ER AR T ERSE
MIFRITE R o BN - REE12ME A
ANAARBARREB L IFNTEER AT
AIREE A LR TR ES BEAR AR T
EETROM0I%HAEECAR T ZEAR
NABRENERE)BIBS008EB T - A
FRNARBIBRAE EFKIRALE -



35.

Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2022/2023
REESEREMAT « —T== /“T-_=FFH

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR BERRWE

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
28 days from the date of the offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise
period of the share options granted is determinable by the board
of directors, and commences after a certain vesting period
and ends on a date which is not later than three years from the
date of the offer of the share options or the expiry date of the

Scheme, if earlier.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the
directors, but may not be less than the highest of (i) the Stock
Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of
the offer of the share options; (ii) the average Stock Exchange
closing price of the Company’s shares for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of the offer; and (iii) the nominal
value of the Company’s shares on the date of the offer, when

applicable.

Share options do not confer rights on the holder to dividends or
to vote at shareholders’ meetings. Each option gives the holder
the right to subscribe for one ordinary share in the Company and

is settled gross in shares.
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35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued) 35. MR AERBAR @)
The movements in share options granted under the Scheme HEZZ-_=F-A=+—HItFEFE B
during the years ended 31 March 2023 are shown below: PRSI TR 2 AR EN S BN T
Number of share options
JREHE
At Granted  Exercised Expired  Reclassified Lapsed At Exercise price
Name of category 1 April during during during during during 31 March of share options
of participants 2022 the year the year the year the year the year 2023 Date of granted  Validity period HKS per share
HE B
- S RER RER RER RER RER  ZBIZF BERETER
SuEENER mA-H i i M ENSE #r =B=t-8 ETHH Lk B/R
Director
£
Li Dahong - 23948516 - - - - 23948516 29-9-22 29-9-22-28-9-32 0.252
EYVY
Ma Xiaona - 20,954,960 - - - - 2094950 29922 29-9-22-28-9-32 0.252
B
Guo Wei - 2,993,564 - - - - 2993564 29922 29-9-22-28-9-32 0.262
J%
Lam Alert Man Sum - 2993564 - - - - 2993564 29-9-22 29-9-22-28-9-32 0.252
ER
Cheung Wai Hung - 2993564 - - - - 2993564 29-9-22 29-9-22-28-9-32 0.252
i
Sub-fotal - 53,884,158 - - - - 53,884,158
G
Employees in aggregate - 19,584,000 - - - - 19,584,000 24-522 24-5-22-23-5-32 0.088
8ISt
- 597128 - - - - 5387128 29922 29-9-22-28-9-32 0.262
- 551128 - - - - 25571128
Consultant
BB
Bilion Winning Holdings
Lid. - 9,792,000 - - - - 9792000 24522 24-5-22-03-5-32 0.088
EREEARAT
- 89,247,286 - - - - 89,247,286
Exercisable at the end
of the year 89,247,286
FREAE
Weighted average exercise
price (HKS) - 0198 - - - - 0198

MEFTEEET)
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued) 35.

Details of the share options outstanding as at the end of the
reporting period are as follows:

U RERNNSR @
BEARREHR - MARITEAOBRESFBN
T

Number of Date of Exercise
options granted Vesting date Exercise period price
BREHE BETAY £ A TRERH ITREE
HK$
BT
2022 May 29,376,000 24 May 2022 24 May 2025 24 May 2022 to 0.088
23 May 2032
—E--FAA 29,376,000 —Z -4 “ECRHF R CFERAATMARE 0.088
HFA-+WH HA-+WHE ZE--FRA=Z+=H
2022 September 59,871,286 29 September 2022 29 September 2025 29 September 2022 to 0.252
28 September 2032
—EZ=FhA 59,871,286 —E==F A —ZZHFNA “EFAAZTARE 0.252
—+AhH = B W e AN =

The fair value of share options were calculated using Binomial
Model. The inputs into the model were as follow:

EREAFTENEAR-BARLGFES
o ZEE B A B TR

24 May 29 September

2022 2022

—E-—F —E-CF

HEA=+mMmA hA=+hA

Risk-free rate (%) B N 2R (%) 2.765 3.655

Expected life of options (years) AR ETE AR A () 10 10

Expected dividend yield (%) TEHARR B S (%) 0 0

Expected volatility (%) B HH B R (%) 78.595 68.883

Price of the Company’s share at the date ~ ZNA AR AR H B HI 2 I (B

of grant (HK$ per share) (B BR) 0.088 0.25
Estimate fair value at measurement date RAIE BB A A EGET)

(HK$) 1,700,000 10,400,000

The expected life of the options is not necessarily indicative
of the exercise patterns that may occur, which is based on
the terms and conditions of the share options. The expected
volatility is based on the historic volatility of the share prices of
the Company as extracted from publicly available information.
Expected dividends are based on historical dividends. Changes
in the subjective input assumptions could materially affect the
fair value estimate.
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into
the measurement of fair value. At the end of the reporting
period, the Company had 89,247,286 (2022: Nil) share options

outstanding under the Scheme.

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the
Company had 89,247,286 (2022: Nil) share options outstanding
under the Scheme, which represented approximately 1.5%

(2022: Nil) of the Company’s shares in issue as at that date.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, there were 89,247,286
(2022: Nil) share options granted and approximately
HK$1,972,000 (2022: HK$Nil) were recognised to the

consolidated statement of profit or loss.

LEASE COMMITMENTS

The short-term lease for the offices which are regularly entered
into by the Group during the year ended 31 March 2023. As
at 31 March 2023, the outstanding lease commitments is as

follows:

35.

36.

U RERNNSR @
ERBERENEMSBRAARDTERG
B BEREHR - ARBERETE TR
FATEM BN 589,247,286 (ZE ==
F M)

RAB B REIAEZ B - A QR ERERTE
TR TITE A EE AR HE /89,247,286 (=&
TIFE) HERARRZ BB ET
RODEIIE%(ZFE =6 : &) o

HEZT-=F=ZA=+—HItFEE XA
A B AR 89,247,286 19
) AFEEERERL,972,0008 (=
TZFfE) -

e

—= — —

=

HEARE
BE-_T-=F=A=1-BIL5E 4%
BT BB AT EHEN c R -B =
FZA=+—H  RESREFEDT

2023 2022

—EBC=HF .- —

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Within one year —&FR 373 390
In the second to fifth year, inclusive ECEFERAF(RIEEEMSE) 56 54
429 444
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AR BERRWE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s major financial assets and liabilities include cash
and bank balances, bonds, borrowings, trade and other
receivables, as well as trade and other payables. Details of
these financial instruments are disclosed in the respective notes.
The risks associated with these financial instruments and the
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective

manner.

(@) Foreign exchange risk
The Group’s monetary assets and transactions are
principally denominated in HK$ and RMB which are two
functional currencies of the Group’s entities. Foreign
exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions
and recognised assets and liabilities denominated in a
currency that is not the functional currency of the relevant
group entity. The Group adopted a conservative treasury
policy with most of the bank deposits being kept in HK$ or
RMB, or in the local currencies of the operating subsidiaries

to minimise exposure to foreign exchange risk.

The Group has certain investments and operations in the
PRC, whose net assets are exposed to foreign currency
translation risk. Currency exposure arising from the net
assets of the Group’s operations in the PRC is managed

primarily through operating liabilities denominated in RMB.

To date, the Group has not entered into any hedging
transactions in an effort to reduce the Group’s foreign
currency exchange risks. However, the management
continues to monitor the foreign exchange exposure
regularly and will consider hedging significant foreign

currency exposure should the need arise.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(@)

(b)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

A reasonably possible increase of 5% in exchange
rates between RMB and HK$ respectively, with all other
variables held constant, will lead to an decrease/increase
of approximately HK$1,341,000 of the Group’s profit/loss
before tax (2022: HK$3,463,000) mainly arising from that

the Group has certain exposure to foreign currency risk.

Interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk arises primarily
from its borrowings and bank deposits. Borrowings at fixed

rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

The Group currently does not have any interest rate
hedging policy. The management monitor the Group’s
exposure on ongoing basis and will consider hedging

interest rate risk should the need arise.

Except as stated above, the Group does not have other
significant interest-bearing assets and liabilities at the end
of reporting period, its income and operating cash flows
are substantially independent of changes in market interest

risk.

Sensitivity analysis on cash flow interest-rate risk has not
been presented as the reasonably possible changes in
market interest rate will not have significant impact on the

Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 37. MEEREE 2
(c) Credit risk (c) =EREk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet
its obligations under a financial instrument or customer
contract, leading to a financial loss. The Group is exposed
to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily trade and
other receivables) and from its financing activities, including
deposits with banks and financial institutions, foreign
exchange transactions and other financial instruments. The
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from cash and cash
equivalents is limited because the counterparties are banks
and financial institutions with high credit-rating assigned
by international credit-rating agencies, for which the Group

considers to have low credit risk.

The Group does not provide any financial guarantees which

would expose the Group to credit risk.

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables and
bank balances included in the consolidated statement
of financial position represents the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk in relation to the Group’s financial

assets.

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has policy in
place to develop and maintain the Group’s credit risk
grading to categories exposures according to their degree
of risk of default. The Group uses publicly available financial
information and own historical repayment records to rate
its major debtors. The Group’s exposure and the credit
rating of its counterparties are continuously monitored and
the aggregate value of transactions concluded is spread

amongst approved counterparties.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(c) Credit risk (Continued)

For trade and other receivables, the directors make periodic
collectively assessments as well as individual assessment

on the recoverability of trade and other receivables.

The following table provides the information about the
Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade
receivables as at 31 March 2023 and 2022:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

7. M ERERE 2

()

FERRE)
EHRUSRANEMERREMS
EXTHHEZIRIRE R E MR R
TR Y ] W (O] 14 HE 1T 5 B AT 04 K E B 5F
fl o

TRERAEFR_ZE_=ZFL_ZF
T CFE=A=+—HESREKEEEE
ES MBI EEBENER

2023 2022

—E-=F B4

HK$°000 HK$’'000

FTET T

1-30 days past due BHAI1ZE30H 22,359 11,179
31-60 days past due #HA31 260 H - 3,901
61-90 days past due #HAB1 =90 H - 617
More than 90 days past due 0 BAFRRO0 A 18,713 -
41,072 15,697

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the management of the
Group entered into a security arrangement and transferred
the rights of collection of the Group’s trade receivables to
a financer under which the significant risks relating to these
receivables had been passed to the financer, therefore, no
allowance for trade receivable was recognised during the
year ended 31 March 2023 and 2022 (note 27).
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 37. MERAREE @)
(c) Credit risk (Continued) (c) EERKE)
Other receivables HfEWRE
The following table provides information about the Group’s TRIEHASEEERR K EERRE
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for other receivables FE LI A e AR B TEEME BB
which has significant increase in the credit risk: 1
2023 —
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
Internal credit rating AT EEFTR FEHIE B R REAE EiaRE
% HK$’000 HK$’000
% FHET THET
Stage 1 E—FEER 38.47 4,684 1,802
Stage 2 F PR = = =
Stage 3 FoFEER 100.00 2,438 2,438
7,122 4,240
2022 T
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
Internal credit rating NE=E TR TEHIESIE X ARME4E(E Egista i
% HK$’000 HK$'000
% TR THETT
Stage 1 F—HEER - 4,250 -
Stage 2 FEREER - - -
Stage 3 EZER 100.00 2,438 2,438

6,688 2,438
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 37. R EE7)
(c) Credit risk (Continued) (c) EEREEE)
Other receivables (Continued) HfE W iRE ()
Movement in the allowance for other receivables measured R AR FT 2 A M R W ARIB BB S
at amortised cost: & -

Other receivables

H At e Wi BRI
Lifetime
12-month ECLs Credit
ECLs impaired Total
2HEA
1218 A R FEER
FEBR FERE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TET TR
At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022 and RZFZ—FMA—H"
1 April 2022 “T--_F=-A=+—H
RZZE-_%5WA—-H - 2,438 2,438
Provision/(reversal) for ECLs RHEEEERE/
(#m) 1,802 - 1,802
At 31 March 2023 R-ZT_=%=A=1+—H 1,802 2,438 4,240
The allowance for ECLs on trade and other receivables of RZZEZ=F=A=+—H BE#ERE
approximately HK$Nil and HK$4,240,000 (2022: HKS$NIil SR EMEWRIEMN IS EE 8 EE
and HK$2,438,000) was recognised as at 31 March 2023. AT T R4,240,0008 (2 ==

F  THIT 2,438,000/ 7T) ©
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 37. KR MERE )
(d) Liquidity risk (d) F"BESLERK

For the management of the Group’s liquidity risk, the
Group monitors and maintains a sufficient level of cash
and cash equivalents to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuation in cash flows.
Management reviews and monitors the Group’s working
capital requirements regularly.

The following table sets out the remaining contractual
maturities of the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities
at the reporting date, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on
the prevailing rates at the reporting date) and the earliest
date the Group can be required to pay.

Specifically, for convertible bonds which contain a
repayment on demand clause which can be exercised at

REBAREZESRBRE - A%E
ERIEBRRKFZREMREEE
THE - BN ARRE 2 FH P SRR
RenBRBzHE - BEETE R
RESRAREZEEESHH -

TRAIAEEIITE SR B BENHRE
HEZ MERa HEIR - JHRIEE KR
AR RE(BREEAAHOMNEN(INE
FERME)RBERE AHIRT 2N RE
B2MBFIE) - ARFIREERAEE
Nz &FBHEE -

ABME  YNHEREREEKR
(IR A AZERIBITE) 2 ATgkkE

7 AN MBI RIEZER AR ER
Mz &FHR (AA ARSI HEE
R BN 3B 5 AR B S 2 RIEIE A
MEFHZHERL -

the holder’s sole discretion, the analysis shows the cash
outflow based on the earliest period in which the entity
can be required to pay, that is if the holder was to invoke
their unconditional rights to call the outstanding balance of
convertible bonds with immediate effect.

AEETRBEENANOARTRRER
EFHZBBADHNT -

The maturity analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities
based on contractual undiscounted cash flows is as

follows:
2023 2022
—ECZE -
Total Total
contractual Within contractual Within
Carrying undiscounted  one year or Atter Camyjing  undiscounted  one year or After
amount  cashflow  ondemand one year amount cashfow  ondemand one year
RORAR  —ER sliRAR —ERE
FEE BenesE BEX —E# FEE REnshE wEX —E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thn Tén Tén Tén T Fir Fin Tk
Trade and other payables B EZEHR
HibERE 84,099 84,009 41,005 37,994 127,584 127,584 91,671 B3
Borrowings f#& 310,209 317,875 7458 310,417 401,892 424,745 13,467 41,218
Bonds E# 14,342 14,342 14,342 - 13,838 13838 13,838 -
Convertile bonds ARES - - - - 28754 28754 28,754 -
(
409,640 417,216 68,805 348,411 572,068 504,921 147730 447,191

207




Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2022/2023
REESERBROF e ZB= /ZZBZFFK

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR BERRWE

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 7. EREAREE 2
(d) Liquidity risk (Continued) (d) FaESERE)

The table that follows summarises the maturity analysis TREMBEEEREE G2 IR

of convertible bonds with a repayment on demand clause BHFIRBEHTE 2 E BB RTHER D

based on agreed scheduled repayments. The amounts BEAR ST - ZEFIBEBREERELF

include interest payments computed using contractual EHEZFEFIE - At - ZE2FY

rates. As a result, these amounts are greater than the AR EXEEE AT [ R E sk [FR A
amounts disclosed in the “on demand” time band in the RIRHEER 2 &8 °

maturity analysis above.

At 31 March 2023 At 31 March 2022
R-B-=%§=B=1-R RZBZZE=f=1-A
Within Between Between Within Between Between
iyear 1to2years 2to5years Total Tyear  1to2years 2105 years Total

-FR -EWF  CEEF it —fR -EWF  ZERF it
HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKSOO0  HKSOOO  HKSOO0  HKSO000
TR TET TR TR AL TAT TAL ThL

Convertble bonds ARES - - - - 30447 - - 30,47
As disclosed in note 29 to the consolidated financial AR E MR T 20T HE - B
statements, the Company has allegedly breached a Zii AIEERE THD - AARIEIEREE
condition thereto the subscription of the convertible bonds RN AR EA MR - ATk
as a result of certain litigation made against the Company, {%ﬁz*{gﬁmﬁﬁgf\\ T-—&FE=f
the outstanding balance of the convertible bonds became =T —HRARERKEE KT
repayable on demand as at 31 March 2022. On 25 May FRA-THAB @ ARARBEEHERA]
2022, the Company had redeemed the convertible bonds W ES

in full.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(e) Capital risk management

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management
is to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to support its business and maximise
shareholders’ value. To maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may adjust the payment of dividends,
issue new shares, sell assets as well as issue new debts or

redeem existing debts.

The Group manages its capital structure and make
adjustments to it, in light of cost and risk associated with

the capital and changes in economic conditions.

The only externally imposed capital requirement for the
Group is that in order to maintain its listing on the Stock
Exchange, it has to have a public float of at least 25% of
the Shares, The Group has maintained a sufficient public
float to comply with GEM Listing Rules from the date of the
Listing. As at 31 March 2023, approximately 29.7% of the

Shares were in public hands.

Fair value
The Carrying amount of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement

of financial position approximately their respective fair value.
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38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the directors listed in note 12 to the consolidated

38. BBEA LR S
RARTERRN 12/ 2 B H) -
TRHA T oIREAL -

ZN SE ]

financial statements, the Group also identifies below related

parties:

Name Relationship e E2RES

Ma Qianzhou Substantial shareholder of Taizhou Mining HEMN RMBEHEHEERR
Director of Taizhou Mining AMNEXES

Zhao Yuebing Director of Taizhou Mining K AMEXEZEE
Spouse of Ma Qianzhou BN B

Zhou Yong Shareholder of Grand T G Gold IEES REESHIRE

General manager of Taizhou Mining AR B

In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated briza Mg mR A PriREE SN - B2
financial statements, the following transactions were carried out BATHETUATRS :

with related parties:

(@) Key management compensation () TEEBEAEME

TREEASBRRNTESENIFNTE
E WOTZEERERARMWE - 5iE
BRBMENRENEEER AL 2

Key management includes directors (executive and non-
executive), members of the Executive Committee, the

Company Secretary. The compensation paid or payable to

key management for employee services is shown below: SEIAT
2023 2022
—EB-=HF —E-F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT

Salaries and other short-term employee  #r& K H b 52 #i( E 27

benefits 5,617 6,594
Other long-term benefits H o REAE A 74 72
Equity-settled share-based payments AR B R E R IR D HI 21 1,507 -
Total 4Est 7,198 6,666
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38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 38. ABMALRF (@)

(b) Loans from related parties (b) BEEEALTER
2023 2022
—EBC-=F —E-F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
At 1 April REA—H 363,745 342,232
Currency realignment P& 5% (22,744) 17,827
Additions during the year FAIEAN 21,693 56,195
Repayment during the year FRER (79,257) (52,509)
At 31 March R=ZA=+—~H 283,437 363,745
The above loans as at 31 March 2023 and 2022 from B E T =FR T F=
Ms. Zhao Yuebing, Mr. Ma Qianzhou, Mr. Zhou Yong and —t—BLFERE#EEKEZLE - FE
Mr. Li Dahong were included in the balance of borrowings. MAEE - ABRERFRELEZER

STARE -

feul

B AL BRI G T

The loans from related parties have the following terms and

conditions:
At end At beginning Interest
of year of year rate
FR F9 PES
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FHET
2023 —E-=F
Zhao Yuebing Ik 110,886 169,110 0%-4.35%
Ma Qianzhou S 85,483 108,456 0%-4.35%
Zhou Yong A& 87,068 85,079 0%-4.35%
Li Dahong ERR - 1,100 5%
2022 T F
Zhao Yuebing AR K 169,110 145,240 0%-5%
Ma Qianzhou e 108,456 121,065 0%-4.35% {
Zhou Yong I5ES] 85,079 74,827 0%-4.35%
Li Dahong EFAVAN 1,100 1,100
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38.
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2023 2022
—EC=E T F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTHET FHET

Ma Qianzhou BEM 864 932

The above amounts are interest free, unsecured and

repayable on demand. They are included in the balance of

trade and other payables.

39. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND

ERAFIERRE  BERLNEREE
& o ERENE SRF L EMEN KRR

HREER AR

0. ZERBE TN EREEREME

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY BME

2023 2022
—EBC=F B F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET

Financial assets measured at REBHERTHIENERERE

amortised cost

Trade receivables H 5 AR 41,072 15,679
Deposits and other receivable e R HALEUARTE 3,817 5,869
Pledged bank deposits EERRITIER 20,000 -
Cash and bank balances W& RIRITEEER 24,641 4,444
89,530 25,992

Financial liabilities at amortised cost R HAHEN S REE
Trade and other payables JERTE SRR R B Ath fE T BRIE 75,445 117,461
Bonds &% 14,342 13,838
Convertible bonds AR A - 28,754
Borrowings BE 310,299 401,892
400,086 561,945
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. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 40. 7 B I AR R T

THE COMPANY
2023 2022
—ZE—=F T F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
k3 FH&T FET
Non-current assets EREBEE
Interest in subsidiaries MIE AR 19 121,947 121,668
Current assets REEE
Promissory notes EHEER = -
Deposits, prepayments and other 24 ~ FEATFIE K E A
receivables FEUAR IR 5,786 2,021
Pledged bank deposits BERIRITIFR 20,000 -
Cash and cash equivalents HekReFHEEE 2,067 744
27,853 2,765
Current liabilities REBARE
Accruals and other payables fEFT B R R A FE T BRIE 15,785 24,620
Bonds (63 14,342 13,838
Convertible bonds AT AR E S - 28,754
Borrowings BE - 5,655
30,127 72,867
Net current liabilities REBAEFHE (2,274) (70,102)
Total assets less current HMEERRBEE
liabilities 119,673 51,566
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40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 40. AR B MR T 42)

THE COMPANY (Continued)
2023 2022
—E_=HF —E-F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
BiaE FHET FAT
Non-current liabilities kRBEME
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIR AR = 221
Borrowings BE - 57,664
- 57,885
Net assets/(liabilities) BE (86)38 119,673 6,319)
Capital and reserves BERR#E
Share capital &N 5,987 89,807
Reserves B 33(b) 113,686 (96,126)
Total equity/(capital deficiency) ##Ex ~(EAREA) 119,673 (6,319)
On behalf of the Board of Directors on 28 June 2023: R-ZE-_=F A+t N \HRRES
Li Dahong Ma Xiaona
ERE BB
Director Director
E2 E2
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e MBEmKRHE
41. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT M. ZEEERERNE

OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (a) RIETEBFEESEMNEIR
activities
The table set forth below is the detail changes in the TREIAEEREZHAELERELZ
Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including FEE - BRERERIERSEE -
both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from BEPMEACBENAEBGFZEHE
financing activities are those for which cash flows were, RERBREREBIAKASRENLE
or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s ARETHGRERECAE -

consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from
financing activities.

1 April Cash Interest Exchange 31 March
2022 flows charges realignment 2023
—EB-CE —BC=E

mA—-A RER FEXH RERE =ZA=1+-8H
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TET TER a7 TER

Borrowings (note 27) B8 (2o7) 401,892 (75,837) 8,771 (24,527) 310,299
Bonds (note 28) EH(fi228) 13,838 - 504 - 14,342
Convertible bonds (note 29) Rk ERH229) 28,754 (30,273) 1,519 - -
444,484 (106,110) 10,794 (24,527) 324,641

Waive of
1 April Cash Interest Interest Exchange 31 March
2021 flows charges charges  realignment 2022
—E-—F —E-CF

mA—A ReR FIRX #eMEXH MEEE =A=1+-H°
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAL TATL TAT TATL TAT

Lease liabilities HEaRHz25)

(note 25) 74 (75) 1 - - -
Borrowings (note 27) £ & (fifi#27) 408,792 (18,632) 11,571 (14,529) 14,690 401,892
Bonds (note 28) &5 (fi2o8) 13,337 - 501 - - 13,838
Convertible bonds ~ FI#EREH

(note 29) (Hi229) 24,717 (1,208) 5,245 - - 28,754

446,920 (19,915) 17,318 (14,529) 14,690 444,484
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41. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT M. ZEEERERMTE @)
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
(b) Total cash outflow for leases (b) HERSRLEE
Amounts included in the cash flow statements for leases FARERERZAESEBEATS
comprises the following: IA
2023 2022
—E_=F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Within investing cash flow KREBHSREN 4,057 6,906
Within operating cash flows KRR REN 862 577
Within financing cash flows BEBRESRN - 75
4,919 7,558
These amounts relate to the following: ZESRWHMATYIEEERW -
2023 2022
—E-=F TEC4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FiBT
Lease rental paid ENHEERES 4,919 7,558
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42. LITIGATION
As at 31 March 2023, the Company is involved in the following

litigation proceedings:

i)

HCA 1885 of 2018 (the “HCA 1885 Action”)

The HCA 1885 Action was commenced by Leung Heung
Ying (“Leung”) against the Company to seek payment
under a series of convertible bonds dated 17 July 2017
which is due for payment on 16 July 2022 totaling
HK$30,095,357 and the interest accrued thereon. The
Company has opposed Leung’s claim on the basis that the
payment was not yet due. Leung has applied for summary
judgment against the Company. The application has been

adjourned and no hearing has yet been fixed.

On 25 May 2022, the Company had redeemed the
convertible bonds in full and that the Company and Leung
had made a joint application on 26 May 2022 to the High
Court for a consent order to discontinue HCA 1885 Action
and the High Court had sealed a consent order to effect
the discontinuation of HCA 1885 Action no order as to

costs.
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42. LITIGATION (Continued)

(i)

HCMP 1869 of 2020 (the “HCMP 1869 Action”)

The HCMP 1869 Action was commenced by the Company
against the Company’s previous legal representatives,
D.S Cheung & Co. by way of Originating Summons on 27
October 2020. The Company sought an order that the
nine invoices delivered to the Company in the HCA 397
Action, HCMP 1398/2018 and HCA 1885/2018 actions
(“the Invoices”), be taxed pursuant to Section 67 of the
Legal Practitioners Ordinance. Pursuant to the Order of
Master Lai of 1 June 2021, the Invoices have been referred
to taxation and the Company has been ordered to pay
HK$570,000 as security for the taxation by 22 June 2021.
The Company discussed with the legal team on their views
that the taxation hearing will be fixed to be heard sometime
in late 2021. The Company has paid the abovesaid amount
of HK$570,000 into court on 21 June 2021. The taxation
for the invoices was heard by Master Phoebe Man on 18
October 2022. The parties agreed on settlement terms
at the said hearing, and pursuant to the Order of Master
Phoebe Man on 18 October 2022, it was ordered that the
Company to pay a sum of HK$1,889,520.74 and credit
be given to the amount of HK$539,520.74 (being costs on
account) and HK$570,000 (being payment into Court by
the Company on 21 June 2021). Accordingly, the Company
duly paid the balance of HK$780,000 to the Company’s

previous solicitors on 25 October 2022.

Having consulted the Company’s legal advisers, the directors

are of the view that further provision is not required for the above

legal proceedings.
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HCMP1869/2020%% ([ HCMP £
18695% 5778 1)

HCMP 25186955 5F #A B AR A A1 7Y
:;¢+ﬂ:+tELﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁ%
HAREA E’\Jﬁﬁiﬁ/\ﬁ%D S. Cheung &
Co.42 i o AR F]F KHCAFE 397 5% &F
A HCMP%1398/20185J’%)§2HCA%
1885/20185% & sA [A1 AR 2 RIS 1
NER(TZEFEEDRBEENEER
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e MBEmKRHE
43. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 43. EAREIE
As at 31 March 2023, the Group did not have any significant RZZEZ=F=A=+—H AEETET
capital commitments (2022: Nil). MABEBRERALE( T F - &) -

44. APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL  44. #t 4R & MK #®RE
STATEMENT
The consolidated financial statements were approved by the HMAEMBRREN = ZE-_=F A=+ /\H
board of directors and authorised for issue on 28 June 2023. BEEIE R -
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For the year ended 31 March
BE=ZA=t—HLFE
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
—E-NF ZEZTF T —F T -F ZE-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THETT THETT FHETT FHET THET

RESULTS B4
Revenue g 163,829 69,643 99,807 128,434 153,195
Profit/(loss) before tax KR ADER, (EE) 15,610 (39,229) (17,116) 14,755 20,812
Income tax (expense)/credit FT{SHL (B ), % (7,849) 453 549 6,911) 22,024
Profit/(loss) for the year FEm, (E8) 7,761 (38,776) (16,567) 7,844 43,736
Attributable to: AT FE
Owners of the Company A GEA A 33 (35,239) (17,974) (137) 26,109
Non-controlling interests JEPE AR S 7,728 (3,537) 1,407 7,981 17,627
7,761 (38,776) (16,567) 7,844 43,736
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAE
At 31 March
R=A=+—H
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

—F-NF ZZTTF T —F T F ZEZ=F
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FH&TT T FHET FAETT FET

Total assets mEE 807,938 780,103 867,063 924,222 907,010
Total liabilities meE (507,597)  (542,483)  (617,918)  (B52,426)  (466,379)
Total equity frE 300,341 237,620 249,145 271,796 440,631
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